STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

HSBC FUNDS (formerly, HSBC INVESTOR FUNDS)

	Class A	Class I	Class S
HSBC Emerging Markets Debt Fund	HCGAX	HCGIX	HBESX
HSBC Emerging Markets Equity Fund	HSGAX	HSMIX	
HSBC Emerging Markets Local Debt Fund	HBMAX	HRMIX	HBMSX
HSBC Frontier Markets Fund	HSFAX	HSFIX	
HSBC Risk Managed Fund	None	None	
HSBC Total Return Fund	HTRAX	HTRIX	HTRSX

P.O. Box 182845 Columbus, Ohio 43218-2845

General and Account Information - (800) 782-8183 (Toll Free)

Adviser and Administrator of the Funds ("Adviser" or "Administrator")

HSBC Global Asset Management (USA) Inc., Investment Citi Fund Services Ohio, Inc., Sub-Administrator of the Funds ("Citi" or "Sub-Administrator")

HSBC Global Asset Management (UK) Limited, Subadviser to HSBC Emerging Markets Equity Fund, and Subadviser to HSBC Risk Managed Fund ("AMFR") Frontier Markets Fund ("AMEU")

HSBC Global Asset Management (France),

THIS STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION IS NOT A PROSPECTUS AND IS ONLY AUTHORIZED FOR DISTRIBUTION WHEN PRECEDED OR ACCOMPANIED BY ONE OR MORE OF THE PROSPECTUSES FOR THE FUNDS DATED FEBRUARY 28, 2012 (the "Prospectuses"). This Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") contains additional and more detailed information than that set forth in the Prospectuses and should be read in conjunction with the Prospectuses. The Prospectuses and SAI may be obtained without charge by writing or calling the HSBC Funds (formerly, HSBC Investor Funds) (the "Trust") at the address and telephone number printed above.

References in this SAI to the "Prospectuses" are to the relevant Prospectuses dated February 28, 2012 of the funds, by which shares of the funds listed above (each, a "Fund" and, collectively, the "Funds") are being offered. Unless the context otherwise requires, terms defined in the Prospectuses have the same meaning in this SAI as in the Prospectuses.

Current audited financial statements for the HSBC Emerging Markets Debt Fund, HSBC Emerging Markets Local Debt Fund and HSBC Frontier Markets Fund dated October 31, 2011 are hereby incorporated herein by reference from the Annual Report of such Funds dated October 31, 2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Copies of this Annual Report may be obtained without charge by writing or calling the Trust at the address and telephone number printed above.

February 28, 2012

	Page
GENERAL INFORMATION	1
THE FUNDS	1
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE, POLICIES AND RESTRICTIONS	1
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Emerging Markets Debt Fund	2
Emerging Markets Equity Fund	3
Emerging Markets Local Debt Fund	3
Frontier Markets Fund	5
	6
Risk Managed Fund	7
Total Return Fund	/
	2
INVESTMENT TECHNIQUES	9
Asset-Backed Securities	10
Banking Industry and Savings and Loan Industry Obligations	10
Brady Bonds	11
Cash Sweep Program Convertible Securities	11
Convertible Securities	12
Derivatives	12
Emerging Markets	22
Equity Securities	25
Eurodollar and Yankee Bank Obligations	26
Exchange Traded Funds	26
Exchange Traded Notes	26
Financial Services.	26
Fixed Income Securities	27
Foreign Currency Exchange-Related Securities	28
Foreign Securities (All Funds)	29
High Yield/High Risk Securities	30
Illiquid Investments, Rule 144A Securities, and Section 4(2) Securities	31
Investment Company Securities	31
Money Market Securities	32
Depositary Receipts (CDRs, EDRs, GDRs)	32
Repurchase Agreements	32
Short Sales	33
Short-Term Trading	33
U.S. Government Securities	33
Warrants	34
Wullung	54
PORTFOLIO TURNOVER	34
	J 4
PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS	34
PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS	34
DISCLOSURE OF PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS	36
INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS	37
PERCENTAGE AND RATING RESTRICTIONS	42
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION	43
	-
MANAGEMENT OF THE TRUST	44

TABLE OF CONTENTS

n

٦

Г

Board of Trustees	44
Board Composition and Leadership Structure	44
Board's Role in Risk Oversight of the Trust	45
Qualification of the Trustees	45
Committees	48
Fund Ownership	49
Trustee and Officer Compensation	49
Proxy Voting	50
INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND OTHER SERVICES	51
Investment Adviser	51
Subadvisers	52
Portfolio Managers	53
Distribution Plans - Class A Shares Only	55
The Distributor	56
Shareholder Services Plan	56
Administrator and Sub-Administrator	57
Transfer Agent	58
Custodian	58
Fund Accounting Agent	58
Shareholder Servicing Agents	58
Federal Banking Law	59
Expenses	59
	33
DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE	59
DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE	39
PURCHASE OF SHARES	62
PURCHASE OF SHARES	02
Evelopes Drivilege	(2
Exchange Privilege	63
In-Kind Purchases	63
Automatic Investment Plan	64
Purchases Through a Shareholder Servicing Agent or a Securities Broker	64
	()
SALES CHARGES	64
	()
Class A Shares	64
Sales Charge Waivers	65
Concurrent Purchases	65
Letter of Intent.	66
Right of Accumulation	66
REDEMPTION OF SHARES	66
Systematic Withdrawal Plan	67
Redemption Fee	67
Redemption of Shares Purchased Directly Through the Distributor	67
RETIREMENT PLANS	68
Individual Retirement Accounts ("IRAs")	68
Defined Contribution Plans	68
Section 457 Plan, 401(k) Plan, 403(b) Plan	68
DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS	68
DESCRIPTION OF SHARES, VOTING RIGHTS, AND LIABILITIES	69

The Trust	69
Ownership of the Funds	70
TAXATION	72
Tax Status of the Funds	72
Distributions in General	73
Dispositions	73
Backup Withholding	74
Other Taxation	74
Fund Investments	75
Foreign Tax Issues	76
Foreign Currency Transactions	77
OTHER INFORMATION	77
Capitalization	78
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	78
Counsel	78
Code of Ethics	79
Registration Statement	79
Financial Statements	79
Shareholder Inquiries	79
APPENDIX A: DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES RATINGS	A-1
APPENDIX B: HSBC FUNDS, HSBC ADVISOR FUNDS TRUST, and HSBC PORTFOLIOS PROXY	
VOTING POLICY	B-1
APPENDIX C: PROXY VOTING POLICY AND PROCEDURES for HSBC GLOBAL ASSET	
MANAGEMENT (USA) INC., HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED,	
HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT (UK) LIMITED, HSBC GLOBAL ASSET	
MANAGEMENT (SINGAPORE) LIMITED	C-1
APPENDIX D: HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT (FRANCE) PROXY VOTING POLICY	
SUMMARY	D-1

GENERAL INFORMATION

THE FUNDS

Each of the HSBC Emerging Markets Debt Fund (formerly, HSBC Investor Global Emerging Markets Fixed Income Fund) ("EM Debt Fund"), HSBC Emerging Markets Equity Fund ("EM Equity Fund"), HSBC Emerging Markets Local Debt Fund (formerly, HSBC Investor Emerging Markets Local Debt Fund) ("EM Local Debt Fund"), HSBC Frontier Markets Fund ("Frontier Markets Fund"), HSBC Risk Managed Fund ("Risk Managed Fund") and HSBC Total Return Fund ("Total Return Fund") is a series of the Trust, an open-end, management investment company that currently consists of multiple series, each of which has its own distinct investment objectives and policies. Each Fund is "non-diversified," within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act").

Each Fund is described in this SAI. The Trust also includes certain equity, fixed income, asset allocation and money market funds ("Money Market Funds") that are covered in separate Statements of Additional Information. As of the date of this SAI, the EM Equity Fund, Risk Managed Fund and Total Return Fund have not commenced operations.

Shares of the EM Debt Fund, EM Local Debt Fund and Total Return Fund are divided into three separate classes: Class A (the "Class A Shares"), Class I (the "Class I Shares") and Class S (the "Class S Shares"). Shares of the EM Equity Fund, Frontier Markets Fund and Risk Managed Fund are divided into two separate classes: Class A Shares and Class I Shares. Shares of the Funds are continuously offered for sale by the Distributor at the applicable public offering price (i) directly to the public, (ii) to customers of a financial institution, such as a federal or state-chartered bank, trust company or savings and loan association that has entered into a shareholder servicing agreement with the Trust (collectively, "Shareholder Servicing Agents"), and (iii) to customers of a securities broker that has entered into a dealer agreement or shareholder servicing agreement ("Securities Brokers" and together with Shareholder Servicing Agents, "Servicing Agents") with the Distributor. Certain share classes are subject to investment minimums. See the Prospectuses and "Purchase of Shares" and "Sales Charges" in this SAI.

See "Description Of Shares, Voting Rights, and Liabilities – The Trust," and "Other Information – Capitalization" in this SAI for more information about the Trust.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE, POLICIES AND RESTRICTIONS

The following information supplements the discussion of the investment objective, policies, and risks of each Fund in the Prospectuses. There can be no assurance that the investment objectives of a Fund will be achieved. Except as otherwise indicated, the investment objective and related policies and strategies of a Fund are not fundamental and may be changed by the Board of Trustees of the Trust (the "Board") without the approval of Fund shareholders. Shareholders will be given advance notice of material changes to a Fund's investment objective or other non-fundamental investment policies. If there is a change, shareholders should consider whether a Fund remains an appropriate investment in light of their then-current financial position and needs.

Each Fund is considered to be "non-diversified" under the 1940 Act, which means that the Fund may invest a greater percentage of its assets in a more limited number of issuers than a diversified fund. Because the Funds are non-diversified, the Funds are not subject to any statutory restrictions under the 1940 Act with respect to limiting the investments of each Fund's assets in one or relatively few issuers. This ability to invest in a relatively small number of issuers may present greater risks than in the case of a diversified mutual fund. However, each Fund intends to qualify as a "regulated investment company" under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code"). In order to so qualify under current law, at the close of each quarter of a Fund's taxable year, at least 50% of the Fund's total assets must be represented by cash, U.S. Government securities, investment company securities and other securities limited in respect of any one issuer to not more than 5% in value of the total assets of the Fund and not more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer. In addition, under current law, at the close of each quarter of its taxable year, not more than 25% of a Fund's total assets may be invested in securities of one issuer (or two or more issuers which are controlled by the Fund and which are determined to be engaged in the same or similar trades or businesses or related businesses) other than U.S. Government securities.

Each Fund may borrow money for temporary defensive purposes.

EM DEBT FUND

The investment objective of the Fund is to maximize total return (comprised of capital appreciation and income). The Fund seeks to achieve its investment objective by investing, under normal market conditions, at least 80% of its net assets in fixed income instruments of issuers that are economically tied to emerging markets. Investments will generally be made in U.S. dollar denominated instruments but the Fund will also seek to invest in emerging market local currency denominated instruments. The "total return" sought by the Fund consists of income earned on investments, plus capital appreciation, if any, which generally arises from decreases in interest rates or improving credit fundamentals for a particular region, sector or security. The Fund will invest in at least three countries, and at least 40% of its net assets will be invested in foreign securities. The Fund may seek to hedge certain of its exposure to non-U.S. currencies through the use of derivatives, such as foreign exchange futures, forward deliverable and non-deliverable forward agreements, and credit default swaps.

An instrument is economically tied to an emerging market country if: (i) the issuer is a foreign government (or any political subdivision, agency, authority or instrumentality of such government) of the country; (ii) it is principally traded on the country's securities markets; or (iii) the issuer is organized or principally operates in the country, derives 50% or more of its income from its operation within the country, or has 50% or more of its assets in the country. With respect to derivative instruments, generally such instruments are treated as economically tied to emerging market countries if the underlying assets are, or the performance of the instrument is, otherwise determined with reference to currencies of emerging market countries (or baskets of such currencies), interest rates that are associated with an emerging market country, or instruments or securities that are issued by foreign governments or issuers organized under the laws of an emerging market country.

The term "emerging markets" includes any country: (i) having an "emerging stock market" as defined by the International Finance Corporation; (ii) with low- to middle-income economies according to the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (the "World Bank"); (iii) listed in World Bank publications as developing; or (iv) determined by the Adviser to be an emerging market. Currently, "emerging market countries" generally include every country in the world except Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States.

In choosing corporate debt securities on behalf of the Fund, the Adviser will evaluate each issuer based on (i) general economic and financial conditions; (ii) the specific issuer's business and management, cash flow, earnings coverage of interest and dividends, ability to operate under adverse economic conditions, and fair market value of assets; (iii) any unique political, economic or social conditions applicable to such issuer's country; and (iv) other considerations the Adviser deems appropriate. The Fund may also invest in sovereign and supranational debt obligations (debt instruments issued or guaranteed by foreign governments, agencies, and supranational entities). The Fund may invest in Eurodollar bank obligations and Yankee bank obligations, and may also invest in Brady Bonds, which are issued as a result of a restructuring of a country's debt obligations to commercial banks under the "Brady Plan."

The Fund may purchase securities of various maturities, but expects under normal market conditions to maintain an average portfolio duration that normally varies within one year (plus or minus) of the duration of the J. P. Morgan Emerging Market Bond Index Global, which as of December 31, 2011 was 7.1 years. The Fund will compare its performance to that of the JP Morgan Emerging Market Bond Index Global.

The Fund may seek a temporary defensive position when economic or market conditions are such that the Adviser deems a temporary defensive position to be appropriate. When the Fund is seeking a temporary defensive position, it may invest part or all of its assets in the following instruments: time deposits, certificates of deposit and bankers' acceptances issued by a commercial bank or savings and loan association; commercial paper rated at the time of purchase by one or more nationally recognized statistical rating organizations ("NRSROs") in one of the two highest categories or, if not rated, issued by a corporation having an outstanding unsecured debt issue rated high-grade by an NRSRO; short-term corporate obligations rated high-grade by an NRSRO; U.S. Government obligations; and repurchase agreements collateralized by the securities listed above. The Fund may also borrow money for temporary or emergency purposes. The Fund may not achieve its investment objective while it is invested in a temporary defensive position.

The Fund may invest without limitation in high yield securities ("junk bonds") ,which are those securities rated lower than "Baa" by Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's") or lower than "BBB" by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services ("S&P") or Fitch, Inc. ("Fitch"), subject to a maximum of 15% of its total assets in securities rated below "B" by Moody's, or equivalently rated by S&P or Fitch or, if unrated, determined by the Adviser to be of comparable quality. The Fund may also use derivative instruments, including, but not limited to, swaps, financial futures, foreign currency futures, foreign currency contracts, options on futures contracts, options on securities and swaps (swaptions), to the extent set forth in the Prospectus, as supplemented by the additional disclosures in this SAI. The Fund may use derivatives primarily for hedging purposes, cash management purposes, as a substitute for investing in equity or fixed income securities, or to enhance returns when the Adviser believes the investment will assist the Fund in achieving its investment objectives.

EM EQUITY FUND

Under normal market conditions, the Fund invests at least 80% of its net assets, plus any borrowings for investment purposes, in equity securities of companies that are economically tied to emerging markets. For purposes of this test, the Fund treats common stocks and other securities with equity characteristics as equity securities of emerging market countries, including, but not limited to, depositary receipts, preferred stock, warrants, rights, securities convertible into common stock, trust certificates, limited partnership interests and equity participations. The Fund may use derivatives such as forward foreign currency exchange contracts and non-deliverable forwards to hedge certain of its exposure to non-U.S. currencies. The Fund may invest in participatory notes, which are a type of derivative instrument that creates synthetic equity exposure to issuers, to gain access to markets where direct investing is not possible.

A security is economically tied to an emerging market country if: (i) the issuer is a foreign government (or any political subdivision, agency, authority or instrumentality of such government) of the country; (ii) it is principally traded on the country's securities markets; or (iii) principally operates in the country, derives a significant percentage of its income from its operation within the country, or has a significant percentage of its assets in the country. For the purposes of the foregoing, a derivative that tracks the investment returns of a particular issuer or market will be deemed to be issued by an issuer "located" in the country where the relevant issuer or market is located. The term "emerging markets" includes any country: (i) having an "emerging stock market" as defined by the International Finance Corporation; (ii) with low- to middle-income economies according to the World Bank; (iii) listed in World Bank publications as developing; or (iv) determined by the Adviser or AMEU to be an emerging market. Currently, emerging market countries generally include every country in the world except Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States. While there is no capitalization restriction, it is anticipated that the Fund will generally invest in larger, more established companies.

In selecting investments for purchase and sale, AMEU focuses on fundamental research and idea generation, emphasizing a fundamental 'bottom-up' evaluation of companies. AMEU's assessment of whether an investment is fundamentally under or over valued by the market prompts a decision to buy, sell or hold. AMEU looks at a company's long-term strategy and its competitiveness within its particular sector to identify companies that enjoy a strong cash flow and that show evidence of continued strong cash flow generation into the future. AMEU has a mid-to-long time horizon when selecting investments for the Fund and ultimately seeks to identify companies that offer compelling valuations and that can demonstrate solid and sustainable long-term strategies.

The Fund may invest up to 20% of its net assets in equity securities of issuers that are not economically tied to emerging market countries. The Fund may invest up to 10% of its net assets in equity securities of companies in "frontier market countries." The term "frontier market countries" encompasses those countries that are at an earlier stage of economic, political or financial development, even by emerging markets standards.

When AMEU believes market conditions are unfavorable or when suitable investments are not otherwise available, the Fund may seek a temporary defensive position and invest all or part of its assets in fixed-income securities, domestic or foreign government securities, or hold its assets in cash or cash equivalents. The Fund's investment objective may not be achieved while it is invested in a temporary defensive position.

EM LOCAL DEBT FUND

The investment objective of the Fund is maximum total return (comprised of capital appreciation and income). The Fund seeks to achieve its investment objective by investing, under normal market conditions, at least 80% of its net assets, plus borrowings for investment purposes, in debt instruments issued by foreign governments, government agencies or corporations and denominated in local currencies of countries of emerging securities markets. The "total return" sought by the Fund consists of income earned on investments, plus capital appreciation, if any, which generally arises from decreases in interest rates or improving credit fundamentals for a particular region, sector or security. The Fund may also invest in instruments denominated in U.S. dollars. The Fund may invest in derivatives such as currency forwards, non-deliverable forwards, equity options, bond options, currency options, interest rate swaps or credit default swaps denominated in any currency for hedging purposes, cash management purposes, as a substitute for investing in equity or fixed income securities, or to enhance returns. These instruments will be treated as investments in debt securities for the purposes of the Fund's 80% of net assets policy, as appropriate, if the underlying asset of such derivative is a debt instrument issued by a foreign government, government agencies, corporations, and denominated in the local currency of an emerging market country or a currency of or interest rate associated with an emerging market country.

The term "emerging markets" includes any country: (i) having an "emerging stock market" as defined by the International Finance Corporation; (ii) with low- to middle-income economies according to the World Bank; (iii) listed in World Bank publications as developing; or (iv) determined by the Adviser to be an emerging market. Currently, "emerging market countries" generally include every country in the world except Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States.

The Fund may invest without limit in debt instruments that are economically tied to emerging market countries. An instrument is economically tied to an emerging market country if: (i) the issuer is the government (or any political subdivision, agency, authority or instrumentality of such government) of the country; (ii) it is principally traded on the country's securities markets; or (iii) the issuer is organized or principally operates in the country, derives 50% or more of its income from its operations within the country, or has 50% or more of its assets in the country. In the case of certain money market instruments, such instruments will be considered economically tied to an emerging market country if either the issuer or the guarantor of such money market instrument is organized under the laws of an emerging market country. The Fund normally will invest primarily in securities whose performance is economically tied to Asia, Africa, the Middle East, Latin America and the developing countries of Europe.

The Fund may invest in instruments whose return is based on the return of an emerging market security such as a derivative instrument, rather than investing directly in emerging market securities. With respect to derivative instruments, generally such instruments are treated as economically tied to emerging market countries if the underlying assets are, or the performance of the instrument is, otherwise determined with reference to currencies of emerging market countries (or baskets or indexes of such currencies) interest rates that are associated with an emerging market country, or instruments or securities that are issued by foreign governments or issuers organized under the laws of an emerging market country.

In choosing securities on behalf of the Fund, the Adviser will evaluate each issuer based on (i) general economic and financial conditions; (ii) the specific issuer's business and management, cash flow, earnings coverage of interest and dividends, ability to operate under adverse economic conditions, and fair market value of assets; (iii) any unique political, economic or social conditions applicable to such issuer's country; and (iv) other considerations the Adviser deems appropriate. The Adviser will select the Fund's country and currency composition based on its evaluation of relative interest rates, inflation rates, exchange rates, monetary and fiscal policies, trade and current account balances, legal and political developments and other specific factors the Adviser believes to be relevant.

The Fund may purchase securities of various maturities, but expects to maintain an average portfolio duration that normally varies within two years (plus or minus) of a 50/50 blend of the JP Morgan Government Bond Index - Emerging Market Global Diversified and the JP Morgan Emerging Local Markets Index Plus, which as of December 31, 2011 was 2.36 years. The Fund will compare its performance to the same 50/50 blend of the JP Morgan Government Bond Index – Emerging Market Global Diversified and the JP Morgan Emerging Local Markets Index Plus, which as of December 31, 2011 was 2.36 years. The Fund will compare its performance to the same 50/50 blend of the JP Morgan Government Bond Index – Emerging Market Global Diversified and the JP Morgan Emerging Local Markets Index Plus.

The Fund may invest in both investment-grade securities, which are those securities that are rated by one or more NRSROs within one of the four highest long-term quality grades at the time of purchase (e.g., "AAA", "AA", "A" or "BBB" by S&P or Fitch or "Aaa", "Aa", "A" or "Baa" by Moody's), and high yield securities ("junk bonds"), which are those securities rated lower than "Baa" by Moody's or lower than "BBB" by S&P or Fitch, subject to a maximum of 15% of its total assets in securities rated below "B" by Moody's, or equivalently rated by S&P or Fitch, or, if unrated, determined by the Adviser to be of comparable quality. The Fund may purchase or sell securities on a when-issued, delayed delivery or forward commitment basis and may engage in short sales. The Fund may, without limitation, seek to obtain market exposure to the securities in which it primarily invests by entering into a series of purchase and sale contracts or by using other investment techniques (such as buy backs or dollar rolls).

The Fund may seek a temporary defensive position when economic or market conditions are such that the Adviser deems a temporary defensive position to be appropriate. When the Fund is seeking a temporary defensive position, it may invest part or all of its assets in: time deposits, certificates of deposit and bankers' acceptances issued by a commercial bank or savings and loan association; commercial paper rated at the time of purchase by one or more NRSROs in one of the two highest categories or, if not rated, issued by a corporation having an outstanding unsecured debt issue rated high-grade by an NRSRO; short-term corporate obligations rated high-grade by an NRSRO; U.S. Government obligations; Government agency securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. Government-sponsored instrumentalities and federal agencies; and repurchase agreements collateralized by the securities listed above. The Fund's investment objective may not be achieved while it is invested in a temporary defensive position.

The Adviser has broad discretion to identify countries that it considers to qualify as emerging markets. The Fund may use derivatives to the extent set forth in the Prospectus, as supplemented by the additional disclosures in this SAI. The Fund may use derivatives for hedging purposes, cash management purposes, as a substitute for investing in equity or debt securities, or to enhance return returns when the Adviser believes the investment will assist the Fund in achieving its investment objectives.

FRONTIER MARKETS FUND

Under normal market conditions, the Fund invests at least 80% of its net assets, plus any borrowings for investment purposes, in issuers located in "frontier market countries." The term "frontier market countries" encompasses those countries that are at an earlier stage of economic, political or financial development, even by emerging markets standards.

For purposes of the Fund's investments, frontier market companies are those: (i) whose principal securities trading markets are in frontier market countries; (ii) that derive a significant percentage of their total revenue or profit from either goods or services produced or sales made in frontier market countries; (iii) that have a significant percentage of their assets in frontier market countries; (iv) that are linked to currencies of frontier market countries; or (v) that are organized under the laws of, or with principal offices in, frontier market countries.

AMEU is the Fund's Subadviser. AMEU's New Frontiers Team has identified a group of more than 30 countries that it currently considers to be frontier market countries. This includes countries that are currently part of the Morgan Stanley Capital International ("MSCI") Frontier Market Index classification (currently 25 countries – Argentina, Bahrain, Bangladesh, Bulgaria, Croatia, Estonia, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kuwait, Latvia, Lebanon, Lithuania, Mauritius, Nigeria, Oman, Qatar, Romania, Serbia, Slovenia, Sri Lanka, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates, Ukraine and Vietnam), as well as the MSCI Emerging Market Index countries considered by AMEU to be "cross-over" markets (currently five countries – Colombia, Egypt, Morocco, Peru and the Philippines), and a number of countries deemed by AMEU to be frontier market countries but not currently part of the above mentioned indices (for example Georgia, Ghana, Panama, Saudi Arabia and Zimbabwe). Cross-over markets are those that are formally included in main emerging markets indices but show "frontier markets" characteristics based on factors such as foreign investment restrictions, lower correlation with global markets, size of free-float adjusted market-cap, and/or other economic and political factors. AMEU may, in the future, deem other countries to be frontier market countries.

The Fund invests primarily in the equity securities of frontier market companies with market capitalizations above \$100 million U.S. dollars. However, the Fund may invest in companies of any size. The Fund treats common stocks and other securities with equity characteristics as equity securities, including, but not limited to, depositary receipts,

preferred stock, warrants, rights, trust certificates, limited partnership interests and equity participations. The Fund is heavily exposed to commodity (such as oil) producing countries through its investments in frontier market countries.

In light of the fact that a relatively significant proportion of frontier market companies available for investment are in the financial services group of industries, the Fund will, under normal market conditions, invest more than 25% of its total assets in the financial services group of industries. For purposes of the Fund's investments, the financial services group of industries includes, among other things, banks, asset management companies, investment banking companies, brokerage companies, custody banks and insurance companies. AMEU intends to maintain the Fund's exposure to issuers in the financial services group of industries such that it is broadly in line with the proportion of frontier markets issuers that are available for investment and in the financial services group of industries. The Fund may, however, invest less than 25% of its total assets in this group of industries as a temporary defensive measure.

The Fund will seek to achieve its investment objective in part through the use of derivatives. The Fund may invest in participatory notes, which are a type of derivative instrument that creates synthetic equity exposure to issuers, to gain access to markets where direct investing is not possible. The Fund may also use equity index futures for cash management purposes and forward foreign currency exchange contracts and non-deliverable forwards to hedge certain of its exposure to non-U.S. currencies. For the purposes of the foregoing, a derivative that tracks the investment returns of a particular issuer or market will be deemed to be issued by an issuer "located" in the country where the relevant issuer or market is located. The Fund's use of derivatives will vary depending on market conditions and the ability of the Fund to invest directly in securities providing the desired exposure, but derivatives are expected normally to comprise a minority of the Fund's investments.

AMEU selects investments for purchase and sale through an in-depth stock analysis that combines quantitative and qualitative analysis. AMEU's quantitative analysis is based on publicly available data and is focused on valuation metrics, earnings growth expectations and return on capital and profitability. AMEU's qualitative analysis is based on an individual assessment of business model and competitive advantage, cash generation, industry dynamics and corporate governance and management quality.

The Fund may invest up to 20% of its net assets in securities of issuers located in countries that are not deemed to be frontier market countries. The Fund may invest a portion of its net assets in debt obligations.

For purposes of the Fund's investments, frontier market countries are those defined as such by AMEU, at its discretion. AMEU also may, in the future, deem other countries to be cross-over market countries.

When AMEU believes market conditions are unfavorable or when suitable investments are not otherwise available, the Fund may seek a temporary defensive position and invest all or part of its assets in fixed-income securities, domestic or foreign government securities, or hold its assets in cash or cash equivalents. The Fund's investment objective may not be achieved while it is invested in a temporary defensive position. In addition, the Fund may invest less than 25% of its total assets in the financial services group of industries as a temporary defensive measure.

RISK MANAGED FUND

The Fund seeks to achieve its investment objective by investing, under normal market conditions, in exchange traded index futures contracts or exchange traded funds ("ETFs") in countries that are included in the MSCI Emerging Markets Index. The Fund may also invest in U.S. Treasury bills.

The Fund seeks to maintain a minimum net asset value ("NAV") of 75% of the Fund's highest NAV (the "Active Targeted Minimum NAV") as calculated at the close of the prior four calendar quarters (March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31). At inception, the Fund will target a minimum NAV of 75% of the Fund's initial NAV ("Initial Target"). As stated above, a targeted minimum NAV will be calculated at the end of each calendar quarter; the Active Targeted Minimum NAV is the highest of the target minimum NAVs calculated at the end of the four previous quarters. During the first 12 months of the life of the Fund, the initial targeted minimum NAV will be the Active Targeted Minimum NAV so long as it is higher than any targeted minimum NAV calculated at the end of the following calendar quarters.

The Active Targeted Minimum NAV is only a goal and there can be no assurance that it will be achieved. The Active Targeted Minimum NAV is not guaranteed or insured by the Adviser, HSBC Bank USA, NA or any other guarantor.

The Fund will actively allocate from 0 - 100% of its investments among exchange traded index futures contracts, ETFs and U.S. Treasury bills to maximize the Fund's performance while seeking to maintain the Active Targeted Minimum NAV.

The Fund's actual NAV could close below the Active Targeted Minimum NAV as a result of events or circumstances that include (but are not limited to) the following:

- significantly adverse market conditions, including those conditions that are not consistent with the negative market scenarios utilized by the Adviser in determining the relative balance between equity exposure and fixed income securities exposure within the Fund's investment portfolio;

- market conditions affecting the execution or settlement of transactions or the value of assets;

- a material decline in the securities markets coupled with material redemptions from the Fund that result in an overweighting of the Fund's exposure to the equity markets that cannot be remedied through rebalancing in a timely fashion by the Adviser;

the failure of any relevant securities exchange or clearing house; or

- any act of terrorism or other external event that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the performance or operation of global security markets.

In case the Fund's NAV falls below the Active Targeted Minimum NAV, the Adviser will reduce the Fund's equity exposure to zero until a targeted minimum NAV lower than the Fund's NAV becomes the Active Targeted Minimum NAV. In such a circumstance, the Fund will not benefit from positive performance in the equity markets. There can be no assurance that the Fund's NAV will remain above the Active Targeted Minimum NAV in effect as of a particular date. When, and if, an investor redeems shares of the Fund, the proceeds received may be less than the Active Targeted Minimum NAV.

The term "emerging markets" consists of all countries that are not developed nations and the nations/countries to which "emerging markets" refers will vary with the composition of the MSCI Emerging Markets Index. For the purposes of the foregoing, an exchange traded index futures contract or ETF that tracks the investment returns of a particular issuer or market will be deemed to be issued by an issuer "located" in the country where the relevant issuer or market is located. The Fund's investments in exchange traded index futures contracts and ETFs are economically tied to emerging market countries. An instrument is economically tied to an emerging market country if it is principally traded on the country's securities markets, or the issuer is organized or principally operates in the country, derives a percentage of its income from its operation within the country, or has a percentage of its assets in the country.

The Fund does not currently intend to invest directly in equity or foreign securities as part of its principal investment strategy. The Fund will purchase and sell exchange traded index futures contracts, which are derivative instruments, to meet its objective. The Fund may use forward foreign currency exchange contracts and non-deliverable forwards to hedge certain of its exposure to non-U.S. currencies. The Fund may also use these derivative instruments when AMFR, the subadviser to the Fund, believes that doing so will assist the Fund in achieving its investment objective.

AMFR will use a proprietary quantitative model to select instruments for purchase and sale. AMFR will allocate the Fund's assets among a subset of countries listed in the MSCI Emerging Markets Index. The investment universe may include, but is not limited to, China, Brazil, South Korea, Taiwan, India, South Africa, Mexico, Turkey, Thailand, Poland and Malaysia. The allocation among selected countries generally will be, on average, proportionally reflective of the geographic composition of the MSCI Emerging Markets Index and may be frequently rebalanced. The level of exposure to equity markets will depend on market conditions and on AMFR's expectations of future market conditions. AMFR will consider the Active Targeted Minimum NAV, expected short-term volatility analysis and proprietary equity market valuation signals to determine the Fund's level of exposure to equity markets.

The Fund may seek a temporary defensive position when economic or market conditions are such that AMFR deems a temporary defensive position to be appropriate. The Fund's equity exposure may even be temporarily reduced to zero in extreme scenarios. When the Fund is seeking a temporary defensive position, it may invest part or all of its assets in fixed-income securities, domestic or foreign government securities, or hold its assets in cash or cash equivalents. The Fund's investment objective may not be achieved while it is invested in a temporary defensive position.

TOTAL RETURN FUND

The Fund seeks to achieve its investment objective, under normal market conditions, by investing primarily in instruments of issuers that are economically tied to emerging market countries, as defined below, including in derivative instruments such as futures (including interest rate futures), forwards (including non-deliverable forwards), swaps (including interest rate and total return swaps), options (including interest rate options), swaptions and credit default swaps. The Fund may not be invested in all of these types of derivatives at all times. In addition to derivatives, these instruments include ETFs, investment-grade and high yield securities ("junk bonds"), convertible bonds and equity and equity equivalent securities as further described below. The Fund may engage in short sales, including taking short positions on forwards.

The Fund will invest in instruments that are issued or guaranteed by governments of emerging market countries and corporations that are economically tied to an emerging market country. Investments will be made in emerging market local currency denominated instruments and in instruments denominated in the currency of a member country of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD"). The "total return" sought by the Fund consists of income earned on investment, plus capital appreciation, if any, which generally arises from decreases in interest rates, foreign currency appreciation, or improving credit fundamentals for a particular country, sector or security.

The Fund will also invest in derivative instruments whose returns are based on the returns of instruments of issuers that are economically tied to emerging market countries or that are issued or guaranteed by governments of emerging market countries, rather than investing directly in such instruments, in order to enhance return. The Fund will also invest in derivative instruments for hedging purposes, including to hedge certain of its exposure to non-U.S. currencies, and for tax-advantaged access to instruments.

An instrument is economically tied to an emerging market country if (i) the issuer is the government (or any political subdivision, agency, authority or instrumentality of such government) of the country; (ii) it is principally traded on the country's securities markets; or (iii) the issuer is organized or principally operates in the country, derives 50% or more of its income from its operation within the country, or has 50% or more of its assets in the country. With respect to derivative instruments, generally such instruments are treated as economically tied to emerging market countries if the underlying assets are or the performance of the instrument is otherwise determined with reference to currencies of emerging market countries (or baskets or indexes of such currencies), interest rates that are associated with an emerging market country, or instruments or securities that are issued by foreign governments or issuers organized under the laws of an emerging market country.

The term "emerging markets" includes any country: (i) having an "emerging stock market" as defined by the International Finance Corporation; (ii) with low- to middle-income economies according to the World Bank; (iii) listed in World Bank publications as developing; or (iv) determined by the Adviser to be an emerging market. Currently, these countries generally include every country in the world except Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States.

OECD is an international organization that aims to help governments tackle economic, social and governance challenges of a globalized economy. As of February 1, 2012, OECD's member countries were Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Chile, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hong Kong, Hungary, Iceland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Kingdom and the United States.

The Fund may invest without limit in both investment-grade and high yield securities ("junk bonds"). Investment grade securities are those securities that are rated by one or more NRSROs within one of the four highest long-term quality grades at the time of purchase (e.g., "Aaa", "Aa", "A" or "Baa" by Moody's or "AAA", "AA", "A" or "BBB" by S&P or Fitch). High yield securities are those securities rated lower than "Baa" by Moody's or Fitch or lower than "BBB" by S&P or Fitch or, if unrated, determined by the Adviser to be of comparable quality. The Fund may purchase securities of various maturities, but expects under normal market conditions to maintain an average portfolio duration of one to three years.

The Fund may invest up to 25% of its net assets in convertible bonds which may be issued by companies of all sizes and market capitalizations that are economically tied to an emerging market country. Convertible bonds include, but are not limited to: corporate bonds, debentures, notes or preferred stocks and their hybrids that can be converted into (exchanged for) common stock or other securities, such as warrants or options, which provide an opportunity for equity participation. Convertible bonds generally fall within the lower-rated categories as determined by NRSROs. The Fund may also invest up to 10% its net assets in equity and equity equivalent securities issued by corporations of all sizes and market capitalizations that are economically tied to an emerging market country.

The Adviser selects securities for purchase and sale by using a top down approach in which country credits, currencies, and local rate curves are analyzed based on their fundamental attractiveness. This analysis is based on information obtained from dedicated in-house market research, local resources and travel to the region, and a variety of other sources including third-party data providers. The Fund's global exposure is calculated using a value-at-risk approach. The Fund's strategy is managed in an absolute return style and is not managed with reference to a benchmark. The Adviser employs a multi-strategy investment approach using segments of the hard and local currency universe to build a portfolio with an overall volatility target (generally 5-8%) and a return target approximately twice the volatility. The Fund's portfolio is constructed through a rigorous correlation and risk/reward analysis that is intended to capture most of the upside in emerging debt markets with less volatility and fewer drawdowns than traditional benchmark-oriented products.

The Fund may invest in other mutual funds managed by the Adviser. The Fund may purchase securities of various maturities, but expects under normal market conditions to maintain an average portfolio duration of one to three years. The Adviser has broad discretion to identify countries that it considers to qualify as emerging markets. The Adviser will select the Fund's country and currency composition based on its evaluation of relative interest rates, inflation rates, exchange rates, monetary and fiscal policies, trade and current account balances, legal and political developments and other specific factors that the Adviser believes to be relevant.

When the Adviser believes market conditions are unfavorable or when suitable investments are not otherwise available, the Fund may seek a temporary defensive position and invest all or part of its assets in cash or cash equivalents. The Fund's investment objective may not be achieved while it is invested in a temporary defensive position.

INVESTMENT TECHNIQUES

Each Fund invests in a variety of securities in accordance with its investment objectives and policies (as described in the Prospectuses and above in this SAI) and employs a number of investment techniques. Each type of security and technique involves certain risks. The following is an alphabetical list of the investment techniques used by the Funds as indicated in the table and the main risks associated with those techniques.

References to the Adviser should be understood as referring jointly to the Adviser and the relevant Subadviser.

The table below indicates the types of investments and techniques that are material to the investment strategies employed by each Fund. In some cases, the omission of a Fund is not intended to imply that the Fund is precluded from investing in the types of investments or employing the techniques indicated below. Generally, if a particular type of investment or technique is not indicated as being applicable to a particular Fund, the particular type of investment or technique will not be material to the investment strategies employed by the Fund, although any risk factors that are stated more generally with respect to any broader category of investment or technique may still apply.

<u>Type of Investment or Technique</u>	EM Debt Fund	EM Equity Fund	EM Local Debt Fund	Frontier Markets Fund	Risk Managed Fund	Total Return Fund
Asset-Backed Securities	Х	Χ		Χ	X	X
Banking Industry and Savings and Loan Industry Obligations	Х	Χ	X	Χ	Х	Х
Brady Bonds	Х					
Cash Sweep Program	Χ	Χ	Χ	Х	Х	Х
Convertible Securities		X				
Derivatives	Χ	Χ	Χ	Х	Х	Х
Forward Foreign Currency Contracts and Options on Foreign	х	Х	х	х	х	х
Currencies	л	Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ
Futures Contracts	Χ	Χ	Χ	Х	Х	Х
Hybrid Instruments	Χ	X	X			
Options and Futures and Related Risks	Χ	Χ		Х	Х	Х
Participation Notes and Participatory Notes			X	Χ		
Swaps, Caps, Floors and Collars	Χ	Χ				
Emerging Markets	Х	Х	Χ	Х	Х	Х
Equity Securities		X		Х		
Eurodollar and Yankee Bank Obligations	Х					
Exchange Traded Funds	Χ	X	Χ	Х	Х	Х
Exchange Traded Notes	Х					
Financial Services				Х		
Fixed Income Securities	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Foreign Currency Exchange-Related Securities	Х	X	X	Х	Х	Х
Foreign Securities	Х	Χ	Χ	Х	Х	Х
High Yield/High Risk Securities	Х		X			
Illiquid Investments, Rule 144A Securities, and Section 4(2) Securities	Х	Х	Χ	Х	Х	Х
Investment Company Securities	Χ	X	X	Χ	Х	Х
Money Market Securities	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Depositary Receipts (CDRs, EDRs, GDRs)		X		Χ		
Repurchase Agreements	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Х	Χ
Short Sales						Χ
Short-Term Trading	Χ	Χ	Χ	Х	Х	Х
U.S. Government Securities	Χ	Χ	X	Χ	Х	Х
Warrants	Х	Х	Χ	Х	Х	Х

ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES

The Funds may invest in asset-backed securities. Through the use of trusts and special purpose subsidiaries, various types of assets, primarily home equity loans and automobile and credit card receivables, are being securitized in pass-through structures similar to the mortgage pass-through structures or in a pay-through structure similar to the collateralized mortgage structure.

Asset-backed securities involve certain risks that are not posed by mortgage-related securities, resulting mainly from the fact that asset-backed securities do not usually contain the complete benefit of a security interest in the related collateral. For example, credit card receivables generally are unsecured and the debtors are entitled to the protection of a number of state and Federal consumer credit laws, some of which may reduce the ability to obtain full payment. In

the case of automobile receivables, due to various legal and economic factors, proceeds from repossessed collateral may not always be sufficient to support payments on these securities. The risks associated with asset-backed securities are often reduced by the addition of credit enhancements such as a letter of credit from a bank, excess collateral or a third-party guarantee.

BANKING INDUSTRY AND SAVINGS AND LOAN INDUSTRY OBLIGATIONS

As a temporary defensive measure, the Funds may invest in certificates of deposit, time deposits, bankers' acceptances, and other short-term debt obligations issued by commercial banks and savings and loan associations ("S&Ls").

Certificates of deposit are receipts from a bank or S&L for funds deposited for a specified period of time at a specified rate of return. Time deposits in banks or S&Ls are generally similar to certificates of deposit but are uncertificated. Bankers' acceptances are time drafts drawn on commercial banks by borrowers, usually in connection with international commercial transactions. The Funds may not invest in time deposits maturing in more than seven days. The Funds will limit their investments in time deposits maturing from two business days through seven calendar days, and in securities deemed to be illiquid, to 15% of their total assets.

The Funds will not invest in any obligation of a commercial bank unless (i) the bank has total assets of at least \$1 billion, or the equivalent in other currencies, or, in the case of domestic banks which do not have total assets of at least \$1 billion, the aggregate investment made in any one such bank is limited to \$100,000 and the principal amount of such investment is insured in full by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the "FDIC"); (ii) in the case of U.S. banks, it is a member of the FDIC; and (iii) in the case of foreign branches of U.S. banks, the security is deemed by the Adviser to be of an investment quality comparable with other debt securities which may be purchased by the Funds.

The Funds may also invest in obligations of U.S. banks, foreign branches of U.S. banks (Eurodollars) and U.S. branches of foreign banks (Yankee dollars) as a temporary defensive measure. Euro and Yankee dollar investments will involve some of the same risks as investing in foreign securities, as described below.

BRADY BONDS

The Emerging Markets Debt Fund may invest a portion of their assets in Brady Bonds, which are securities created through the exchange of existing commercial bank loans to sovereign entities for new obligations in connection with debt restructurings. Brady Bonds are not considered U.S. Government securities.

Brady Bonds may be collateralized or uncollateralized and are issued in various currencies (primarily the U.S. dollar). U.S. dollar-denominated, collateralized Brady Bonds, which may be fixed rate par bonds or floating rate discount bonds, are generally collateralized in full as to principal by U.S. Treasury zero coupon bonds having the same maturity as the Brady Bonds. Interest payments on these Brady Bonds generally are collateralized on a one-year or longer rolling-forward basis by cash or securities in an amount that, in the case of fixed rate bonds, is equal to at least one year of interest payments or, in the case of floating rate bonds, initially is equal to at least one year's interest payments based on the applicable interest rate at that time and is adjusted at regular intervals thereafter. Certain Brady Bonds are entitled to "value recovery payments" in certain circumstances, which in effect constitute supplemental interest payments but generally are not collateralized. Brady Bonds are often viewed as having three or four valuation components: (i) the collateralized repayment of principal at final maturity; (ii) the collateralized interest payments; and (iv) any uncollateralized repayment of principal at maturity (these uncollateralized amounts constitute the "residual risk").

Brady Bonds involve various risk factors, including the history of defaults with respect to commercial bank loans by public and private entities of countries issuing Brady Bonds. Investments in Brady Bonds are to be viewed as speculative. There can be no assurance that Brady Bonds in which the Fund may invest will not be subject to restructuring arrangements or to requests for new credit, which may cause the Fund to suffer a loss of interest or principal on any of its holdings.

CASH SWEEP PROGRAM

Each Fund may participate in a cash sweep program (the "Cash Sweep Program"). In the Cash Sweep Program, a Fund's uninvested cash balances are used to purchase Class I Shares of the HSBC Prime Money Market Fund (the "Prime Money Market Fund"). The Cash Sweep Program can reduce exposure to the risk of counterparty default on repurchase agreements and the market risk associated with direct purchases of short-term obligations, while providing ready liquidity and increased diversity of holdings. Class I Shares of the Prime Money Market Fund sold to and redeemed from a Fund will not be subject to a sales charge, as defined in rule 2830(b)(8) of the Conduct Rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA"), or service fee, as defined in rule 2830(b)(9) of the Conduct Rules of FINRA, in connection with the purchase, sale, or redemption of such shares by a Fund, or the advisory fee for the investing Fund will be waived in an amount that offsets the amount of such sales charges and/or service fees incurred by that Fund. More detailed information about the Prime Money Market Fund may be found in its current Prospectus and the separate SAI that includes the various Money Market Funds.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

The Emerging Markets Equity Fund may invest in securities that are convertible into common stock. Convertible bonds are issued with lower coupons than non-convertible bonds of the same quality and maturity, but they give holders the option to exchange their bonds for a specific number of shares of the company's common stock at a predetermined price. This structure allows the convertible bond holder to participate in share price movements in the company's common stock. The actual return on a convertible bond may exceed its stated yield if the company's common stock appreciates in value, and the option to convert to common shares becomes more valuable. See "Equity Securities" in this section.

Convertible preferred stocks are non-voting equity securities that pay a fixed dividend. These securities have a convertible feature similar to convertible bonds; however, they do not have a maturity date. Due to their fixed income features, convertible issues typically are more sensitive to interest rate changes than the underlying common stock. In the event of liquidation, bondholders would have claims on company assets senior to those of stockholders; preferred stockholders would have claims senior to those of common stockholders.

DERIVATIVES

The Funds may invest in various instruments that are commonly known as derivatives. Generally, a derivative is a financial arrangement the value of which is based on, or "derived" from, a traditional security, asset, or market index. Some "derivatives" such as mortgage-related and other asset-backed securities are in many respects like any other investment, although they may be more volatile or less liquid than more traditional debt securities. There are, in fact, many different types of derivatives and many different ways to use them. There is a range of risks associated with those uses, including the possibility of a total loss of the amount invested. Futures and options are commonly used for traditional hedging purposes to attempt to protect a fund from exposure to changing interest rates, securities prices, or currency exchange rates and for cash management purposes as a low cost method of gaining exposure to a particular securities market without investing directly in those securities. The Funds may use derivatives for hedging purposes or cash management purposes, as a substitute for investing directly in securities, or as a part of a strategy to gain exposure to characteristics of investments in foreign markets through efficient portfolio management techniques. Included in the foregoing are investments in derivatives to create synthetic foreign bond positions. Certain Funds (as reflected in the Prospectuses or in other sections of this SAI) may use derivatives to seek to enhance return when the Adviser believes the investment will assist the Fund in achieving its investment objectives.

Forward Foreign Currency Contracts And Options On Foreign Currencies

The Funds may enter into forward foreign currency contracts and options on foreign currencies. Forward foreign currency exchange contracts ("forward contracts") are intended to minimize the risk of loss to a Fund from adverse changes in the relationship between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies. By entering into transactions in forward contracts, however, a Fund may be required to forego the benefits of advantageous changes in exchange rates and, in the case of forward contracts entered into for non-hedging purposes, the Fund may sustain losses that will reduce its gross income. Forward contracts are traded over-the-counter and not on organized commodities or securities

exchanges. As a result, such contracts operate in a manner distinct from exchange-traded instruments and their use involves certain risks beyond those associated with transactions in futures contracts or options traded on exchanges.

A forward contract is an obligation to purchase or sell a specific currency for an agreed price at a future date that is individually negotiated and privately traded by currency traders and their customers. A forward contract may be used, for example, when a Fund enters into a contract for the purchase or sale of a security denominated in a foreign currency in order to "lock in" the U.S. dollar price of the security.

The Funds may each also purchase and write put and call options on foreign currencies for the purpose of protecting against declines in the dollar value of foreign portfolio securities and against increases in the U.S. dollar cost of foreign securities to be acquired. See "Options and Futures and Related Risks" in this section.

The Funds may each also combine forward contracts with investments in securities denominated in other currencies in order to achieve desired credit and currency exposures. Such combinations are generally referred to as synthetic securities. For example, in lieu of purchasing a foreign bond, a Fund may purchase a U.S. dollar-denominated security and at the same time enter into a forward contract to exchange U.S. dollars for the contract's underlying currency at a future date. By matching the amount of U.S. dollars to be exchanged with the anticipated value of the U.S. dollar-denominated security, a Fund may be able to lock in the foreign currency value of the security and adopt a synthetic investment position reflecting the credit quality of the U.S. dollar-denominated security.

There is a risk in adopting a synthetic investment position to the extent that the value of a security denominated in U.S. dollars or other foreign currency is not exactly matched with a Fund's obligation under the forward contract. On the date of maturity, a Fund may be exposed to some risk of loss from fluctuations in that currency. When a Fund enters into a forward contract for purposes of creating a synthetic security, it will generally be required to hold high-grade, liquid securities or cash in a segregated account with a daily value at least equal to its obligation under the forward contract.

Transactions in forward contracts entered into for hedging purposes will include forward purchases or sales of foreign currencies for the purpose of protecting the dollar value of securities denominated in a foreign currency or protecting the dollar equivalent of interest or dividends to be paid on such securities. By entering into such transactions, however, a Fund may be required to forego the benefits of advantageous changes in exchange rates. The Funds that may use derivatives to enhance their returns may enter into transactions in forward contracts for purposes other than hedging, which presents greater profit potential but also involves increased risk of losses that will reduce their gross income. If the expected changes in the value of the currency occur, a Fund will realize profits that will increase its gross income. Where exchange rates do not move in the direction or to the extent anticipated, however, a Fund may sustain losses that will reduce its gross income. Such transactions, therefore, could be considered speculative.

Futures Contracts

The Funds may buy and sell futures contracts that relate to (1) broadly-based stock indices (these are referred to as "stock index futures"), (2) an individual stock ("single stock futures"), (3) other broadly-based securities indices (these are referred to as "financial futures"), and (4) foreign currencies. A broadly-based stock index is used as the basis for trading stock index futures. They may, in some cases, be based on stocks of issuers in a particular industry or group of industries. A stock index assigns relative values to the common stocks included in the index and its value fluctuates in response to the changes in value of the underlying stocks. A stock index cannot be purchased or sold directly. Financial futures are similar contracts based on the future value of the basket of securities that comprise the index. These contracts obligate the seller to deliver, and the purchaser to take, cash to settle the futures transaction. There is no delivery made of the underlying securities to settle the futures obligation. Either party may also settle the transaction by entering into

an offsetting contract.

A "sale" of a futures contract means the acquisition of a contractual obligation to deliver the securities or to make or accept the cash settlement called for by the contract at a specified price on a specified date. A "purchase" of a futures contract means the acquisition of a contractual obligation to acquire the securities or to make or accept the cash settlement called for by the contract at a specified price on a specified date.

A Fund may enter into transactions in futures contracts to protect itself from fluctuations in interest rates but without the risks and transaction costs of buying or selling long-term debt securities. For example, if a Fund owns long-term bonds, and interest rates were expected to increase, the Fund might enter into futures contracts for the sale of debt securities. Such a sale would have much the same effect as selling an equivalent value of the long-term bonds owned by a Fund. If interest rates did increase, the value of the debt securities in the portfolio would decline, but the value of a Fund's futures contracts would increase at approximately the same rate, thereby keeping the NAV of the Fund from declining as much as it otherwise would have. When a Fund is not fully invested, and a decline in interest rates is anticipated, which would increase the cost of fixed income securities that the Fund intends to acquire, the Fund may purchase a futures contract. In the event that the projected decline in interest rates occurs, the increased cost to the Fund of the securities acquired should be offset, in whole or in part, by gains on the futures contracts. As portfolio securities are purchased, the Fund will close out its futures contracts by entering into offsetting transactions on the contract market on which the initial purchase was effected. In a substantial majority of these transactions, a Fund will purchase fixed income securities upon termination of the long futures positions, but under unusual market conditions, a long futures position may be terminated without a corresponding purchase of securities.

While futures contracts based on debt securities do provide for the delivery and acceptance of securities, such deliveries and acceptances are very seldom made. Generally, a futures contract is terminated by entering into an offsetting transaction. A Fund will incur brokerage fees when it purchases and sells futures contracts. At the time a purchase or sale is made, cash or securities must be provided as an initial deposit known as "margin." The initial deposit required will vary, but may be as low as 2% or less of a contract's face value. Daily thereafter, the futures contract is valued through a process known as "marking to market," and a Fund may receive or be required to pay additional "variation margin" as the futures contract becomes more or less valuable. At the time of delivery of securities pursuant to such a contract, adjustments are made to recognize differences in value arising from the delivery of securities with a different interest rate than the specific security that provides the standard for the contract. In some (but not many) cases, securities called for by a futures contract may not have been issued when the contract was entered into.

When it is expected that interest rates may decline, futures contracts may be purchased to attempt to hedge against anticipated purchases of long-term bonds at higher prices. Since the fluctuations in the value of futures contracts should be similar to that of long-term bonds, a Fund may be protected, in whole or in part, against the increased cost of acquiring bonds resulting from a decline in interest rates. Similar results could be accomplished by selling bonds with long maturities and investing in bonds with short maturities when interest rates are expected to increase. However, since the futures market is more liquid than the cash market, the use of futures contracts as an investment technique allows action in anticipation of such an interest rate decline without having to sell a Fund's portfolio securities.

The ability to hedge effectively all or a portion of a Fund's portfolio through transactions in futures contracts depends on the degree to which movements in the value of the fixed income securities or index underlying such contracts correlate with movements in the value of securities held in the Fund's portfolio. If the securities (or the securities comprising the index) underlying a futures contract are different than the portfolio securities being hedged, they may not move to the same extent or in the same direction. In that event, the hedging strategy might not be successful and a Fund could sustain losses on the hedging transactions that would not be offset by gains on its portfolio. It is

also possible that there may be a negative correlation between the index or security underlying a futures contract and the portfolio securities being hedged, which could result in losses on both the hedging transaction and the portfolio securities. In such instances, a Fund's overall return could be less than if the hedging transactions had not been undertaken.

The trading of futures contracts on an index of fixed income securities entails the additional risk of imperfect correlation between movements in the futures price and the value of the underlying index. The anticipated spread between the prices may be distorted due to differences in the nature of the markets, such as differences in margin requirements, the liquidity of such markets and the participation of speculators in the futures market. The risk of imperfect correlation, however, generally tends to diminish as the maturity date of the futures contract approaches.

The ordinary spreads between prices in the cash and futures markets, due to differences in the nature of those markets, are subject to distortions. First, all participants in the futures market are subject to initial deposit and variation margin requirements. This could require a Fund to post additional cash or cash equivalents as the value of the position fluctuates. Further, rather than meeting additional variation margin requirements, investors may close out futures contracts through offsetting transactions that could distort the normal relationship between the cash and futures markets. Second, there is the potential that the liquidity of the futures market may be lacking. Prior to expiration, a futures contract may be terminated only by entering into a closing purchase or sale transaction, which requires a secondary market on the contract market on which the futures contract was originally entered into. While a Fund will establish a futures position only if there appears to be a liquid secondary market therefore, there can be no assurance that such a market will exist for any particular futures contract at any specific time. In that event, it may not be possible to close out a position held for a Fund, which could require the Fund to purchase or sell the instrument underlying the futures contract, make or receive a cash settlement, or meet ongoing variation margin requirements. The inability to close out futures positions also could have an adverse impact on a Fund's ability to effectively hedge its portfolio.

The liquidity of a secondary market in a futures contract may be adversely affected by "daily price fluctuation limits" established by the exchanges, which limit the amount of fluctuation in the price of a futures contract during a single trading day and prohibit trading beyond such limits once they have been reached. The trading of futures contracts also is subject to the risk of trading halts, suspensions, exchange or clearing house equipment failures, government intervention, insolvency of the brokerage firm or clearing house or other disruptions of normal trading activity, which could at times make it difficult or impossible to liquidate existing positions or to recover excess variation margin payments.

Investments in futures contracts also entail the risk that if the Adviser's investment judgment about the general direction of interest rates is incorrect, a Fund's overall performance may be poorer than if the Fund had not entered into any such contract. For example, if a Fund has been hedged against the possibility of an increase in interest rates which would adversely affect the price of bonds held in the Fund's portfolio and interest rates decrease instead, the Fund will lose part or all of the benefit of the increased value of its bonds which are hedged because there will be offsetting losses in the Fund's futures positions. In addition, in such situations, if a Fund has insufficient cash, bonds may have to be sold from the Fund's portfolio to meet daily variation margin requirements, possibly at a time when it may be disadvantageous to do so. Such sale of bonds may be, but will not necessarily be, at increased prices that reflect the rising market.

Each contract market on which futures contracts are traded has established a number of limitations governing the maximum number of positions that may be held by a trader, whether acting alone or in concert with others.

The Funds have claimed an exclusion from the definition of the term "commodity pool operator" under the Commodity Exchange Act ("CEA") and, therefore, are not subject to registration or regulation as a commodity pool operator under the CEA. The Adviser is not deemed to be a "commodity pool operator" with respect to its service as investment adviser to the Funds. However,

the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") has adopted certain rule amendments that significantly affect the exemptions available to the Funds, and may subject one or more Funds, as well as the Adviser, to regulation by the CFTC. These amendments are not yet effective and their scope of application is not yet certain. When these amendments become effective, one or more Funds may consider steps, such as substantial investment strategy changes, in order to continue to qualify for exemption from CFTC regulation, or may determine to operate subject to CFTC regulation. If a Fund changes its investment strategy to remain eligible for the exclusion, it may not be able to take advantage of investments or investment strategies that it currently may pursue. If a Fund operates subject to CFTC regulation, it may incur additional expenses.

When a futures contract is purchased, an amount of cash or cash equivalents will be deposited in a segregated account with a Fund's custodian bank so that the amount so segregated, plus the initial and variation margin held in the account of its broker, will at all times equal the value of the futures contract, thereby insuring that the use of such futures is unleveraged.

Hybrid Instruments

A hybrid instrument is a type of potentially high-risk derivative that combines a traditional stock, bond, or commodity with an option or forward contract. Generally, the principal amount, amount payable upon maturity or redemption, or interest rate of a hybrid is tied (positively or negatively) to the price of some commodity, currency or securities index or another interest rate or some other economic factor (each a "benchmark"). The interest rate or (unlike most fixed income securities) the principal amount payable at maturity of a hybrid security may be increased or decreased, depending on changes in the value of the benchmark. An example of a hybrid could be a bond issued by an oil company that pays a small base level of interest with additional interest that accrues in correlation to the extent to which oil prices exceed a certain predetermined level. Such a hybrid instrument would be a combination of a bond and a call option on oil.

Hybrids can be used as an efficient means of pursuing a variety of investment goals, including currency hedging, duration management, and increased total return. Hybrids may not bear interest or pay dividends. The value of a hybrid or its interest rate may be a multiple of a benchmark and, as a result, may be leveraged and move (up or down) more steeply and rapidly than the benchmark. These benchmarks may be sensitive to economic and political events, such as commodity shortages and currency devaluations, which cannot be readily foreseen by the purchaser of a hybrid. Under certain conditions, the redemption value of a hybrid could be zero. Thus, an investment in a hybrid may entail significant market risks that are not associated with a similar investment in a traditional, U.S. dollar-denominated bond that has a fixed principal amount and pays a fixed rate or floating rate of interest. The purchase of hybrids also exposes the Funds to the credit risk of the issuer of the hybrids. These risks may cause significant fluctuations in the net asset value of the Funds.

Certain hybrid instruments may provide exposure to the commodities markets. These are derivative securities with one or more commodity-linked components that have payment features similar to commodity futures contracts, commodity options, or similar instruments. Commodity-linked hybrid instruments may be either equity or debt securities, leveraged or unleveraged, and are considered hybrid instruments because they have both security and commodity-like characteristics. A portion of the value of these instruments may be derived from the value of a commodity, futures contract, index or other economic variable. The Funds will only invest in commodity-linked hybrid instruments that qualify under applicable rules of the CFTC for an exemption from the provisions of the CEA.

Certain issuers of structured products such as hybrid instruments may be deemed to be investment companies as defined in the 1940 Act. As a result, the Funds' investments in these products may be subject to limits applicable to investments in investment companies and may be subject to restrictions contained in the 1940 Act.

Options, Futures And Related Risks

The Funds may invest in options and futures contracts to the extent set forth in the Prospectuses and this SAI. The use of options and futures is a highly specialized activity which involves investment strategies and risks different from those associated with ordinary portfolio securities transactions, and there can be no guarantee that their use will increase the return of a Fund. While the use of these instruments by a Fund may reduce certain risks associated with owning its portfolio securities, these techniques themselves entail certain other risks. If the Adviser applies a strategy at an inappropriate time or judges market conditions or trends incorrectly, options and futures strategies may lower a Fund's return. Certain strategies limit the potential of a Fund to realize gains as well as limit their exposure to losses. A Fund could also experience losses if the prices of its options and futures positions were poorly correlated with its other investments. There can be no assurance that a liquid market will exist at a time when a Fund seeks to close out a futures contract or a futures option position.

Options on Securities. A "call option" is a contract sold for a price (the "premium") giving its holder the right to buy a specific number of shares of stock at a specific price prior to a specified date. A "covered call option" is a call option issued on securities already owned by the writer of the call option for delivery to the holder upon the exercise of the option. A Fund may write options for the purpose of attempting to increase its return and for hedging purposes. In particular, if a Fund writes an option which expires unexercised or is closed out by a Fund at a profit, the Fund retains the premium paid for the option less related transaction costs, which increases its gross income and offsets in part the reduced value of the portfolio security in connection with which the option is written, or the increased cost of portfolio securities to be acquired. In contrast, however, if the price of the security underlying the option moves adversely to a Fund's position, the option may be exercised and the Fund will then be required to purchase or sell the security at a disadvantageous price, which might only partially be offset by the amount of the premium.

A Fund may write options in connection with buy-and-write transactions; that is, a Fund may purchase a security and then write a call option against that security. The exercise price of the call option a Fund determines to write depends upon the expected price movement of the underlying security. The exercise price of a call option may be below ("in-the-money"), equal to ("at-the-money") or above ("out-of-the-money") the current value of the underlying security at the time the option is written.

The writing of covered put options is similar in terms of risk/return characteristics to buy-and-write transactions. Put options may be used by a Fund in the same market environments in which call options are used in equivalent buy-and-write transactions.

A Fund may also write combinations of put and call options on the same security, a practice known as a "straddle." By writing a straddle, a Fund undertakes a simultaneous obligation to sell or purchase the same security in the event that one of the options is exercised. If the price of the security subsequently rises sufficiently above the exercise price to cover the amount of the premium and transaction costs, the call will likely be exercised and a Fund will be required to sell the underlying security at a below market price. This loss may be offset, however, in whole or in part, by the premiums received on the writing of the two options. Conversely, if the price of the security declines by a sufficient amount, the put will likely be exercised. The writing of straddles will likely be effective, therefore, only where the price of a security remains stable and neither the call nor the put is exercised. In an instance where one of the options is exercised, the loss on the purchase or sale of the underlying security may exceed the amount of the premiums received.

By writing a call option on a portfolio security, a Fund limits its opportunity to profit from any increase in the market value of the underlying security above the exercise price of the option. By writing a put option, a Fund assumes the risk that it may be required to purchase the underlying security for an exercise price above its then current market value, resulting in a loss unless the security subsequently appreciates in value. The writing of options will not be undertaken by a Fund

solely for hedging purposes, and may involve certain risks that are not present in the case of hedging transactions. Moreover, even where options are written for hedging purposes, such transactions will constitute only a partial hedge against declines in the value of portfolio securities or against increases in the value of securities to be acquired, up to the amount of the premium.

A Fund may also purchase put and call options. Put options are purchased to hedge against a decline in the value of securities held in a Fund's portfolio. If such a decline occurs, the put options will permit a Fund to sell the securities underlying such options at the exercise price, or to close out the options at a profit. A Fund will purchase call options to hedge against an increase in the price of securities that the Fund anticipates purchasing in the future. If such an increase occurs, the call option will permit a Fund to purchase the securities underlying such option at the exercise price or to close out the option at a profit. The premium paid for a call or put option plus any transaction costs will reduce the benefit, if any, realized by a Fund upon exercise of the option, and, unless the price of the underlying security rises or declines sufficiently, the option may expire worthless to the Fund. In addition, in the event that the price of the security in connection with which an option was purchased moves in a direction favorable to a Fund, the benefits realized by the Fund as a result of such favorable movement will be reduced by the amount of the premium paid for the option and related transaction costs.

Options on Securities Indices. A Fund may cover call options on securities indices by owning securities whose price changes, in the opinion of the Adviser, are expected to be similar to those of the underlying index, or by having an absolute and immediate right to acquire such securities without additional cash consideration (or for additional cash consideration held in a segregated account by its custodian) upon conversion or exchange of other securities in its portfolio. Where a Fund covers a call option on a securities index through ownership of securities, such securities may not match the composition of the index and, in that event, the Fund will not be fully covered and could be subject to risk of loss in the event of adverse changes in the value of the index.

A Fund will receive a premium from writing a put or call option on a securities index, which increases the Fund's gross income in the event the option expires unexercised or is closed out at a profit. If the value of an index on which a Fund has written a call option falls or remains the same, the Fund will realize a profit in the form of the premium received (less transaction costs) that could offset all or a portion of any decline in the value of the securities it owns. If the value of the index rises, however, a Fund will realize a loss in its call option position, which will reduce the benefit of any unrealized appreciation in the Fund's investment. By writing a put option, a Fund assumes the risk of a decline in the index. To the extent that the price changes of securities owned by a Fund correlate with changes in the value of the index, writing covered put options on indices will increase the Fund's losses in the event of a market decline, although such losses will be offset in part by the premium received for writing the option.

A Fund may also purchase put options on securities indices to hedge its investments against a decline in value. By purchasing a put option on a stock index, a Fund will seek to offset a decline in the value of securities it owns through appreciation of the put option. If the value of a Fund's investments does not decline as anticipated, or if the value of the option does not increase, the Fund's loss will be limited to the premium paid for the option plus related transaction costs. The success of this strategy will largely depend on the accuracy of the correlation between the changes in value of the index and the changes in value of a Fund's security holdings.

The purchase of call options on securities indices may be used by a Fund to attempt to reduce the risk of missing a broad market advance, or an advance in an industry or market segment, at a time when the Fund holds uninvested cash or short-term debt securities awaiting investment. When purchasing call options for this purpose, a Fund will also bear the risk of losing all or a portion of the premium paid if the value of the index does not rise. The purchase of call options on securities indices when a Fund is substantially fully invested is a form of leverage, up to the amount of the premium and related transaction costs, and involves risks of loss and of increased volatility similar to those

involved in purchasing calls on securities the Fund owns.

Risk Factors:

Imperfect Correlation of Hedging Instruments with a Fund's Portfolio. The ability of a Fund to effectively hedge all or a portion of its portfolio through transactions in options, futures contracts, and forward contracts will depend on the degree to which price movements in the underlying instruments correlate with price movements in the relevant portion of that Fund's portfolio. If the values of portfolio securities being hedged do not move in the same amount or direction as the instruments underlying options, futures contracts or forward contracts traded, a Fund's hedging strategy may not be successful and the Fund could sustain losses on its hedging strategy that would not be offset by gains on its portfolio. It is also possible that there may be a negative correlation between the instrument underlying an option, future contract or forward contract traded and the portfolio securities being hedged, which could result in losses both on the hedging transaction and on the portfolio securities. In such instances, a Fund's overall return could be less than if the hedging transaction had not been undertaken. In the case of futures and options based on an index of securities or individual fixed income securities, the portfolio will not duplicate the components of the index, and in the case of futures contracts and options on fixed income securities, the portfolio securities that are being hedged may not be the same type of obligation underlying such contracts. As a result, the correlation probably will not be exact. Consequently, a Fund bears the risk that the price of the portfolio securities being hedged will not move in the same amount or direction as the underlying index or obligation. In addition, where a Fund enters into forward contracts as a "cross hedge" (i.e., the purchase or sale of a forward contract on one currency to hedge against risk of loss arising from changes in value of a second currency), the Fund incurs the risk of imperfect correlation between changes in the values of the two currencies, which could result in losses.

The correlation between prices of securities and prices of options, futures contracts or forward contracts may be distorted due to differences in the nature of the markets, such as differences in margin requirements, the liquidity of such markets and the participation of speculators in the option, futures contract and forward contract markets. Due to the possibility of distortion, a correct forecast of general interest rate trends by the Adviser may still not result in a successful transaction. The trading of options on futures contracts also entails the risk that changes in the value of the underlying futures contract will not be fully reflected in the value of the option. The risk of imperfect correlation, however, generally tends to diminish as the maturity or termination date of the option, futures contract approaches.

The trading of options, futures contracts and forward contracts also entails the risk that, if the Adviser's judgment as to the general direction of interest or exchange rates is incorrect, a Fund's overall performance may be poorer than if it had not entered into any such contract. For example, if a Fund has hedged against the possibility of an increase in interest rates, and rates instead decline, the Fund will lose part or all of the benefit of the increased value of the securities being hedged, and may be required to meet ongoing daily variation margin payments.

Certain Funds may each purchase and write options not only for hedging purposes, cash management, or to simulate investments in otherwise permissible securities, but also for the purpose of attempting to increase its return. As a result, those Funds will incur the risk that losses on such transactions will not be offset by corresponding increases in the value of portfolio securities or decreases in the cost of securities to be acquired.

Potential Lack of a Liquid Secondary Market. Prior to exercise or expiration, a position in an exchange-traded option, futures contract or option on a futures contract can only be terminated by entering into a closing purchase or sale transaction, which requires a secondary market for such instruments on the exchange on which the initial transaction was entered into. If no such market exists, it may not be possible to close out a position, and a Fund could be required to purchase or sell the underlying instrument or meet ongoing variation margin requirements. The inability to close out option or futures positions also could have an adverse effect on a Fund's ability effectively to hedge

its portfolio.

The liquidity of a secondary market in an option or futures contract may be adversely affected by "daily price fluctuation limits," established by the exchanges, which limit the amount of fluctuation in the price of a contract during a single trading day and prohibit trading beyond such limits once they have been reached. Such limits could prevent a Fund from liquidating open positions, which could render its hedging strategy unsuccessful and result in trading losses. The exchanges on which options and futures contracts are traded have also established a number of limitations governing the maximum number of positions which may be traded by a trader, whether acting alone or in concert with others. Further, the purchase and sale of exchange-traded options and futures contracts is subject to the risk of trading halts, suspensions, exchange or clearing corporation equipment failures, government intervention, insolvency of a brokerage firm, intervening broker or clearing corporation or other disruptions of normal trading activity, which could make it difficult or impossible to liquidate existing positions or to recover excess variation margin payments.

Options on Futures Contracts. In order to profit from the purchase of an option on a futures contract, it may be necessary to exercise the option and liquidate the underlying futures contract, subject to all of the risks of futures trading. The writer of an option on a futures contract is subject to the risks of futures trading, including the requirement of initial and variation margin deposits.

Additional Risks of Transactions Related to Foreign Currencies and Transactions Not Conducted on the United States Exchanges. The available information on which a Fund will make trading decisions concerning transactions related to foreign currencies or foreign securities may not be as complete as the comparable data on which a Fund makes investment and trading decisions in connection with other transactions. Moreover, because the foreign currency market is a global, 24-hour market, and the markets for foreign securities as well as markets in foreign countries may be operating during non-business hours in the United States, events could occur in such markets which would not be reflected until the following day, thereby rendering it more difficult for a Fund to respond in a timely manner.

In addition, over-the-counter transactions can only be entered into with a financial institution willing to take the opposite side, as principal, of a Fund's position, unless the institution acts as broker and is able to find another counterparty willing to enter into the transaction with the Fund. This could make it difficult or impossible to enter into a desired transaction or liquidate open positions, and could therefore result in trading losses. Further, over-the-counter transactions are not subject to the performance guarantee of an exchange clearing house and a Fund will therefore be subject to the risk of default by, or the bankruptcy of, a financial institution or other counterparty.

Transactions on exchanges located in foreign countries may not be conducted in the same manner as those entered into on United States exchanges, and may be subject to different margin, exercise, settlement or expiration procedures. As a result, many of the risks of over-the-counter trading may be present in connection with such transactions. Moreover, the SEC or the CFTC has jurisdiction over the trading in the United States of many types of over-the-counter and foreign instruments, and such agencies could adopt regulations or interpretations that would make it difficult or impossible for a Fund to enter into the trading strategies identified herein or to liquidate existing positions.

As a result of its investments in foreign securities, a Fund may receive interest or dividend payments, or the proceeds of the sale or redemption of such securities, in foreign currencies. A Fund may also be required to receive delivery of the foreign currencies underlying options on foreign currencies or forward contracts it has entered into. This could occur, for example, if an option written by a Fund is exercised or the Fund is unable to close out a forward contract it has entered into. In addition, a Fund may elect to take delivery of such currencies. Under such circumstances, a Fund may promptly convert the foreign currencies into dollars at the then current exchange rate. Alternatively, a Fund may hold such currencies for an indefinite period of time if the Adviser believes that the exchange rate at the time of delivery is unfavorable or if, for any other reason, the Adviser anticipates favorable movements in such rates.

While the holding of currencies will permit a Fund to take advantage of favorable movements in the applicable exchange rate, it also exposes a Fund to risk of loss if such rates move in a direction adverse to a Fund's position. Such losses could also adversely affect a Fund's hedging strategies. Certain tax requirements may limit the extent to which a Fund will be able to hold currencies.

Participation Notes And Participatory Notes

The Funds may invest in participation notes or participatory notes ("P-notes"). P-notes are participation interest notes that are issued by banks or broker-dealers and are designed to offer a return linked to a particular underlying equity, debt, currency or market. If the P-note were held to maturity, the issuer would pay to, or receive from, the purchaser the difference between the nominal value of the underlying instrument at the time of purchase and that instrument's value at maturity. The holder of a P-note that is linked to a particular underlying security or instrument may be entitled to receive any dividends paid in connection with that underlying security or instrument, but typically does not receive voting rights as it would if it directly owned the underlying security or instrument. P-notes involve transaction costs. Investments in P-notes involve the same risks associated with a direct investment in the underlying securities, instruments or markets that they seek to replicate. In addition, there can be no assurance that there will be a trading market for a P-note or that the trading price of a P-note will equal the underlying value of the security, instrument or market that it seeks to replicate. Due to liquidity and transfer restrictions, the secondary markets on which a P-note is traded may be less liquid than the market for other securities, or may be completely illiquid, which may also affect the ability of a fund to accurately value a P-note. P-notes typically constitute general unsecured contractual obligations of the banks or broker-dealers that issue them, which subjects a Fund that holds them to counterparty risk (and this risk may be amplified if a Fund purchases P-notes from only a small number of issuers).

Swaps, Caps, Floors And Collars

The Funds may enter into swap contracts and other similar instruments in accordance with their investment objectives and policies. A swap is an agreement to exchange the return generated by one instrument for the return generated by another instrument. The payment streams are calculated by reference to a specified index and agreed upon notional amount. The term specified index includes currencies, fixed interest rates, prices and total return on interest rate indices, fixed income indices, stock indices and commodity indices (as well as amounts derived from arithmetic operations on these indices). For example, a Fund may agree to swap the return generated by a fixed income index for the return generated by a second fixed income index. The currency swaps in which a Fund may enter will generally involve an agreement to pay interest streams calculated by reference to interest income linked to a specified index in one currency in exchange for a specified index in another currency. Such swaps may involve initial and final exchanges that correspond to the agreed upon notional amount.

The swaps in which a Fund may engage also include rate caps, floors and collars under which one party pays a single or periodic fixed amount(s) (or premium) and the other party pays periodic amounts based on the movement of a specified index.

The Funds will usually enter into swaps on a net basis, i.e., the two return streams are netted out in a cash settlement on the payment date or dates specified in the instrument, with a Fund receiving or paying, as the case may be, only the net amount of the two returns. A Fund's obligations under a swap agreement will be accrued daily (offset against any amounts owing to the Fund) and any accrued but unpaid net amounts owed to a swap counterparty will be covered by the maintenance of a segregated account consisting of cash, U.S. Government securities, or other liquid securities.

Interest rate swaps do not involve the delivery of securities, other underlying assets or principal. Accordingly, the risk of loss with respect to interest rate swaps is limited to the net amount of interest payments that a Fund is contractually obligated to make. If the other party to an interest rate swap

defaults, a Fund's risk of loss consists of the net amount of interest payments that the Fund is contractually entitled to receive. In contrast, currency swaps usually involve the delivery of the entire principal value of one designated currency in exchange for the other designated currency. Therefore, the entire principal value of a currency swap is subject to the risk that the other party to the swap will default on its contractual delivery obligations. If there is a default by the counterparty, a Fund may have contractual remedies pursuant to the agreements related to the transaction. The swap market has grown substantially in recent years with a large number of banks and investment banking firms acting both as principals and as agents utilizing standardized swap documentation. As a result, the swap market has become relatively liquid. Caps, floors and collars are more recent innovations for which standardized documentation has not yet been fully developed and, accordingly, they are less liquid than swaps.

The use of swaps is a highly specialized activity that involves investment techniques and risks different from those associated with ordinary portfolio securities transactions. If the Adviser was incorrect in its forecasts of market values, interest rates and currency exchange rates, the investment performance of a Fund would be less favorable than it would have been if this investment technique were not used.

EMERGING MARKETS

The Funds may invest in emerging markets to the extent set forth in their Prospectuses, and these investments present greater risk than investing in foreign issuers in general.

A number of emerging markets restrict foreign investment in stocks. Repatriation of investment income, capital, and the proceeds of sales by foreign investors may require governmental registration and/or approval in some emerging market countries. A number of the currencies of developing countries have experienced significant declines against the U.S. dollar in the past, and devaluation may occur subsequent to investments in these currencies by a Fund. Inflation and rapid fluctuations in inflation rates have had and may continue to have negative effects on the economies and securities markets of certain emerging market countries. Many of the emerging securities markets are relatively small, have low trading volumes, suffer periods of relative illiquidity, and are characterized by significant price volatility. There is the risk that a future economic or political crisis could lead to price controls, forced mergers of companies, expropriation or confiscatory taxation, seizure, nationalization, or creation of government monopolies, any of which could have a detrimental effect on a Fund's investments. Investing in many former communist socialist countries involves the additional risk that the government or other executive or legislative bodies may decide not to continue to support the economic reform programs and could follow radically different political and/or economic policies to the detriment of investors, including non-market oriented policies such as the support of certain industries at the expense of other sectors or a return to a completely centrally planned economy.

Additional risk factors include, but are not limited to, the following: varying custody, brokerage and settlement practices; difficulty in valuation and pricing; less public information about issuers of non-U.S. securities; less governmental regulation and supervision over the issuance and trading of securities; the unavailability of financial information regarding the non-U.S. issuer or the difficulty of interpreting financial information prepared under non-U.S. accounting standards; the imposition of withholding and other taxes; adverse political, social or diplomatic developments limitations on the movement of funds or other assets of an investor between different countries; difficulties in invoking the legal process outside the United States and enforcing contractual obligations; and the difficulty of assessing economic trends in non-U.S. countries. Investment in non-U.S. countries also involves higher brokerage and custodian expenses than does investment in U.S. securities traded on a U.S. securities exchange or market. The occurrence of adverse events affecting one particular emerging market country or region could have more widespread effect and adversely impact the global trading market for emerging market instruments. Many of the laws that govern private and foreign investment, securities transactions and other contractual relationships in certain emerging market countries, are relatively new and largely untested. As a result, an investor may be subject to a number of unusual risks, including inadequate investor protection, contradictory legislation, incomplete, unclear and changing laws, disregard of regulations on the part of other market participants, lack of established or effective avenues for legal redress, absence of standard practices and confidentiality customs characteristic of more developed markets and lack of consistent enforcement of existing regulations. Furthermore, it may be difficult to obtain and/or enforce a judgment in certain countries in which assets of an investor are invested. There can be no assurance that this

difficulty in protecting and enforcing rights will not have a material adverse effect on an investor (such as a Fund) and its investments.

The term "emerging markets" includes any country: (i) having an "emerging stock market" as defined by the International Finance Corporation; (ii) with low- to middle-income economies according to the World Bank; (iii) listed in World Bank publications as developing; or (iv) determined by the Adviser to be an emerging market as described above. Currently, these countries generally include every country in the world except Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States.

Company Debt. Governments of many emerging market countries have exercised and continue to exercise substantial influence over many aspects of the private sector through the ownership or control of many companies, including some of the largest in any given country. As a result, government actions in the future could have a significant effect on economic conditions in emerging markets, which in turn, may adversely affect companies in the private sector, general market conditions and prices and yields of certain of the securities held by a Fund. Expropriation, confiscatory taxation, nationalization, political, economic or social instability or other similar developments have occurred frequently over the history of certain emerging markets and could adversely affect the Funds' assets should these conditions recur.

Sovereign Debt. Investment in sovereign debt can involve a high degree of risk. The issuers of the sovereign debt securities in which the Funds may invest have in the past experienced substantial difficulties in servicing their external debt obligations, which have led to defaults on certain obligations and the restructuring of certain indebtedness. The governmental entity that controls the repayment of sovereign debt may not be able or willing to repay the principal and/or interest when due in accordance with the terms of such debt. A governmental entity's willingness or ability to repay principal and interest due in a timely manner may be affected by, among other factors, its cash flow situation, the extent of its foreign reserves, the availability of sufficient foreign exchange on the date a payment is due, the relative size of the debt service burden to the economy as a whole, the governmental entity's policy towards the International Monetary Fund and the political constraints to which a governmental entity may be subject. Governmental entities may also be dependent on expected disbursements from foreign governments, multilateral agencies and others abroad to reduce principal and interest averages on their debt. The commitment on the part of these governments, agencies and others to make such disbursements may be conditioned on a governmental entity's implementation of economic reforms and/or economic performance and the timely service of such debtor's obligations. Failure to implement such reforms, achieve such levels of economic performance or repay principal or interest when due may result in the cancellation of such third parties' commitments to lend funds to the governmental entity, which may further impair such debtor's ability or willingness to service its debts in a timely manner. Consequently, governmental entities may default on their sovereign debt. Holders of sovereign debt (including a Fund) may be requested to participate in the rescheduling of such debt and to extend further loans to governmental entities. There is no bankruptcy proceeding by which sovereign debt on which governmental entities have defaulted may be collected in whole or in part.

Emerging market governmental issuers are among the largest debtors to commercial banks, foreign governments, international financial organizations and other financial institutions. Certain emerging market governmental issuers have not been able to make payments of interest on or principal of debt obligations as those payments have come due. Obligations arising from past restructuring agreements may affect the economic performance and political and social stability of those issuers.

The ability of emerging market governmental issuers to make timely payments on their obligations is likely to be influenced strongly by the issuer's balance of payments, including export performance, and its access to international credits and investments. An emerging market whose exports are concentrated in a few commodities could be vulnerable to a decline in the international prices of one or more of those commodities. Increased protectionism on the part of an emerging market's trading partners could also adversely affect the country's exports and tarnish its trade account surplus, if any. To the extent that emerging markets receive payment for their exports in currencies other than U.S. dollars or non-emerging market currencies, their ability to make debt payments denominated in U.S. dollars or non-emerging market currencies.

To the extent that an emerging market country cannot generate a trade surplus, it must depend on continuing loans from foreign governments, multilateral organizations or private commercial banks, aid payments from foreign governments and on inflows of foreign investment. The access of emerging markets to these forms of external funding may not be certain, and a withdrawal of external funding could adversely affect the capacity of emerging market country governmental issuers to make payments on their obligations. In addition, the cost of servicing emerging market debt obligations can be affected by a change in international interest rates since the majority of these obligations carry interest rates that are adjusted periodically based upon international rates.

Another factor bearing on the ability of emerging market countries to repay debt obligations is the level of international reserves of the country. Fluctuations in the level of these reserves affect the amount of foreign exchange readily available for external debt payments and thus could have a bearing on the capacity of emerging market countries to make payments on these debt obligations.

Liquidity, Trading Volume, Regulatory Oversight. The securities markets of emerging market countries are substantially smaller, less developed, less liquid and more volatile than the major securities markets in the United States. The lack of liquidity could have an adverse effect on the value of a Fund's holdings, and on a Fund's ability to dispose of such holdings in response to a specific adverse economic event, such as the deterioration in credit worthiness of a particular debtor. Some of the stocks of countries that may be selected by the Adviser for purchase or sale by a Fund may have insufficient market liquidity to allow the relevant Fund to purchase such stocks in such amounts or at such prices as the Adviser may deem reasonable for investment under such strategy and/or there may not be a readily available means by which the Fund can gain exposure to such country's securities markets. Foreign investors in emerging markets may be limited in their ability to invest in certain industries. In addition, there is often a limit on total foreign holdings. To the extent that the ceiling has been reached in that industry, further investment by foreign investors may not be permitted. Accordingly, the ability of a Fund to invest in certain companies may be restricted, and there can be no assurance that additional restrictions on investments permissible for foreign investors will not be imposed in the future.

The limited size of many emerging market securities markets and limited trading volume in the securities of emerging market issuers compared to the volume of trading in the securities of U.S. issuers could cause prices to be erratic for reasons apart from factors that affect the soundness and competitiveness of the securities issuers. For example, limited market size may cause prices to be unduly influenced by traders who control large positions. Adverse publicity and investors' perceptions, whether or not based on in-depth fundamental analysis, may decrease the value and liquidity of portfolio securities.

Disclosure and regulatory standards in emerging markets are in many respects less stringent than U.S. standards. Issuers in lesser developed and emerging markets are subject to accounting, auditing and financial standards and requirements that differ, in some cases significantly, from those applicable to U.S. issuers. In particular, the assets and profits appearing on the financial statements of such an issuer may not reflect its financial position or results of operations in the way they would be reflected had such financial statements been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. There is substantially less publicly available information about such issuers than there is about U.S. issuers. In addition, such issuers are not subject to regulations similar to the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which imposes many restrictions and mandates on the activities of companies. There is less regulation and monitoring by regulators of lesser developed and emerging market securities markets and the activities of investors, brokers and other participants than in the United States. Moreover, issuers of securities in lesser developed and emerging markets are not subject to the same degree of regulation as are U.S. issuers with respect to such matters as insider trading rules, tender offer regulation, shareholder proxy requirements and the timely disclosure of information. There is also less publicly available information about lesser developed and emerging market companies.

Default, Legal Recourse. The Funds may have limited legal recourse in the event of a default with respect to certain debt obligations it may hold. If the issuer of a fixed income security owned by a Fund defaults, the Fund may incur additional expenses to seek recovery. Debt obligations issued by emerging market governments differ from debt obligations of private entities; remedies from defaults on debt obligations issued by emerging market governments, unlike those on private debt, must be pursued in the courts of the defaulting party itself. A Fund's ability to enforce its rights against private issuers may be limited. The ability to attach assets to enforce a judgment may be limited. Legal recourse is therefore somewhat diminished. Bankruptcy, moratorium and other similar laws applicable to private

issuers of debt obligations may be substantially different from those of other countries. Moreover, if a Fund obtains a judgment in a U.S. court, it may be difficult to enforce such judgment in the emerging market because the emerging market may not be a party to any international treaty with respect to the recognition or enforcement of foreign judgments. Provisions of emerging markets laws regulate the enforcement of foreign judgments and such laws may contain broad exceptions and involve long delays in obtaining a judgment. For example, an emerging markets court may not enforce any foreign judgment if it viewed the amount of damages awarded as excessive or inconsistent with practice in that country. A party seeking to enforce a foreign judgment in an emerging market may also be required to obtain approval from the central bank of that emerging market to execute such judgment or to repatriate any amount recovered outside of the emerging market. The political context, expressed as an emerging market governmental issuer's willingness to meet the terms of the debt obligation, for example, is of considerable importance. In addition, no assurance can be given that the holders of commercial bank debt may not contest payments to the holders of debt obligations in the event of default under commercial bank loan agreements.

Certain Risks of Holding Assets Outside the United States. A Fund generally holds its non-U.S. securities and cash in foreign banks and securities depositories. Some foreign banks and securities depositories may be recently organized or new to the foreign custody business, and therefore expose a Fund to additional risk. In addition, there may be limited or no regulatory oversight of their operations. Also, the laws of certain countries limit a Fund's ability to recover its assets if a foreign bank, depository or issuer of a security, or any of their agents, goes bankrupt. In addition, it is often more expensive for a Fund to buy, sell and hold securities in certain foreign markets than in the United States. The increased expense of investing in foreign markets reduces the amount a Fund can earn on its investments and typically results in higher operating expenses for the Fund as compared to funds that invest only in the United States.

Settlement Risk. Settlement and clearance procedures in certain foreign markets differ significantly from those in the United States. Foreign settlement and clearance procedures and trade regulations also may involve certain risks (such as delays in payment for or delivery of securities) not typically associated with the settlement of U.S. investments. At times, settlements in certain foreign countries have not kept pace with the number of securities transactions. These problems may make it difficult for a Fund to carry out transactions. If a Fund cannot settle or is delayed in settling a purchase of securities, it may miss attractive investment opportunities and certain of its assets may be uninvested with no return earned thereon for some period. If a Fund cannot settle or is delayed in settling a sale of securities, it may lose money if the value of the security then declines or, if it has contracted to sell the security to another party, the Fund could be liable for any losses incurred.

Inflation. Many emerging markets have experienced substantial, and in some periods extremely high, rates of inflation for many years. Inflation and rapid fluctuations in inflation rates have had and may continue to have adverse effects on the economies and securities markets of certain emerging market countries. In an attempt to control inflation, wage and price controls have been imposed in certain countries. Of these countries, some, in recent years, have begun to control inflation through prudent economic policies.

Withholding. Income from securities held by a Fund could be reduced by a withholding tax on the source or other taxes imposed by the emerging market countries in which the Fund makes its investments. A Fund's net asset value ("NAV") may also be affected by changes in the rates or methods of taxation applicable to the Fund or to entities in which the Fund has invested.

Foreign Currencies. A Fund's investments in emerging markets securities involve risks relating to currency exchange matters, including fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and the foreign currencies in which the Fund's portfolio securities are denominated, and costs associated with conversion of investment principal and income from one currency into another. Some emerging market countries also may have managed currencies, which are not free floating against the U.S. dollar. In addition, there is risk that certain emerging market countries may restrict the free conversion of their currencies into other currencies. Further, certain emerging market currencies may not be internationally traded. Certain of these currencies have experienced a steep devaluation relative to the U.S. dollar. Any devaluations in the currencies in which a Fund's portfolio securities are denominated may have a detrimental impact on the Fund's NAV.

EQUITY SECURITIES

The Emerging Markets Equity Fund and Frontier Markets Fund may invest in equity securities including common stock, preferred stock, warrants or rights to subscribe to common stock and, in general, any security that is convertible into or exchangeable for common stock. Investments in equity securities in general are subject to market risks that may cause their prices to fluctuate over time. Rights represent a privilege granted to existing shareholders of a corporation to subscribe to shares of a new issue of common stock before it is offered to the public. The value of convertible equity securities is also affected by prevailing interest rates, the credit quality of the issuer and any call provisions. Fluctuations in the value of equity securities in which a Fund invests will cause the NAV of that Fund to fluctuate.

Investments in small companies involve greater risk than is customarily associated with larger, more established companies due to the greater business risks of small size, limited markets and financial resources, narrow product lines and the frequent lack of depth of management. The securities of small companies are often traded over-the-counter, and may not be traded in volumes typical of securities traded on a national securities exchange. Consequently, the securities of small companies may have limited market stability and may be subject to more abrupt or erratic market movements than securities of larger, more established companies or the market averages in general.

Securities of companies considered to be growth investments may have rapid price swings in the event of earnings disappointments or during periods of market, political, regulatory and economic uncertainty. Securities of companies considered to be value investments can continue to be undervalued for long periods of time and not realize their expected value.

EURODOLLAR AND YANKEE BANK OBLIGATIONS

The Emerging Markets Debt Fund may invest in Eurodollar bank obligations and Yankee bank obligations. Eurodollar bank obligations are dollar-denominated certificates of deposit and time deposits issued outside the U.S. capital markets by foreign branches of U.S. banks and by foreign banks. Yankee bank obligations are dollar-denominated obligations issued in the U.S. capital markets by foreign banks. Eurodollar and Yankee obligations are subject to the same risks that pertain to domestic issues, notably credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. Additionally, Eurodollar (and to a limited extent Yankee bank) obligations are subject to certain sovereign risks. One such risk is the possibility that a sovereign country might prevent capital, in the form of dollars, from freely flowing across its borders. Other risks include: adverse political and economic developments, the extent and quality of government regulation of financial markets and institutions, the imposition of foreign withholding taxes, and the expropriation or nationalization of foreign issuers.

EXCHANGE TRADED FUNDS

ETFs are investment companies that are bought and sold on a securities exchange. An ETF generally represents a fixed portfolio of securities designed to track a particular market segment or index. A Fund could purchase an ETF to temporarily gain exposure to a portion of the U.S. or a foreign market while awaiting an opportunity to purchase securities directly. The risks of owning an ETF generally reflect the risks of owning the underlying securities they are designed to track, although lack of liquidity in an ETF could result in it being more volatile than the underlying portfolio of securities and ETFs have management fees that increase their costs versus the costs of owning the underlying securities directly. See also "Investment Company Securities" below.

EXCHANGE TRADED NOTES

The Emerging Markets Debt Fund may invest in exchange traded notes ("ETNs"), which are a type of unsecured, unsubordinated debt security that have characteristics and risks similar to those of fixed income securities and trade on a major exchange similar to shares of ETFs. However, this type of debt security differs from other types of bonds and notes because ETN returns are based upon the performance of a market index minus applicable fees, no period coupon payments are distributed, and no principal protections exists. The purpose of ETNs is to create a type of security that combines aspects of both bonds and ETFs. The value of an ETN may be influenced by time to maturity, level of supply and demand for the ETN, volatility and lack of liquidity in underlying commodities or securities markets, changes in the applicable interest rates, changes in the issuer's credit rating and economic, legal, political or geographic events that affect the referenced commodity or security. An investor's decision to sell its ETN holdings

may also be limited by the availability of a secondary market. If an investor must sell some or all of its ETN holdings and the secondary market is weak, it may have to sell such holdings at a discount. If an investor holds its investment in an ETN until maturity, the issuer will give the investor a cash amount that would be equal to principal amount (subject to the day's index factor). ETNs are also subject to counterparty credit risk and fixed income risk.

FINANCIAL SERVICES

The Fund will, under normal market conditions, invest more than 25% of its total assets in the financial services group of industries. To the extent the Fund's investments are concentrated in the financial services group of industries, the Fund will have correspondingly greater exposure to the risk factors that are characteristic of such investments. In particular, investments in the financial services group of industries may be particularly affected by economic cycles, interest rate changes, and business developments and regulatory changes applicable to the financial services group of industries. For example, declining economic and business conditions can disproportionately impact companies in the financial services group of industries by borrowers. Interest rate increases can also adversely affect the financial services group of industries by increasing the cost of capital available for financial services companies. In addition, financial services companies are heavily regulated and, as a result, political and regulatory changes can affect the operations and financial results of such companies, potentially imposing additional costs and possibly restricting the businesses in which those companies may engage.

FIXED INCOME SECURITIES

The Funds may invest in fixed income securities. To the extent a Fund invests in fixed income securities, the value of the Fund's investment may change as prevailing interest rates fluctuate. When interest rates decline, the value of fixed income securities can be expected to rise. Conversely, when interest rates rise, the value of fixed income securities can be expected to decline. A Fund's investments in fixed income securities with longer terms to maturity or greater duration are subject to greater volatility than shorter-term obligations.

For purposes of any minimum requirements set forth herein that are based upon an NRSRO's ratings categories, if no sub-categories or gradations are specified the requirement is determined without regard for sub-categories and gradations (i.e., all sub-categories and gradations within a particular category are acceptable). After purchase by a Fund, a security may cease to be rated or its rating may be reduced below the minimum required for purchase by the Fund. A security that has had its rating downgraded or revoked may be subject to greater risk to principal and income, and often involve greater volatility of price, than securities in the higher rating categories. Such securities are also subject to greater credit risks (including, without limitation, the possibility of default by or bankruptcy of the issuers of such securities in higher rating categories.

Investment in obligations of foreign issuers may present a greater degree of risk than investment in domestic securities because of less publicly available financial and other information, less securities regulation, potential imposition of foreign withholding and other taxes, war, expropriation or other adverse governmental actions. See "Foreign Securities" below.

Floating and Variable Rate Obligations. Certain fixed income securities that the Funds may purchase may have a floating or variable rate of interest. The interest payable on instruments with floating or variable rates of interest changes in accordance with specified market rates or indices, such as the prime rates, and at specified intervals. Certain floating or variable rate obligations that may be purchased by a Fund may carry a demand feature that would permit the holder to tender them back to the issuer of the underlying instrument, or to a third party, at par value prior to maturity. The demand features of certain floating or variable rate obligations may permit the holder to tender the obligations to foreign banks, in which case the ability to receive payment under the demand feature will be subject to certain risks, as described under "Foreign Securities," below.

Variable or floating rate demand notes may be issued by corporations, bank holding companies and financial institutions and similar taxable and tax-exempt instruments issued by government agencies and instrumentalities. These securities will typically have a maturity over one year but carry with them the right of the holder to put the securities to a remarketing agent or other entity at designated time intervals and on specified notice. The obligation of the issuer of the put to repurchase the securities may be backed by a letter of credit or other obligation issued by a financial institution. The purchase price is ordinarily par plus accrued and unpaid interest. Generally, the remarketing

agent will adjust the interest rate every seven days (or-at other specified intervals) in order to maintain the interest rate at the prevailing rate for securities with a seven-day or other designated maturity.

The Funds may also buy variable rate master demand notes. The terms of the obligations permit a Fund to invest fluctuating amounts at varying rates of interest pursuant to direct arrangements between the Fund, as lender, and the borrower. These instruments permit weekly and, in some instances, daily changes in the amounts borrowed. A Fund has the right to increase the amount under the note at any time up to the full amount provided by the note agreement, or to decrease the amount and the borrower may repay up to the full amount of the note without penalty. The notes may or may not be backed by bank letters of credit. Because the notes are direct lending arrangements between a Fund and the borrower, it is not generally contemplated that they will be traded, and there is no secondary market for them, although they are redeemable (and, thus, immediately repayable by the borrower) at principal amount, plus accrued interest, at any time. In connection with any such purchase and on an ongoing basis, the Adviser will consider the earning power, cash flow and other liquidity ratios of the issuer, and its ability to pay principal and interest on demand, including a situation in which all holders of such notes make demand simultaneously. While master demand notes, as such, are not typically rated by credit rating agencies, a Fund may, under its minimum rating standards, invest in them only if, at the time of an investment, the issuer meets the criteria for the relevant Fund's investment in money market instruments.

Investments in floating or variable rate securities may involve industrial development or revenue bonds which provide that the rate of interest is set as a specific percentage of a designated base rate, such as rates on U.S. Treasury bonds or bills or the prime rate at a major commercial bank, and that a bondholder can demand payment of the obligations on short notice at par plus accrued interest. While there is usually no established secondary market for issues of this type of security, the dealer that sells an issue of such securities frequently also offers to repurchase such securities at any time, at a repurchase price which varies and may be more or less than the amount the bondholder paid for them.

Because of the variable rate nature of the instruments, during periods when prevailing interest rates decline, a Fund's yield will decline and its shareholders will forgo the opportunity for capital appreciation. On the other hand, during periods when prevailing interest rates increase, a Fund's yield will increase and its shareholders will have reduced risk of capital depreciation. In certain cases, the interest rate index on which an instrument's yield is based may not rise and fall to the same extent or as quickly as the general market for municipal obligations. These instruments are considered derivatives and the value of such instruments may be more volatile than other floating rate municipal obligations.

The maturity of floating or variable rate obligations (including participation interests therein) is deemed to be the longer of (i) the notice period required before a Fund is entitled to receive payment of the obligation upon demand, or (ii) the period remaining until the obligation's next interest rate adjustment. If not redeemed for a Fund through the demand feature, an obligation matures on a specified date that may range up to 30 years from the date of issuance.

Inverse Floating Rate Obligations. The Funds may invest in inverse floating rate obligations ("inverse floaters"). Inverse floaters have coupon rates that vary inversely at a multiple of a designated floating rate, such as LIBOR (London Inter-Bank Offered Rate). Any rise in the reference rate of an inverse floater (as a consequence of an increase in interest rates) causes a drop in the coupon rate while any drop in the reference rate of an inverse floater causes an increase in the coupon rate. In addition, like most other fixed income securities, the value of inverse floaters will generally decrease as interest rates increase. Inverse floaters may exhibit substantially greater price volatility than fixed rate obligations having similar credit quality, redemption provisions and maturity, and inverse floater Collateralized Mortgage Obligations ("CMOs") exhibit greater price volatility than the majority of mortgage pass-through securities or CMOs. In addition, some inverse floater CMOs exhibit extreme sensitivity to changes in prepayments. As a result, the yield to maturity of an inverse floater CMO is sensitive not only to changes in interest rates, but also to changes in prepayment rates on the related underlying mortgage assets.

Zero Coupon Obligations. The Funds may invest in zero coupon obligations, which are fixed income securities that do not make regular interest payments. Instead, zero coupon obligations are sold at substantial discounts from their face value. A Fund will accrue income on these investments for tax and accounting purposes, which is distributable to shareholders and which, because no cash is received at the time of accrual, may require the liquidation of other portfolio securities to satisfy a Fund's distribution obligations, in which case the Fund will forego the purchase of additional income-producing assets with these funds. The difference between a zero coupon obligation's issue or

purchase price and its face value represents the imputed interest an investor will earn if the obligation is held until maturity. Zero coupon obligations may offer investors the opportunity to earn higher yields than those available on ordinary interest-paying obligations of similar credit quality and maturity. However, zero coupon obligation prices may also exhibit greater price volatility than ordinary fixed income securities because of the manner in which their principal and interest are returned to the investor.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE-RELATED SECURITIES

The Funds may invest in foreign currency exchange related securities.

Foreign Currency Warrants. Foreign currency warrants such as Currency Exchange Warrants (SM) ("CEWs"(SM)) are warrants which entitle the holder to receive from their issuer an amount of cash (generally, for warrants issued in the United States, in U.S. dollars) which is calculated pursuant to a predetermined formula and based on the exchange rate between a specified foreign currency and the U.S. dollar as of the exercise date of the warrant. Foreign currency warrants generally are exercisable upon their issuance and expire as of a specified date and time. Foreign currency warrants have been issued in connection with U.S. dollar-denominated debt offerings by major corporate issuers in an attempt to reduce the foreign currency exchange risk that, from the point of view of prospective purchasers of the securities, is inherent in the international fixed income marketplace. Foreign currency warrants may attempt to reduce the foreign exchange risk assumed by purchasers of a security by, for example, providing for a supplemental payment in the event that the U.S. dollar depreciates against the value of a major foreign currency such as the Japanese yen or the Euro. The formula used to determine the amount payable upon exercise of a foreign currency warrant may make the warrant worthless unless the applicable foreign currency exchange rate moves in a particular direction (e.g., unless the U.S. dollar appreciates or depreciates against the particular foreign currency to which the warrant is linked or indexed). Foreign currency warrants are severable from the debt obligations with which they may be offered and may be listed on exchanges. Foreign currency warrants may be exercisable only in certain minimum amounts, and an investor wishing to exercise warrants who possesses less than the minimum number required for exercise may be required to either sell the warrants or to purchase additional warrants, thereby incurring additional transaction costs. In the case of any exercise of warrants, there may be a time delay between the time a holder of warrants gives instructions to exercise and the time the exchange rate relating to exercise is determined, during which time the exchange rate could change significantly, thereby affecting both the market and cash settlement values of the warrants being exercised. The expiration date of the warrants may be accelerated if the warrants should be delisted from an exchange or if their trading should be suspended permanently, which would result in the loss of any remaining "time value" of the warrants (i.e., the difference between the current market value and the exercise value of the warrants) and, in the case the warrants were "out-of-the-money," in a total loss of the purchase price of the warrants. Warrants are generally unaccrued obligations of their issuers and are not standardized foreign currency options issued by the Options Clearing Corporation (the "OCC"). Unlike foreign currency options issued by the OCC, the terms of foreign exchange warrants generally will not be amended in the event of governmental or regulatory actions affecting exchange rates or in the event of the imposition of other regulatory controls affecting the international currency markets. The initial public offering price of foreign currency warrants is generally considerably in excess of the price that a commercial user of foreign currencies might pay in the interbank market for a comparable option involving significantly larger amounts of foreign currencies. Foreign currency warrants are subject to complex political or economic factors.

Principal Exchange Rate Linked Securities. Principal exchange rate linked securities ("PERLs"(SM)) are debt obligations the principal on which is payable at maturity in an amount that may vary based on the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and a particular foreign currency at or about that time. The return on "standard" PERLs is enhanced if the foreign currency to which the security is linked appreciates against the U.S. dollar, and is adversely affected by increases in the foreign exchange value of the U.S. dollar; "reverse" PERLs are like the "standard" securities, except that their return is enhanced by increases in the value of the U.S. dollar and adversely impacted by increases in the value of foreign currency. Interest payments on the securities are generally made in U.S. dollars at rates that reflect the degree of foreign currency risk assumed or given up by the purchaser of the notes (i.e., at relatively higher interest rates if the purchaser has assumed some of the foreign exchange risk, based on the expectations of the current market). PERLs may in limited cases be subject to acceleration of maturity (generally, not without the consent of the holders of the securities), which may have an adverse impact on the value of the principal payment to be made at maturity.

Performance Indexed Paper. Performance indexed paper ("PIPs"(SM)) is U.S. dollar-denominated commercial paper the yield of which is linked to certain foreign exchange rate movements. The yield to the investor on PIPs is established at maturity as a function of the spot exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and a designated currency as of or about that time (generally, the index maturity two days prior to maturity). The yield to the investor will be within a range stipulated at the time of purchase of the obligation, generally with a guaranteed minimum rate of return that is below, and a potential maximum rate of return that is above, market yields on U.S. dollar-denominated commercial paper, with both the minimum and maximum rates of return on the investment corresponding to the minimum and maximum values of the spot exchange rate two business days prior to maturity.

FOREIGN SECURITIES

The Funds will invest in foreign securities. Investing in securities issued by companies whose principal business activities are outside the United States may involve significant risks not present in domestic investments. For example, there is generally less publicly available information about foreign companies, particularly those not subject to the disclosure and reporting requirements of the U.S. securities laws. Foreign issuers are generally not bound by uniform accounting, auditing, and financial reporting requirements and standards of practice comparable to those applicable to domestic issuers. Investments in foreign securities also involve the risk of possible adverse changes in investment or exchange control regulations, expropriation or confiscatory taxation, other taxes imposed by the foreign country on a Fund's earnings, assets, or transactions, limitation on the removal of cash or other assets of a Fund, political or financial instability, or diplomatic and other developments which could affect such investments. Further, economies of particular countries or areas of the world may differ favorably or unfavorably from the economy of the United States. Changes in foreign exchange rates will affect the value of securities denominated or quoted in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The currency in which a Fund's assets are denominated may be devalued against the U.S. dollar, resulting in a loss to the Fund. Foreign securities often trade with less frequency and volume than domestic securities and therefore may exhibit greater price volatility. Furthermore, dividends or interest on, or proceeds from the sale of, foreign securities may be subject to foreign withholding taxes, and special U.S. tax considerations may apply. Additional costs associated with an investment in foreign securities may include higher custodial fees than those that apply to domestic custodial arrangements, and transaction costs of foreign currency conversions. Legal remedies available to investors in certain foreign countries may be more limited than those available with respect to investments in the United States or in other foreign countries.

HIGH YIELD/HIGH RISK SECURITIES

The Funds may invest in high yield/high risk securities. Securities rated lower than Baa by Moody's, or lower than BBB by S&P are referred to as "non-investment grade," "high yield" or "junk" bonds. In general, the market for lower rated, high-yield bonds is more limited than the market for higher rated bonds, and because their markets may be thinner and less active, the market prices of lower rated, high-yield bonds may fluctuate more than the prices of higher rated bonds, particularly in times of market stress. In addition, while the market for high-yield, corporate debt securities has been in existence for many years, the market in recent years experienced a dramatic increase in the large-scale use of such securities to fund highly leveraged corporate acquisitions and restructurings. Accordingly, past experience may not provide an accurate indication of future performance of the high-yield bond market, especially during periods of economic recession. Other risks that may be associated with lower rated, high-yield bonds include their relative insensitivity to interest-rate changes; the exercise of any of their redemption or call provisions in a declining market which may result in their replacement by lower yielding bonds; and legislation, from time to time, which may adversely affect their market. A description of the ratings used herein and in the Prospectus is set forth in Appendix A to this SAI.

Investing in high yield securities involves special risks in addition to the risks associated with investments in higher rated debt securities. High yield securities may be regarded as predominately speculative with respect to the issuer's continuing ability to meet principal and interest payments. Analysis of the creditworthiness of issuers of high yield securities may be more complex than for issuers of higher quality debt securities, and the ability of the Funds to achieve their investment objective may, to the extent of its investments in high yield securities, be more dependent upon such creditworthiness analysis than would be the case if the Funds were investing in higher quality securities.

High yield securities may be more susceptible to real or perceived adverse economic and competitive industry conditions than higher grade securities. The prices of high yield securities have been found to be less sensitive to interest rate changes than more highly rated investments, but more sensitive to adverse economic downturns or individual corporate developments. A projection of an economic downturn or of a period of rising interest rates, for example, could cause a decline in high yield security prices because the advent of a recession could lessen the ability of a highly leveraged company to make principal and interest payments on its debt securities. If the issuer of high yield securities defaults, the Funds may incur additional expenses to seek recovery. In the case of high yield securities structured as zero coupon or payment-in-kind securities, the market prices of such securities are affected to a greater extent by interest rate changes and, therefore, tend to be more volatile than securities that pay interest periodically and in cash. The secondary markets on which high yield securities are traded may be less liquid than the market for higher grade securities. Less liquidity in the secondary trading markets could adversely affect and cause large fluctuations in the daily NAV of the Funds. Adverse publicity and investor perceptions, whether or not based on fundamental analysis, may decrease the values and liquidity of high yield securities, especially in a thinly traded market.

The use of credit ratings as the sole method of evaluating high yield securities can involve certain risks. For example, credit ratings evaluate the safety of principal and interest payments, not the market value risk of high yield securities. Also, credit rating agencies may fail to change credit ratings in a timely fashion to reflect events since the security was last rated.

ILLIQUID INVESTMENTS, RULE 144A SECURITIES, AND SECTION 4(2) SECURITIES

Each Fund may invest up to 15% of its net assets in securities that are illiquid by virtue of the absence of a readily available market, or because of legal or contractual restrictions on resale. This policy does not limit the acquisition of securities eligible for resale to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended ("1933 Act") or commercial paper issued pursuant to Section 4(2) under the 1933 Act that are determined to be liquid in accordance with guidelines established by the Trust's Board of Trustees. There may be delays in selling these securities and sales may be made at less favorable prices.

The Adviser may determine that a particular Rule 144A or Section 4(2) security is liquid and thus not subject to a Fund's limits on investment in illiquid securities, pursuant to guidelines adopted by the Board of Trustees. Factors that the Adviser must consider in determining whether a particular Rule 144A security is liquid include the frequency of trades and quotes for the security, the number of dealers willing to purchase or sell the security and the number of other potential purchasers, dealer undertakings to make a market in the security, and the nature of the security and the nature of the market for the security (i.e., the time needed to dispose of the security, the method of soliciting offers and the mechanics of transfer). Investing in Rule 144A securities could have the effect of increasing the level of a Fund's illiquidity to the extent that qualified institutions might become, for a time, uninterested in purchasing these securities.

INVESTMENT COMPANY SECURITIES

Investments in the securities of other investment companies may involve duplication of advisory fees and certain other expenses. By investing in another investment company, an investor becomes a shareholder of that investment company. As a result, a Fund's shareholders indirectly will bear the underlying fund's proportionate share of the fees and expenses paid by shareholders of the other investment company, in addition to the fees and expenses a Fund's shareholders directly bear in connection with a Fund's own operations.

Generally, under the 1940 Act and related rules, a Fund may purchase an unlimited amount of shares of an affiliated fund or a money market fund. A Fund may also purchase shares of an unaffiliated fund as long as: (1) the Fund doesn't invest more than 5% of its total assets in the securities of any one investment company (ETF or other mutual funds); (2) the Fund doesn't invest more than 3% of the outstanding voting stock of any one investment company; or (3) the Fund doesn't invest more than 10% of its total assets in the securities of other investment companies. A Fund may exceed the limits if (i) the unaffiliated fund or the Fund has received an order for exemptive relief from the 3% limitation from the SEC that is applicable to the Fund; and (ii) the unaffiliated fund and the Fund take appropriate steps to comply with any conditions in such order. In the alternative, a Fund may exceed the 5% limitation and the 10% limitation, provided the aggregate sales loads any investor pays (*i.e.*, the combined distribution expenses of both the acquiring fund and the acquired funds) does not exceed the limits on sales loads established by FINRA for funds of funds.

The Trust may, in the future, seek to achieve the investment objective of the Funds by investing all of their assets in an open-end management investment company having substantially the same investment objective, policies and restrictions as the Funds (i.e., under a master/feeder arrangement). In such event, the investment advisory contracts for the Funds would be terminated. Such change would be made only if the Trustees of the Trust believe that the aggregate per share expenses of a Fund and such other investment company will be less than or approximately equal to the expenses which the Fund would incur if the Trust was to continue to retain the services of an investment adviser for the Fund and the assets of the Funds were to continue to be invested directly in portfolio securities.

Investments in securities issued by other investment companies present the following risks:

Allocation Risk: The risk that the Adviser's target asset and sector allocations and changes in target asset and sector allocations cause a Fund to underperform other similar funds or cause you to lose money, and that a Fund may not achieve its target asset and sector allocations.

Underlying Fund Selection Risk: The risk that a Fund may invest in underlying funds that underperform other similar funds or the markets more generally, due to poor investment decisions by the investment adviser(s) for the underlying funds or otherwise.

MONEY MARKET SECURITIES

Each Fund's investments in money market instruments will consist of: (i) short-term obligations of the U.S. Government, its agencies and instrumentalities; (ii) other short-term debt securities rated A or higher by Moody's or S&P or, if unrated, of comparable quality in the opinion of the Adviser ; (iii) commercial paper, including master demand notes; (iv) bank obligations, including certificates of deposit, bankers' acceptances and time deposits; (v) repurchase agreements; and (vi) shares of money market funds, which may include the Prime Money Market Fund. Securities issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by the U.S. Government include a variety of Treasury securities, which differ in their interest rates, maturities and dates of issue. Securities issued or guaranteed by agencies or instrumentalities of the U.S. Government may or may not be supported by the full faith and credit of the United States or by the right of the issuer to borrow from the Treasury.

Considerations of liquidity and preservation of capital mean that a Fund may not necessarily invest in money market instruments paying the highest available yield at a particular time.

DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS (CDRS, EDRS, GDRS)

The Emerging Markets Equity Fund and Frontier Markets Fund may invest in depositary receipts. European Depositary Receipts ("EDRs"), which are sometimes referred to as Continental Depositary Receipts ("CDRs"), are receipts issued in Europe typically by non-United States banks and trust companies that evidence ownership of either foreign or domestic securities. Global Depositary Receipts ("GDRs") are issued globally and evidence a similar ownership arrangement. Generally, ADRs in registered form are designed for use in the United States securities markets and EDRs and CDRs in bearer form are designed for use in Europe and GDRs are designed for trading in non-U.S. securities markets. The Funds may invest in EDRs, CDRs and GDRs through "sponsored" or "unsponsored" facilities. A sponsored facility is established jointly by the issuer of the underlying security and a depositary, whereas a depositary may establish an unsponsored facility without participation by the issuer of the deposited security. Holders of unsponsored depositary receipts generally bear all the costs of such facilities and the depositary of an unsponsored facility frequently is under no obligation to distribute shareholder communications received from the issuer of the deposited securities.

There are certain risks associated with investments in unsponsored depositary programs. Because the non-U.S. company does not actively participate in the creation of the depositary program, the underlying agreement for service and payment will be between the depositary and the shareholder. The company issuing the stock underlying the depositary receipts pays nothing to establish the unsponsored facility, as fees for depositary receipt issuance and cancellation are paid by brokers. Investors directly bear the expenses associated with certificate transfer, custody and dividend payment. In an unsponsored depositary program, there also may be several depositaries with no defined legal

obligations to the non-U.S. company. The duplicate depositaries may lead to marketplace confusion because there would be no central source of information to buyers, sellers and intermediaries. The efficiency of centralization gained in a sponsored program can greatly reduce the delays in delivery of dividends and annual reports.

In addition, with respect to all depositary receipts, there is always the risk of loss due to currency fluctuations.

REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

The Funds may invest in repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. Government securities, certificates of deposit and certain bankers' acceptances. Repurchase agreements are transactions by which a Fund purchases a security and simultaneously commits to resell that security to the seller (a bank or securities dealer) at an agreed upon price on an agreed upon date (usually within seven days of purchase). The resale price reflects the purchase price plus an agreed upon market rate of interest which is unrelated to the coupon rate or date of maturity of the purchased security. Repurchase agreements involve certain risks not associated with direct investments in the underlying securities. In the event of a default or bankruptcy by the seller, a Fund will seek to liquidate such collateral. The exercise of a Fund's right to liquidate such collateral could involve certain costs or delays and, to the extent that proceeds from any sale upon a default of the obligation to repurchase were less than the repurchase price, the Fund could suffer a loss. Repurchase agreements are considered to be loans by an investment company under the 1940 Act.

The use of repurchase agreements involves certain risks. For example, if the seller of the agreements defaults on its obligation to repurchase the underlying securities at a time when the value of these securities has declined, a Fund may incur a loss upon disposition of them. If the seller of the agreement becomes insolvent and subject to liquidation or reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code or other laws, a bankruptcy court may determine that the underlying securities are collateral not within the control of a Fund and therefore subject to sale by the trustee in bankruptcy. Finally, it is possible that a Fund may not be able to substantiate its interest in the underlying securities. While the managements of the Trust acknowledges these risks, it is expected that they can be controlled through stringent security selection criteria and careful monitoring procedures.

SHORT SALES

The Funds may make short sales of securities as part of their overall portfolio management strategies involving the use of derivative instruments and to offset potential declines in long positions in similar securities. A short sale is a transaction in which a Fund sells a security it does not own in anticipation that the market price of that security will decline.

When a Fund makes a short sale, it must borrow the security sold short and deliver it to the broker-dealer through which it made the short sale as collateral for its obligation to deliver the security upon conclusion of the sale. A Fund may have to pay a fee to borrow particular securities and is often obligated to pay over any accrued interest and dividends on such borrowed securities.

If the price of the security sold short increases between the time of the short sale and the time that a Fund replaces the borrowed security, a Fund will incur a loss; conversely, if the price declines, a Fund will realize a capital gain. Any gain will be decreased, and any loss increased, by the transaction costs described above. The successful use of short selling may be adversely affected by imperfect correlation between movements in the price of the security sold short and the securities being hedged.

To the extent that a Fund engages in short sales, it will provide collateral to the broker-dealer and (except in the case of short sales "against the box") will maintain additional asset coverage in the form of segregated or "earmarked" assets that the Adviser determines to be liquid in accordance with procedures established by the Board of Trustees and that is equal to the current market value of the securities sold short, or will ensure that such positions are covered by "offsetting" positions, until a Fund replaces the borrowed security. A short sale is "against the box" to the extent that a Fund contemporaneously owns, or has the right to obtain at no added cost, securities identical to those sold short. A Fund will engage in short selling to the extent permitted by the federal securities laws and rules and interpretations thereunder. To the extent a Fund engages in short selling in foreign (non-U.S.) jurisdictions, the Fund will do so to the extent permitted by the laws and regulations of such jurisdiction.

SHORT-TERM TRADING

The Funds may engage in short-term trading. Although the Funds will not make a practice of short-term trading, purchases and sales of securities will be made whenever necessary or desirable in the management's view to achieve the investment objective of a Fund. A change in the securities held by a Fund is known as "portfolio turnover." Management does not expect that in pursuing a Fund's investment objective unusual portfolio turnover will be required and intends to keep turnover to a minimum consistent with each Fund's investment objective. The trading costs and tax effects associated with portfolio turnover may adversely affect a Fund's performance. The management believes unsettled market economic conditions during certain periods require greater portfolio turnover in pursuing a Fund's investment objectives than would otherwise be the case. A higher incidence of portfolio turnover will result in greater transaction costs to a Fund.

U.S. GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

The Funds may invest in U.S. Government securities to the extent set forth in the prospectus and this SAI. U.S. Government securities include bills, notes, and bonds issued by the U.S. Treasury and securities issued or guaranteed by agencies or instrumentalities of the U.S. Government.

Some U.S. Government securities are supported by the direct full faith and credit pledge of the U.S. Government; others are supported by the right of the issuer to borrow from the U.S. Treasury; others, such as securities issued by the FNMA, are supported by the discretionary authority of the U.S. Government to purchase the agencies' obligations; and others are supported only by the credit of the issuing or guaranteeing instrumentality. There is no assurance that the U.S. Government will provide financial support to an instrumentality it sponsors when it is not obligated by law to do so.

WARRANTS

A warrant is an instrument issued by a corporation that gives the holder the right to subscribe to a specific amount of the corporation's capital stock at a set price for a specified period of time. Warrants do not represent ownership of the securities, but only the right to buy the securities. The prices of warrants do not necessarily move parallel to the prices of underlying securities. Warrants may be considered speculative in that they have no voting rights, pay no dividends, and have no rights with respect to the assets of a corporation issuing them. Once a warrant expires, it has no value in the market. Warrant positions will not be used to increase the leverage of a Fund. Consequently, warrant positions are generally accompanied by cash positions equivalent to the required exercise amount.

PORTFOLIO TURNOVER

For the purposes of this section, the term "Adviser" also includes the Subadvisers for the Funds.

The Adviser manages each Fund generally without regard to restrictions on portfolio turnover. In general, a Fund will not trade for short-term profits, but when circumstances warrant, investments may be sold without regard to the length of time held. The primary consideration in placing portfolio security transactions with broker-dealers for execution is to obtain, and maintain the availability of, execution at the most favorable prices and in the most effective manner possible. The Adviser engages in portfolio trading for a Fund if it believes a transaction net of costs (including custodian charges) will help achieve the investment objective of the Fund. In managing a Fund's portfolio, the Adviser seeks to take advantage of market developments, yield disparities and variations in the creditworthiness of issuers. Expenses to each Fund, including brokerage commissions, and the realization of capital gains that are taxable to the Fund's shareholders tend to increase as the portfolio turnover increases.

For the fiscal periods ended October 31, 2011, the portfolio turnover rate for each Fund was:

Fund ⁽¹⁾	<u>2011</u>				
EM Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	10.33%				
EM Local Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	65.61%				
Frontier Markets Fund ⁽³⁾	6.17%				
⁽¹⁾ The Emerging Markets Equity Fund, Risk M	Ianaged Fund				
and Total Return Fund have not commenced					
of the date of this SAI.					
⁽²⁾ From April 7, 2011 through October 31, 2011.					
⁽³⁾ From September 6, 2011 through October 3	1, 2011.				

If a Fund has a high portfolio turnover rate (e.g. 100% or more), transaction costs incurred by the Fund, and the realized capital gains and losses may be greater than those of a Fund with a lesser portfolio turnover rate. See "Portfolio Transactions" and "Tax Matters."

PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS

For the purposes of this section, the term "Adviser" also includes the Subadvisers for the Funds.

The Adviser is primarily responsible for portfolio decisions and the placing of portfolio transactions. The Trust has no obligation to deal with any dealer or group of dealers in the execution of transactions in portfolio securities for the Funds. Allocation of transactions, including their frequency, to various dealers is determined by the Adviser in its best judgment and in a manner deemed to be in the best interest of each Fund's shareholders rather than by any formula. In placing orders for each Fund, the primary consideration is prompt execution of orders in an effective manner at the most favorable price, although each Fund does not necessarily pay the lowest spread or commission available. Other factors taken into consideration are the dealer's general execution and operational facilities, the type of transaction involved and other factors such as the dealer's risk in positioning the securities. To the extent consistent with applicable legal requirements, the Adviser may place orders for the purchase and sale of investments for a Fund with a broker-dealer affiliate of the Adviser.

The Adviser may, in circumstances in which two or more dealers are in a position to offer comparable results, give preference to a dealer that has provided statistical or other research services to the Adviser. By allocating transactions in this manner, the Adviser is able to supplement its research and analysis with the views and information of securities firms. These services, which in some cases may also be purchased for cash, include such matters as general economic and security market reviews, industry and company reviews, evaluations of securities and recommendations as to the purchase and sale of securities. Some of these services are of value to the Adviser in advising several of its clients (including the Funds), although not all of these services are necessarily useful and of value in managing each Fund. The management fee paid from each Fund is not reduced because the Adviser and its affiliates receive such services.

Generally, fixed income securities and money market securities are traded on a principal basis and do not involve brokerage commissions. Under the 1940 Act, persons affiliated with HSBC Bank USA, N.A. ("HSBC Bank") the Adviser, a Fund or the Distributor are prohibited from dealing with a Fund as a principal in the purchase and sale of securities except in accordance with regulations adopted by the SEC. A Fund may purchase municipal obligations from underwriting syndicates of which the Distributor or other affiliate is a member under certain conditions in accordance with the provisions of a rule adopted under the 1940 Act. Under the 1940 Act, persons affiliated with the Adviser, a Fund or the Distributor may act as a broker for the Funds. In order for such persons to effect any portfolio transactions for a Fund, the commissions, fees or other remuneration received by such persons must be reasonable and fair compared to the commissions, fees or other remunerations paid to other brokers in connection with comparable transactions involving similar securities being purchased or sold on an exchange during a comparable period of time. This standard would allow the affiliate to receive no more than the remuneration that would be expected to be received by an unaffiliated broker in a commensurate arms-length transaction. The Trustees of the Trust regularly review any commissions paid by the Funds to affiliated brokers. The Funds will not do business with nor pay commissions to affiliates of the Adviser in any portfolio transactions where they act as principal.

As permitted by Section 28(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "1934 Act"), the Adviser may cause a Fund to pay a broker-dealer which provides "brokerage and research services" (as defined in the 1934 Act) to the Adviser an amount of commission for effecting a securities transaction for a Fund in excess of the commission which another broker-dealer would have charged for effecting that transaction, provided the Adviser determines in good faith that the greater commission is reasonable in relation to the value of the brokerage and research services provided by the executing broker-dealer viewed in terms of either a particular transaction or its respective overall responsibilities to the Fund or to its other clients. Not all of such services are useful or of value in advising each Fund.

The term "brokerage and research services" includes advice as to the value of securities, the advisability of investing in, purchasing, or selling securities, and the availability of securities or of purchasers or sellers of securities; furnishing analyses and reports concerning issues, industries, securities, economic factors and trends, portfolio strategy and the performance of accounts; and effecting securities transactions and performing functions incidental thereto, such as clearance and settlement. Although commissions paid on every transaction will, in the judgment of the Adviser, be reasonable in relation to the value of the brokerage services provided, commissions exceeding those which another broker might charge may be paid to broker-dealers who were selected to execute transactions on behalf of the Funds and the Adviser's other clients in part for providing advice as to the availability of securities or of purchasers or sellers of securities and services in effecting securities transactions and performing functions incidental thereto, such as clearance and settlement. The SEC has published interpretative guidance that tightened previously existing standards concerning the types of expenses that qualify for the Section 28(e) safe harbor and set forth certain steps that investment advisers would need to take in order to ensure such qualification.

Investment decisions for each Fund and for the other investment advisory clients of the Adviser are made with a view to achieving their respective investment objectives. Investment decisions are the product of many factors in addition to basic suitability for the particular client involved. Thus, a particular security may be bought for certain clients even though it could have been sold for other clients at the same time, and a particular security may be sold for certain clients even though it could have been bought for other clients at the same time. Likewise, a particular security may be bought for one or more clients when one or more other clients are selling that same security. In some instances, one client may sell a particular security to another client. Two or more clients may simultaneously purchase or sell the same security, in which event each day's transactions in that security are, insofar as practicable, averaged as to price and allocated between such clients in a manner which in the Adviser's opinion is equitable to each and in accordance with the amount being purchased or sold by each. In addition, when purchases or sales of the same security for a Fund and for other clients of the Adviser occur contemporaneously, the purchase or sale orders may be aggregated in order to obtain any price advantage available to large denomination purchases or sales. There may be circumstances when purchases or sales of portfolio securities for one or more clients will have an adverse effect on other clients in terms of the price paid or received or of the size of the position obtainable. It is recognized that, in some cases, this system could have a detrimental effect on the price or volume of the security as far as a Fund is concerned. In other cases, however, the Adviser believes that the Funds' ability to participate in volume transactions will produce better executions for the Funds.

The Board has adopted a policy to ensure compliance with Rule 12b-1(h) under the 1940 Act in the selection of broker-dealers to execute portfolio transactions for the Funds. Generally, Rule 12b-1(h) prohibits the Funds from compensating a broker-dealer for promotion or sale of Fund shares by directing to the broker-dealer securities transactions or remuneration received or to be received from such portfolio securities transactions.

If a Fund invests primarily in fixed income securities, it is anticipated that most purchases and sales will be with the issuer or with underwriters of or dealers in those securities, acting as principal. Accordingly, such Funds would not ordinarily pay significant brokerage commissions with respect to their securities transactions.

In the United States and in some other countries debt securities are traded principally in the over-the-counter market on a net basis through dealers acting for their own account and not as brokers. In other countries, both debt and equity securities are traded on exchanges at fixed commission rates. The cost of securities purchased from underwriters includes an underwriter's commission or concession, and the prices at which securities are purchased and sold from and to dealers include a dealer's mark-up or mark-down. The Adviser normally seeks to deal directly with the primary market makers or on major exchanges unless, in its opinion, better prices are available elsewhere. Subject to the requirement of seeking execution at the best available price, securities may, as authorized by each Fund's investment advisory contract, be bought from or sold to dealers who have furnished statistical, research and other information or services to the Adviser. At present, no arrangements for the recapture of commission payments are in effect.

For the fiscal periods ended October 31, 2011, the Funds paid aggregate brokerage commissions as shown in the following table:

Fund ⁽¹⁾	<u>2011</u>
EM Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$0
EM Local Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$0
Frontier Markets Fund ⁽³⁾	\$54,662

⁽¹⁾ The Emerging Markets Equity Fund, Risk Managed Fund and Total Return Fund have not commenced operations as of the date of this SAI. ⁽²⁾ From April 7, 2011 through October 31, 2011.

⁽³⁾ From September 6, 2011 through October 31, 2011.

DISCLOSURE OF PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS

The Board has adopted policies and procedures for the Trust relating to disclosure of the Trust's portfolio securities (the "Policy"). The Policy is designed to ensure disclosure of holdings information where necessary to the Trust's operation or useful to the Trust's shareholders without compromising the integrity or performance of the Trust. Disclosure of information regarding the portfolio holdings of the Funds occurs only upon the determination, by the Trust's Chief Compliance Officer ("CCO"), that such disclosure is in the best interests of the Funds' shareholders and that it does not present a conflict of interest between the shareholders and the Adviser, principal underwriter, or any affiliated person of the Funds, the Adviser, its principal underwriter or any subadviser of the Funds.

Pursuant to applicable law, the Trust is required to disclose its complete portfolio holdings quarterly, within 60 days of the end of each fiscal quarter. The Trust discloses a complete schedule of investments in each Semi-Annual Report and Annual Report to Shareholders or, following the first and third fiscal quarters, in quarterly holdings reports filed with the SEC on Form N-O. Semi-Annual and Annual Reports are distributed to shareholders. Quarterly holdings reports filed with the SEC on Form N-Q are not distributed to shareholders, but are available, free of charge, on the EDGAR database on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. These reports are also available, free of charge, on the Trust's website at www.emfunds.us.hsbc.com or at www.investorfunds.us.hsbc.com.

The Trust's website also provides information about each Fund's top 10 holdings, sector holdings and other characteristics data as of the end of the most recent month. The Trust may publish the Funds' full portfolio holdings fifteen (15) days after the end of each month. This information is available until updated as of the following month. The information on the Trust's website is publicly available to all categories of persons.

The Trust or the Adviser may share non-public holdings information of the Trust sooner than 60 days of the end of the fiscal quarter with the Adviser and other service providers to the Trust (including the Trust's custodian, the Sub-Administrator; and pricing services such as FT Interactive). In addition, the Trust may share non-public holdings information with mutual fund ranking and NRSROs, including Standard & Poor's Corporation, Morningstar, Lipper Analytical Services and Bloomberg L.P. These service providers and other entities owe contractual, fiduciary, or other legal duties of confidentiality to the Trust or the Adviser that foster reasonable expectations that holdings information will not be misused. The Trust's officers may authorize disclosure of the Trust's holdings portfolio information to service providers where such service provider needs information to fulfill its duties.

The Trust may also disclose information about portfolio holdings to mutual fund evaluation services that agree not to disclose the information to third parties and that enter into a Confidentiality Agreement. Such Confidentiality Agreement provides, among other things, that non-public portfolio holdings information will be kept confidential and that such information will be used solely for the purpose of analysis and evaluation of the portfolio. Disclosures may be made to other third parties under a Confidentiality Agreement satisfactory to Fund counsel and the Trust's CCO. The Confidentiality Agreement prohibits anyone in possession of non-public holdings information from purchasing or selling securities based on such information, or from disclosing such information to other persons, except for those who are actually engaged in, and need to know, such information to perform services for the portfolio.

Currently, the Trust has arrangements to provide additional disclosure of holdings information to the following evaluation services: Lipper Analytical Services (10 days after the end of each month), Morningstar (between 60-70 days after the end of each quarter), Bloomberg L.P. (60 days after the end of each quarter) and Standard & Poor's Corporation (between 3-5 days after the end of each week).

No compensation or other consideration is paid to or received by any party in connection with the disclosure of holdings information, including the Trust, the Adviser and its affiliates.

Pursuant to the Policy, the CCO may authorize exceptions and allow disclosures under other circumstances he or she deems appropriate. In addition, a Fund may disclose its holdings, as appropriate, in conformity with the foregoing principles. Compliance with the Policy (including the use of the portfolio holdings information) will be monitored by the CCO or his or her designee on a regular basis, and any violations constituting a "Material Compliance Matter" as defined under Rule 38a-1 of the 1940 Act will be reported by the CCO to the Board.

INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS

The Trust, with respect to each Fund, has adopted certain fundamental and non-fundamental investment restrictions. Fundamental investment restrictions may not be changed without approval by holders of a "majority of the outstanding voting securities" of a Fund. The term "majority of the outstanding voting securities" as used in this SAI means the vote of the lesser of (i) 67% or more of the outstanding "voting securities" of the Fund present at a meeting, if the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding "voting securities" are present or represented by proxy, or (ii) more than 50% of the outstanding "voting securities" as used in this paragraph has the same meaning as in the 1940 Act.

ALL FUNDS

Each of the Funds is subject to the following non-fundamental restrictions, in addition to the fundamental and non-fundamental restrictions set forth below under the headings for each Fund:

1. The Fund may not purchase on margin, except for use of short-term credit as may be necessary for the clearance of purchases and sales of securities, but it may make margin deposits in connection with transactions in options, futures, and options on futures.

2. The Fund may not sell securities short, unless it owns or has the right to obtain securities equivalent in kind and amount to the securities sold short, and provided that transactions in options and futures contracts are not deemed to constitute short sales of securities, except under such conditions as may be set forth in the Prospectus and in this SAI.

3. The Fund may not invest in securities of any registered investment company except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act generally or in accordance with any exemptive order granted to the Trust by the SEC.

EM DEBT FUND

As a matter of fundamental policy, the Fund will not (except that none of the following investment restrictions shall prevent the Fund from investing all of its assets in separate registered investment companies with substantially the same investment objectives):

- 1. borrow money, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act;
- 2. issue any senior securities, except as permitted under the 1940 Act;

3. act as underwriter of securities within the meaning of the 1933 Act, except insofar as they might be deemed to be underwriters upon disposition of certain portfolio securities acquired within the limitation of purchases of restricted securities;

4. purchase or sell real estate, provided that the Fund may invest in securities secured by real estate or interests therein or issued by companies that invest in real estate or interests therein or are engaged in the real estate business, including real estate investment trusts;

5. purchase or sell commodities or commodity contracts, except that the Fund may deal in forward foreign exchange transactions between currencies of the different countries in which it may invest and purchase and sell stock index and currency options, stock index futures, financial futures and currency futures contracts and related options on such futures;

6. make loans except through loans of portfolio securities, entry into repurchase agreements, acquisitions of securities consistent with its investment objective and policies and as otherwise permitted by the 1940 Act; and

7. purchase any securities, which would cause 25% or more of the value of the Fund's total assets at the time of purchase to be invested in the securities of one or more issuers conducting their principal business activities in the same industry, provided that (a) there is no limitation with respect to (i) instruments issued or guaranteed by the United States, any state, territory or possession of the United States, the District of Columbia or any of their authorities, agencies, instrumentalities or political subdivisions, and (ii) repurchase agreements secured by the instruments described in clause (i); (b) wholly-owned finance companies will be considered to be in the industries of their parents if their activities are primarily related to financing the activities of the parents; and (c) utilities will be divided according to their services; for example, gas, gas transmission, electric and gas, electric and telephone will each be considered a separate industry.

In applying fundamental policy number 7, mortgage-backed securities need not be considered a single industry, and shall be classified as follows for purposes of the concentration policy. Mortgage-backed securities issued by governmental agencies and government-related organizations shall be excluded from the limitation in fundamental policy number 7.

EM EQUITY FUND

As a matter of fundamental policy, the Fund will not (except that none of the following investment restrictions shall prevent the Fund from investing all of their assets in separate registered investment companies with substantially the same investment objectives):

1. borrow money, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act;

2. issue any senior securities, except as permitted under the 1940 Act;

3. act as underwriter of securities within the meaning of the 1933 Act, except insofar as they might be deemed to be underwriters upon disposition of certain portfolio securities acquired within the limitation of purchases of restricted securities;

4. purchase or sell real estate, provided that the Fund may invest in securities secured by real estate or interests therein or issued by companies that invest in real estate or interests therein or are engaged in the real estate business, including real estate investment trusts;

5. purchase or sell commodities or commodity contracts, except that the Fund may deal in forward foreign exchange transactions between currencies of the different countries in which it may invest and purchase and sell stock index and currency options, stock index futures, financial futures and currency futures contracts and related options on such futures;

6. make loans except through loans of portfolio securities, entry into repurchase agreements, acquisitions of securities consistent with its investment objective and policies and as otherwise permitted by the 1940 Act; and

7. purchase any securities, which would cause 25% or more of the value of the Fund's total assets at the time of purchase to be invested in the securities of one or more issuers conducting their principal business activities in the same industry, provided that (a) there is no limitation with respect to (i) instruments issued or guaranteed by the United States, any state, territory or possession of the United States, the District of Columbia or any of their authorities, agencies, instrumentalities or political subdivisions, and (ii) repurchase agreements secured by the instruments described in clause (i); (b) wholly-owned finance companies will be considered to be in the industries of their parents if their activities are primarily related to financing the activities of the parents; and (c) utilities will be divided according to their services; for example, gas, gas transmission, electric and gas, electric and telephone will each be considered a separate industry.

EM LOCAL DEBT FUND

As a matter of fundamental policy, the Fund will not (except that none of the following investment restrictions shall prevent the Fund from investing all of its assets in separate registered investment companies with substantially the same investment objectives):

1. borrow money, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act;

2. issue any senior securities, except as permitted under the 1940 Act;

3. act as underwriter of securities within the meaning of the 1933 Act, except insofar as they might be deemed to be underwriters upon disposition of certain portfolio securities acquired within the limitation of purchases of restricted securities;

4. purchase or sell real estate, provided that the Fund may invest in securities secured by real estate or interests therein or issued by companies that invest in real estate or interests therein or are engaged in the real estate business, including real estate investment trusts;

5. purchase or sell commodities or commodity contracts, except that the Fund may deal in forward foreign exchange transactions between currencies of the different countries in which it may invest and purchase and sell stock index and currency options, stock index futures, financial futures and currency futures contracts and related options on such futures;

6. make loans except through loans of portfolio securities, entry into repurchase agreements, acquisitions of securities consistent with its investment objective and policies and as otherwise permitted by the 1940 Act; and

7. purchase any securities, which would cause 25% or more of the value of the Fund's total assets at the time of purchase to be invested in the securities of one or more issuers conducting their principal business activities in the same industry, provided that (a) there is no limitation with respect to (i) instruments issued or guaranteed by the United States, any state, territory or possession of the United States, the District of Columbia or any of their authorities, agencies, instrumentalities or political subdivisions, and (ii) repurchase agreements secured by the instruments described in clause (i); (b) wholly-owned finance companies will be considered to be in the industries of their parents if their activities are primarily related to financing the activities of the parents; and (c) utilities will be divided according to their services; for example, gas, gas transmission, electric and gas, electric and telephone will each be considered a separate industry.

In applying fundamental policy number 7, mortgage-backed securities need not be considered a single industry, and shall be classified as follows for purposes of the concentration policy. Mortgage-backed securities issued by governmental agencies and government-related organizations shall be excluded from the limitation in fundamental policy number 7.

FRONTIER MARKETS FUND

As a matter of fundamental policy, the Fund will not (except that none of the following investment restrictions shall prevent the Fund from investing all of its assets in separate registered investment companies with substantially the same investment objective):

1. borrow money, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act;

2. issue any senior securities, except as permitted under the 1940 Act;

3. act as underwriter of securities within the meaning of the 1933 Act, except insofar as they might be deemed to be underwriters upon disposition of certain portfolio securities acquired within the limitation of purchases of restricted securities;

4. purchase or sell real estate, provided that the Fund may invest in securities secured by real estate or interests therein or issued by companies that invest in real estate or interests therein or are engaged in the real estate business, including real estate investment trusts;

5. purchase or sell commodities or commodity contracts, except that the Fund may deal in forward foreign exchange transactions between currencies of the different countries in which it may invest and purchase and sell stock index and currency options, stock index futures, financial futures and currency futures contracts and related options on such futures;

6. make loans except through loans of portfolio securities, entry into repurchase agreements, acquisitions of securities consistent with its investment objective and policies and as otherwise permitted by the 1940 Act; and

As a matter of fundamental policy, the Fund (or a separate registered investment company with substantially the same investment objective in which the Fund invests all of its assets) will, under normal market conditions:

1. invest more than 25% of its total assets (measured at the time of purchase) in the financial services group of industries. The Fund may not, however, concentrate its investments in any other industry or group of industries outside of the financial services group of industries, except that this limit does not apply to (i) instruments issued or guaranteed by the United States, any state, territory or possession of the United States, the District of Columbia or any of their authorities, agencies, instrumentalities or political subdivisions, or (ii) repurchase agreements secured by the instruments described in clause (i).

The following interpretations apply to, but are not a part of, this fundamental restriction: the financial services group of industries is deemed to include industries within the financial services sector, including banks, broker-dealers, insurance companies, finance companies (e.g., automobile finance), and related asset-backed securities. Asset-backed securities will be grouped in industries based upon their underlying assets and not treated as constituting a single, separate industry. The Adviser or Subadviser may analyze the characteristics of a particular issuer and security and assign an industry classification consistent with those characteristics in the event that either a third-party classification provider used by the Adviser or Subadviser or another fund service provider does not assign a classification or assigns a classification inconsistent with that believed appropriate by the Adviser or Subadviser based on their analysis of the economic characteristics of the issuer.

RISK MANAGED FUND

As a matter of fundamental policy, the Fund will not (except that none of the following investment restrictions shall prevent the Fund from investing all of its assets in separate registered investment companies with substantially the same investment objectives):

1. borrow money, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act;

2. issue any senior securities, except as permitted under the 1940 Act;

3. act as underwriter of securities within the meaning of the 1933 Act, except insofar as it might be deemed to be an underwriter upon disposition of certain portfolio securities acquired within the limitation of purchases of restricted securities;

4. purchase or sell real estate, provided that the Fund may invest in securities secured by real estate or interests therein or issued by companies that invest in real estate or interests therein or are engaged in the real estate business, including real estate investment trusts;

5. purchase or sell commodities or commodity contracts, except that the Fund may deal in forward foreign exchange transactions between currencies of the different countries in which it may invest and purchase and sell stock index and currency options, stock index futures, financial futures and currency futures contracts and related options on such futures;

6. make loans except through loans of portfolio securities, entry into repurchase agreements, acquisitions of securities consistent with its investment objective and policies and as otherwise permitted by the 1940 Act; and

7. purchase any securities, which would cause 25% or more of the value of the Fund's total assets at the time of purchase to be invested in the securities of one or more issuers conducting their principal business activities in the same industry, provided that (a) there is no limitation with respect to (i) instruments issued or guaranteed by the United States, any state, territory or possession of the United States, the District of Columbia or any of their authorities, agencies, instrumentalities or political subdivisions, and (ii) repurchase agreements secured by the instruments described in clause (i); (b) wholly-owned finance companies will be considered to be in the industries of their parents if their activities are primarily related to financing the activities of the parents; and (c) utilities will be divided according to their services; for example, gas, gas transmission, electric and gas, electric and telephone will each be considered a separate industry.

In applying fundamental policy number 7, mortgage-backed securities need not be considered a single industry, and shall be classified as follows for purposes of the concentration policy. Mortgage-backed securities issued by governmental agencies and government-related organizations shall be excluded from the limitation in fundamental policy number 7.

TOTAL RETURN FUND

As a matter of fundamental policy, the Fund will not (except that none of the following investment restrictions shall prevent the Fund from investing all of its assets in separate registered investment companies with substantially the same investment objective):

1. borrow money, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act;

2. issue any senior securities, except as permitted under the 1940 Act;

3. act as underwriter of securities within the meaning of the 1933 Act, except insofar as they might be deemed to be underwriters upon disposition of certain portfolio securities acquired within the limitation of purchases of restricted securities;

4. purchase or sell real estate, provided that the Fund may invest in securities secured by real estate or interests therein or issued by companies that invest in real estate or interests therein or are engaged in the real estate business, including real estate investment trusts;

5. purchase or sell commodities or commodity contracts, except that the Fund may deal in forward and non-deliverable forward foreign exchange transactions between currencies of the

different countries in which it may invest and purchase and sell stock index and currency options, stock index futures, financial futures and currency futures contracts and related options on such futures;

6. make loans except through loans of portfolio securities, entry into repurchase agreements, acquisitions of securities consistent with its investment objective and policies and as otherwise permitted by the 1940 Act; and

7. purchase any securities, which would cause 25% or more of the value of the Fund's total assets at the time of purchase to be invested in the securities of one or more issuers conducting their principal business activities in the same industry, provided that (a) there is no limitation with respect to (i) instruments issued or guaranteed by the United States, any state, territory or possession of the United States, the District of Columbia or any of their authorities, agencies, instrumentalities or political subdivisions, and (ii) repurchase agreements secured by the instruments described in clause (i); (b) wholly-owned finance companies will be considered to be in the industries of their parents if their activities are primarily related to financing the activities of the parents; and (c) utilities will be divided according to their services; for example, gas, gas transmission, electric and gas, electric and telephone will each be considered a separate industry.

PERCENTAGE AND RATING RESTRICTIONS

If a percentage restriction or a rating restriction on investment or utilization of assets set forth above or referred to in the Funds' Prospectus is adhered to at the time an investment is made or assets are so utilized, a later change in percentage resulting from changes in the value of the securities held by a Fund or a later change in the rating of a security held by a Fund is not considered a violation of policy. However, the Adviser will consider such change in its determination of whether to continue to hold the security and provided further, that the Adviser will take appropriate steps, which may include the disposition of portfolio securities, as may be necessary to satisfy the applicable requirements of the 1940 Act and/or the rules thereunder with respect to the Fund's investments in illiquid securities or any borrowings by the Fund.

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

The Trust may, from time to time, include the total return, annualized "yield," "effective yield" and "tax equivalent yield" quotations for a Fund, computed in accordance with formulas prescribed by the SEC, in advertisements or reports to shareholders or prospective investors.

Quotations of yield for a Fund will be based on all investment income per share (as defined by the SEC during a particular 30-day (or one month) period (including dividends and interest), less expenses accrued during the period ("net investment income"), and are computed by dividing net investment income by the maximum offering price per share on the last day of the period, according to the following formula:

YIELD =
$$2 [(\underline{a-b} + 1)^6 - 1]$$

cd

where:

a = dividends and interest earned during the period,

b = expenses accrued for the period (net of reimbursements),

c = the average daily number of shares outstanding during the period that were entitled to receive dividends, and

d = the maximum offering price per share on the last day of the period.

Quotations of average annual total return for a Fund will be expressed in terms of the average annual compounded rate of return of a hypothetical investment in the Fund over periods of 1, 5 and 10 years (or up to the life of the Fund), calculated pursuant to the following formula: P(1 + T)n = ERV (where P = a hypothetical initial payment of \$1,000, T = the average annual total return, n = the number of years, and ERV = the ending redeemable value of a hypothetical \$1,000 payment made at the beginning of the period). All total return figures reflect the deduction of a proportional share of Fund expenses on an annual basis, and assume that all dividends and distributions are reinvested when paid.

Each Fund also may, with respect to certain periods of less than one year, provide total return information for that period that is unannualized. Any such information would be accompanied by standardized total return information.

Quotations of average annual total return (after taxes on distributions) for a Fund will be expressed in terms of the average annual compounded rate of return of a hypothetical investment in the Fund over periods of 1, 5 and 10 years (or up to the life of the Fund), calculated pursuant to the following formula: $P(1+T)^n = ATV^D$ (where P = a hypothetical initial payment of \$1,000, T = average annual total return (after taxes on distributions), n = number of years and ATV^D = ending value of a hypothetical \$1,000 payment made at the beginning of the period. All total return figures (after taxes on distributions) reflect the deduction of a proportional share of Fund expenses on an annual basis, and assume that all dividends and distributions are reinvested when paid. Taxes due are calculated using the highest individual marginal federal income tax rates in effect on the reinvestment date.

Quotations of average annual total return (after taxes on distributions and redemption) for a Fund will be expressed in terms of the average annual compounded rate of return of a hypothetical investment in the Fund over periods of 1, 5 and 10 years (or up to the life of the Fund), calculated pursuant to the following formula: $P(1 + T)^n = ATV^{DR}$ (where P = a hypothetical initial payment of \$1,000, T = average annual total return (after taxes on distributions and redemption), n = number of years and ATV^{DR} = ending value of a hypothetical \$1,000 payment made at the beginning of the 1-, 5-, or 10-year periods at the end of the 1-, 5-, or 10-year periods (or fractional portion), after taxes on fund distributions and redemption. All total return figures (after taxes on distributions and redemption) reflect the deduction of a proportional share of Fund expenses on an annual basis, and assume that all dividends and distributions are reinvested when paid. Taxes due are calculated using the highest individual marginal federal income tax rates in effect on the reinvestment date. The capital gain or loss upon redemption is calculated by subtracting the tax basis from the redemption proceeds.

Unlike some bank deposits or other investments that pay a fixed yield for a stated period of time, the yield of a Fund varies based on the type, quality and maturities of the obligations held for the Fund, fluctuations in short-term interest rates, and changes in the expenses of the Fund. These factors and possible differences in the methods used to calculate yields should be considered when comparing the yield of a Fund to yields published for other investment companies or other investment vehicles.

Broker-dealers and other intermediaries may charge customers direct fees in connection with an investment in a Fund, which has the effect of reducing the net return on the investment of their customers. These shareholders may be charged one or more of the following types of fees: account fees (a fixed amount per transaction processed); compensating balance requirements (a minimum dollar amount a customer must maintain in order to obtain the services offered); or account maintenance fees (a periodic charge based upon a percentage of the assets in the account or of the dividends paid on those assets). Such fees will have the effect of reducing the yield and effective yield of the Fund for those investors.

Conversely, the Trust has been advised that certain broker-dealers and other intermediaries may credit to the accounts of their customers from whom they are already receiving other fees amounts not exceeding such other fees or the fees received by the intermediary from a Fund, which will have the effect of increasing the net return on the investment of such shareholders. Such shareholders may be able to obtain through their intermediary quotations reflecting such decreased or increased return.

MANAGEMENT OF THE TRUST

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Overall responsibility for management of the Trust rests with the Board of Trustees. The Trustees elect the officers of the Trust and appoint service providers to manage the Trust's day-to-day operations. The Trustees meet regularly to discuss and consider matters concerning the Trust and to oversee the Trust's activities, including the investment performance of the Trust's Funds and the operation of the Trust's compliance programs, and to evaluate and address risks associated with the Trust's activities.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND LEADERSHIP STRUCTURE

The Board is currently composed of six Trustees, one of whom is an "interested person" (as that term is defined by Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act) of the Trusts ("Interested Trustee") by virtue of her employment with the Adviser and five of whom are not an "interested person" (as that term is defined by Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act) of the Trust ("Independent Trustees"). The Chairman of the Board is an Independent Trustee, and, among other duties and responsibilities, serves as a point person for communications between the Trustees and the Trust's management and service providers. The Board also has established an Audit Committee, a Valuation and Investment Oversight Committee, a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and a Contracts and Expense Committee (the "Committees") to facilitate the Trustees' oversight of the management of those aspects of the Trust's operations. Each Committee has a Chair and certain Committees also have a Vice Chair. Each Committee's responsibilities are discussed in greater detail below.

The Trustees interact directly with the Chairman of the Board, Chairs of the Committees, each other, the Trust's officers, and senior management of the Adviser and other service providers of the Trust at scheduled meetings and between meetings, as appropriate. The Trustees seek to have an inclusive approach to oversight. For example, each Independent Trustee is a member of each of the Committees. The Independent Trustees regularly meet outside the presence of the Trust's management and are advised by independent legal counsel.

The Board believes that its structure facilitates the orderly and efficient flow of information to the Trustees from the Adviser and other service providers with respect to services provided to the Trust, potential conflicts of interest that could arise from these relationships and other risks that the Trust may face. The Board further believes that its structure allows all of the Trustees to participate in the full range of the Board's oversight responsibilities and for the Board and its Committees to make informed decisions on the affairs of the Trust. The Board believes that the orderly and efficient flow of information and the ability to bring each Trustee's talents to bear in overseeing the Trust's operations is important, in light of the size and complexity of the HSBC Family of Funds and the risks that the fund complex faces. The Board and its Committees review their structure regularly, to help ensure that it remains appropriate as the business and operations of the Trust, and the environment in which the Trust operates, change.

BOARD'S ROLE IN RISK OVERSIGHT OF THE TRUST

The Board oversees risk management for the Trust both directly and through its Committees, by working with the Trust's senior officers (including the Trust's President, CCO and Treasurer), portfolio management and other personnel of the Adviser, the Trust's independent registered public accounting firm (the "independent auditors"), legal counsel and personnel from the Trust's other service providers (collectively, "Trust personnel") to identify, evaluate and seek means of mitigating risk. In this regard, the Board and its Committees request, receive and act on reports from Trust personnel on risk oversight and management, and the Trustees confer with each other and engage Trust personnel between Board meetings on such matters, as deemed appropriate.

The Board has adopted, on behalf of the Trust, and periodically reviews with the assistance of the Trust's CCO, policies and procedures designed to address risks associated with the Trust's activities. In addition, the Adviser and the Trust's other service providers also have adopted policies, processes and procedures designed to identify, assess and manage certain risks associated with the Trust's activities, and the Board receives and acts on reports from the Adviser and the Trust's other service providers with respect to the operation of these policies, processes and procedures as required and/or as the Board deems appropriate.

QUALIFICATIONS OF THE TRUSTEES

The names of the Trustees of the Trust, their addresses, ages, positions held with the Trust, principal occupation(s) during the past five years, number of portfolios in the fund complex overseen, and other directorships held by each Trustee are set forth below.

TRUSTEES

Name, Address and Age	Position(s) Held With Funds	Term of Office and Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years	Portfolios In Fund Complex Overseen By Trustee*	Other Public Company and Investment Company Directorships Held By Trustee During the Past 5 Years
Non-Interested Trustees	·				
Marcia L. Beck P.O. Box 182845 Columbus, OH 43218-3035 Age: 56	Trustee	Indefinite; 2008 to present	Private Investor (June 1999 – present); Executive Vice President, Prudential Investments (1997 – 1999); President and Trustee, The Goldman Sachs Mutual Funds (1992 – 1996)	22	None
Susan S. Huang P.O. Box 182845 Columbus, OH 43218-3035 Age: 57	Trustee	Indefinite; 2008 to present	Private Investor,-(2000- present); Senior Vice President, Schroder Investment Management (2001 – 2004). Managing Director, Chase Asset Management (1995-2000)	22	None
Alan S. Parsow P.O. Box 182845 Columbus, OH 43218-3035 Age: 62	Trustee	Indefinite; 1987 to present	General Partner, Elkhorn Partners, L.P. (a private investment partnership) (1989 – present)	22	Penn Treaty American Corporation (insurance)
Thomas F. Robards P.O. Box 182845 Columbus, OH 43218-3035 Age: 65	Trustee	Indefinite; 2005 to present	Member, Robards & Co. LLC (investment and advisory services) (2005-present); Chief Financial Officer, American Museum of Natural History (2003- 2004) Chief Financial Officer, Datek Online Holdings (2000- 2003). Previously EVP and CFO Republic New York Corporation	22	Overseas Shipholding Group (NYSE listed energy transportation); Ellington Financial LLC (NYSE listed financial services); Financial Federal Corporation (NYSE listed specialty finance)
Michael Seely P.O. Box 182845 Columbus, OH	Chairman and Trustee	Indefinite; 1987 to present	Private Investor (2003-present); General Partner, Global Multi	22	None

Name, Address and Age	Position(s) Held With Funds	Term of Office and Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years	Portfolios In Fund Complex Overseen By Trustee*	Other Public Company and Investment Company Directorships Held By Trustee During the Past 5 Years
43218-3035 Age: 66 Interested Trustee**			Manager Partners (1999-2003); President of Investor Access Corporation (1981- 2003)		
Deborah A. Hazell 452 Fifth Avenue New York, NY 10018 Age: 49	Trustee	Indefinite; December 2011 to present	President and CEO, Fisher Francis Trees & Watts ("FFTW") (investment advisor), February 2008 – June 2011; Head of Client Service, Business Development and Marketing Group, FFTW (October 1999 – February 2008)	22	None

* Includes the Trust, HSBC Advisor Funds Trust and the HSBC Portfolios (together with the Trust, the "Trusts"). ** Ms. Hazell is an "interested person" of the Trusts, as defined by the 1940 Act, because of her employment with the Adviser.

OFFICERS

Name, Address and Age	Position(s) Held With Funds	Term of Office and Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years
Richard A. Fabietti 452 Fifth Avenue New York, NY 10018 Age: 53	President	One year; 2004 to present	Senior Vice President, Head of Product Management, HSBC Global Asset Management (USA) Inc. (1998 – present)
Stephen Sivillo 452 Fifth Avenue New York, NY 10018 Age: 40	Vice President	One year; 2010 to present	Vice President of Product Administration, HSBC Global Asset Management (USA) Inc. (2010 – present); Chief Compliance Officer, Managers Funds (2009 – 2010); Director, Mutual Fund Compliance, AllianceBernstein (2007-2009)
Ty Edwards* 3435 Stelzer Road Columbus, OH 43219-3035 Age: 45	Treasurer	One year; 2010 to present	Senior Vice President, Citi Fund Services (2010– present); Director, Product Management, Columbia Management (2007-2009); Deputy Treasurer, Columbia Funds, (2006- 2007)
Jennifer A. English* 100 Summer Street Suite 1500 Boston, MA 02110 Age: 39	Secretary	One year; 2008 to present	Senior Vice President, Regulatory Administration, Citi (2005 – present)

Name, Address and Age	Position(s) Held With Funds	Term of Office and Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years
F. Martin Fox 100 Summer Street Suite 1500 Boston, MA 02110 Age: 48	Assistant Secretary	One year; 2008 to present	Assistant Vice President, Regulatory Administration, Citi (May 2008 – present); Contract Attorney, Update Legal LLC (2002 – 2008)
Frederick J. Schmidt* 1 Rexcorp Plaza Uniondale, NY 11556 Age: 52	Chief Compliance Officer	One year; 2004 to present	Director and Chief Compliance Officer, CCO Services, Citi (2004 – present)

* Mr. Edwards, Ms. English and Mr. Schmidt are also officers of certain other investment companies of which Citi (or an affiliate) is the administrator or sub-administrator.

The Board believes that the significance of each Trustee's experience, qualifications, attributes or skills is an individual matter (meaning that experience that is important for one Trustee may not have the same value for another) and that these factors are best evaluated at the Board level, with no single Trustee, or particular factor, being indicative of the Board's effectiveness. The Board determined that each of the Trustees is qualified to serve as a Trustee of the Trust based on a review of the experience, qualifications, attributes and skills of each Trustee. In reaching this determination, the Board has considered a variety of criteria, including, among other things: character and integrity; ability to review critically, evaluate, question and discuss information provided and exercise effective business judgment in protecting shareholder interests; and willingness and ability to commit the time necessary to perform the duties of a Trustee. Each Trustee's ability to perform his or her duties effectively is evidenced by his or her experience in some of the following fields: management, consulting, or board experience with public companies in other fields, non-profit entities or other organizations; educational background and professional training; and experience as a Trustee of the Truste, which led to the Board's determination that the Trustee should serve in this capacity, is provided below.

The Board's Chairman, Mr. Seely, was previously a general partner of a private investment company, as well as the president of a shareholder value enhancement firm, which combined investor relations, finance and strategy. He is a graduate of Dartmouth College and NYU's graduate business school. Mses. Beck and Huang each have experience managing risk as well as portfolios of money market and fixed income instruments, respectively. Ms. Beck has also served as president and trustee of an unaffiliated mutual fund complex. She has a BA from Tufts University and an MBA from Columbia University. Ms. Huang has a BA from Princeton University and an MBA from Columbia University. Mr. Robards, who is the Trust's audit committee financial expert, has governance and operating experience in banking, brokerage and specialty finance companies and serves as a director of several public companies. Mr. Robards has a BA from Brown University and an MBA from Harvard University. Mr. Parsow, a graduate of the University of Nebraska, is a general partner of a private investment partnership and has served as an Independent Trustee since 1987. Ms. Hazell is the Chief Executive Officer of the Adviser and holds a BA in economics from New York University.

COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is comprised of Marcia L. Beck, Susan S. Huang, Alan S. Parsow, Thomas F. Robards, and Michael Seely, who are all Independent Trustees. The Audit Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Robards. The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to oversee the accounting and financial reporting policies, practices and internal controls of the Trust. The Audit Committee (i) recommends to the Board of Trustees the selection, retention, compensation and termination of an independent public accounting firm; (ii) annually reviews the scope of the proposed audit, the audit procedures to be utilized and the proposed audit fees; (iii) reviews the results of the annual audit with the independent auditors; (iv) reviews the annual financial statements of the Funds with management and the independent auditors. The Audit Committee met 5 times during the most recent fiscal year.

Valuation and Investment Oversight Committee

The Valuation and Investment Oversight Committee is comprised of all of the Trustees of the Trust. The Committee is currently chaired by Ms. Huang. The primary purposes of the Valuation and Investment Oversight Committee are to oversee: (i) Fund management, investment risk management, performance and brokerage practices relating to the Funds; (ii) the implementation and operation of the Trust's Valuation Procedures and the amortized cost method of valuation pursuant to Rule 2a-7 under the 1940 Act with respect to the Money Market Funds; and (iii) the selection process for investment sub-advisers to series of the Trust. The Valuation and Investment Oversight Committee met 4 times during the most recent fiscal year.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is comprised of all of the Independent Trustees of the Trust. The Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Parsow. This Committee (i) makes nominations for trustee membership on the Board; (ii) evaluates on a periodic basis the operations and effectiveness of the Board as a whole; (iii) periodically reviews the composition of the Board to determine whether it may be appropriate to add individuals with different backgrounds or skills from those already on the Board; (iv) periodically reviews Board governance procedures and shall recommend any appropriate changes to the full Board; and (v) periodically reviews Trustee compensation and shall recommend any appropriate changes to the Board as a group. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also considers nominees recommended by shareholders. Such recommendations should be forwarded to the President of the Trust. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee met 4 times during the most recent fiscal year.

Contracts and Expense Committee

The Contracts and Expense Committee is comprised of all of the Independent Trustees of the Trust. The Contracts and Expense Committee is currently chaired by Ms. Beck. The primary purpose of the Contracts and Expense Committee is to help ensure that the interests of the Funds and their shareholders are appropriately served by: (i) agreements and plans to which the Trust is a party or direct beneficiary; and (ii) expenses payable by the Trust and its series. The Contracts and Expense Committee met 6 times during the most recent fiscal year.

FUND OWNERSHIP

Listed below for each Trustee is a dollar range of securities beneficially owned in the Funds together with the aggregate dollar range of equity securities in all registered investment companies overseen by each Trustee in the HSBC Family of Funds, including those in the Trusts, as of December 31, 2011.

Name of Trustee	Dollar Range of Equity Securities in the Advisor Trust	Dollar Range of Equity Securities in the Trust	Aggregate Dollar Range of Equity Securities in All Registered Investment Companies Overseen By Trustee in HSBC Family of Funds
Non-Interested Trustees			
Marcia L. Beck	None	None	None
Susan S. Huang	None	None	None
Alan S. Parsow	None	None	None
Thomas Robards	None	None	None
Michael Seely	None	None	None
Interested Trustee			
Deborah A. Hazell	None	None	None

As of February 2, 2012, the Trustees and officers of the Trusts as a group beneficially owned less than 1% of the outstanding shares of the Funds.

TRUSTEE AND OFFICER COMPENSATION

Effective January 1, 2012, the Trusts pay each Independent Trustee an annual retainer of \$100,000. The Trusts pay a fee of \$10,000 for each regular meeting of the Board of Trustees attended and a fee of \$3,000 for each special meeting attended. The Trusts pay each Committee Chair an annual retainer of \$3,000, with the exception of the Chair of the Audit Committee, who receives a retainer of \$6,000. The Trusts also pay Mr. Seely, as Chairman of the Board, an additional annual retainer of \$24,000. In addition, for time expended on Board duties outside normal meetings at the request of the Chairman or a Committee Chair, a Trustee is compensated at the rate of \$500 per hour, up to a maximum of \$3,000 per day. For the fiscal year ended October 31, 2011, the following compensation was paid to the Trustees:

	Non-Interested Trustees ⁽²⁾					
Compensation From the Funds ⁽¹⁾	Marcia L. Beck	Susan S. Huang	Alan S. Parsow	Thomas F. Robards	Michael Seely	
EM Debt Fund ⁽³⁾	\$141.61	\$143.54	\$141.61	\$143.31	\$166.96	
EM Local Debt Fund ⁽³⁾	\$119.91	\$121.37	\$119.91	\$121.35	\$141.52	
Frontier Markets Fund ⁽⁴⁾	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	
Pension Or Retirement Benefits Accrued As Part Of The Funds' Expenses ⁽⁵⁾	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	
Estimated Annual Benefits Upon Retirement	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	
Total Compensation From Funds and Fund Complex ⁽⁶⁾ Paid To Trustees	\$173,500	\$181,250	\$170,500	\$172,500	\$201,500	

⁽¹⁾ Prior to January 1, 2012, the Trusts, in the aggregate, paid each Independent Trustee an annual retainer of \$63,000, a fee of \$5,000 for each regular meeting of the Board of Trustees attended, a fee of \$3,000 for each special telephonic meeting attended, and a fee of \$5,000 for each special in-person meeting attended. The Trusts also paid each Independent Trustee an annual retainer of \$3,000 for each Committee on which such Trustee served as a Committee member as well as a fee of \$3,000 for each Committee meeting attended. Additionally, the Trusts paid each Committee Chair an annual retainer of \$6,000, with the exception of the Chair of the Audit Committee, who received a retainer of \$8,000. The Trusts also paid Mr. Seely, as Chairman of the Board, an additional annual retainer of \$20,000, as well as an additional \$4,000 for each regular meeting of the Board attended. In addition, for time expended on Board duties outside normal meetings at the request of the Chairman or a Committee Chair, a Trustee was compensated at the rate of \$500 per hour, up to a maximum of \$3,000 per day.

⁽²⁾ Ms. Hazell, an Interested Trustee, was appointed as a Trustee in December 2011. She is not compensated from the Trusts for her service as an Interested Trustee.

⁽³⁾ From April 7, 2011 through October 31, 2011.

⁽⁴⁾ From September 6, 2011 through October 31, 2011.

⁽⁵⁾ The Trusts do not accrue pension or retirement benefits as part of Fund expenses, and Trustees of the Trusts are not entitled to retirement benefits upon retirement from the Board of Trustees.

⁽⁶⁾ For these purposes, the Fund Complex consisted of 22 Funds of the Trust, the Advisor Trust, and the Portfolio Trust as of October 31, 2011.

None of the officers receive compensation directly from the Funds. Under a Compliance Services Agreement between the Trust and Citi ("Compliance Agreement"), Citi makes a Citi employee available to serve as the Trust's CCO. Under the Compliance Agreement, Citi also provides infrastructure and support in implementing the written policies and procedures comprising the Funds' Compliance Program. This includes providing support services to the CCO, developing standards for reports to the Board by Citi and other service providers, and assisting in preparing or providing documentation for the Board to make findings and conduct reviews pertaining to the Funds' Compliance Program and related policies and procedures of the Funds' service providers. The Compliance Agreement also covers arrangements under which Citi employees serve the Trust in certain other officer capacities, which may include the Chief Financial Officer. For the services provided under the Compliance Agreement, the Trusts currently pay Citi \$275,764 per annum, plus certain out of pocket expenses. Citi pays the salary and other compensation earned by any such individuals as employees of Citi.

PROXY VOTING

The Trust has adopted Proxy Voting Policies that delegate the responsibility of voting proxies to the Adviser or Subadviser, as applicable. The Proxy Voting Policies (or summaries thereof) of the Trust and the Adviser and Subadvisers are attached as Appendices to this SAI.

Information regarding how the Funds voted proxies relating to portfolio securities during the 12-month period ending June 30, 2011 is available (i) without charge, upon request, by calling 1-800-782-8183; (ii) on the Funds' website at <u>www.emfunds.us.hsbc.com</u> or at www.investorfunds.us.hsbc.com, and (iii) on the SEC's website at <u>http://www.sec.gov</u>.

INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND OTHER SERVICES

INVESTMENT ADVISER

HSBC Global Asset Management (USA) Inc. is the investment adviser to the Funds pursuant to an investment advisory contract (the "Advisory Contract") with the Trust. For its services, the Adviser is entitled to a fee from each Fund, which is accrued daily and paid monthly, and which is based on the Fund's daily net assets, at an annual rate as set forth below. These amounts do not include sub-advisory fees payable by the Trust to the respective Subadvisers.

Fund	Fee
EM Debt Fund	0.50%
EM Equity Fund	1.00%
EM Local Debt Fund	0.50%
Frontier Markets Fund	1.25%
Risk Managed Fund	1.00%
Total Return Fund	0.85%

The Adviser has entered into a contractual expense limitation agreement ("Agreement") with the Funds under which it will limit total expenses of a Fund (excluding interest, taxes, brokerage commissions and extraordinary expenses.) The expense limitations shall be in effect until March 1, 2013. These Agreements shall terminate upon the termination of the Advisory Contracts between the Trust and the Adviser, or may be terminated upon written notice to the Adviser by the Trust.

For the fiscal periods ended October 31, 2011, the aggregate amount of advisory fees (including sub-advisory fees, where applicable) paid by the Funds were as follows:

Fund ⁽¹⁾	<u>2011</u>
EM Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$110,424
EM Local Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$87,497
Frontier Markets Fund ⁽³⁾	\$29,935

⁽¹⁾ Expense does not include deductions for waivers. The Emerging Markets Equity Fund, Risk Managed Fund and Total Return Fund have not commenced operations as of the date of this SAI.

⁽²⁾ From April 7, 2011 through October 31, 2011.

(3) From September 6, 2011 through October 31, 2011.

The Adviser or its affiliates may, out of their own resources, assist in marketing the Funds' shares. Without limiting the foregoing, the Adviser may, out of its own resources and without cost to a Fund, make both cash and non-cash payments to selected financial intermediaries for shareholder recordkeeping, processing, accounting and/or other administrative services in connection with the sale or servicing of shares and shareholders of a Fund. Historically, these payments have generally been structured as a percentage of average net assets attributable to the financial intermediary, but may also be structured as a percentage of gross sales, a fixed dollar amount, or a combination of the above. These payments are made by the Adviser in addition to any 12b-1 fees, shareholder services fees, and/or sales charges, or portion thereof, that are borne by shareholders and paid to such financial intermediaries. The making of these payments could create a conflict of interest for a financial intermediary receiving such payments.

The Advisory Contract for each Fund will continue in effect through December 31, 2012. Thereafter, the Advisory Contract will continue in effect with respect to each Fund for successive periods not to exceed one (1) year, provided such continuance is approved at least annually by: (i) the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Fund or by the Trust's Board of Trustees; and (ii) a majority of the Trustees of the Trust who are not parties to the Advisory Contract or "interested persons" (as defined in the 1940 Act) of any such party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Advisory Contract may be terminated with respect to a Fund without penalty by either party on 60 days' written notice and will terminate automatically in the event of its assignment, within the meaning of the 1940 Act.

The Adviser, located at 452 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10018, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC Bank, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC USA Inc., a registered bank holding company. No securities or instruments issued by HSBC USA Inc. or HSBC Bank USA, N.A. will be purchased for a Fund.

The Advisory Contract for each Fund provides that the Adviser will manage the portfolio of the Fund, either directly or through one or more subadvisers, and will furnish to the Fund investment guidance and policy direction in connection therewith. The Adviser has agreed to provide the Trust with, among other things, information relating to composition, credit conditions and average maturity of the portfolio of the Fund. Pursuant to the Advisory Contract, the Adviser also furnishes the Board of Trustees with periodic reports on the investment performance of each Fund.

The Adviser and the Funds have also entered into Support Services Agreements, under which the Adviser provides certain support services in connection with the operation of certain Classes of shares of the Funds. For its services, the Adviser is entitled to a fee from each Fund, computed daily and paid monthly, equal on an annual basis to 0.20% and 0.10% of each Fund's average daily net assets attributable to Class A and Class I Shares, respectively.

If the Adviser were prohibited from performing any of its services for the Trust under the Advisory Contract or the Support Services Agreement, it is expected that the Board would recommend to a Fund's shareholders that they approve new agreements with another entity or entities qualified to perform such services and selected by the Board.

The investment advisory services of the Adviser to the Funds are not exclusive under the terms of the Advisory Contract. The Adviser is free to and does render investment advisory services to others.

The Trust and the Adviser have each received an exemptive order from the SEC that allows the Adviser to enter into new investment sub-advisory contracts and to make material changes to existing sub-advisory contracts with the approval of the Board of Trustees of the Trust, but without shareholder approval. This authority is subject to certain conditions, including the requirement that the Trustees (including a majority of Independent Trustees) of the Trust must approve any new or amended agreements with subadvisers. In accordance with the exemptive order received from the SEC, an information statement providing details about the appointment of the new subadviser will be mailed to shareholders within 90 days of the change in subadviser. Shareholders will also receive an information statement describing material changes to a sub-advisory contract between the Adviser and a subadviser within 90 days of the material change. The Adviser remains responsible for the performance of each Fund, oversees subadvisers to ensure compliance with each Fund's investment policies and guidelines, and monitors each subadviser's adherence to its investment style and performance results in order to recommend any changes in a subadviser to the appropriate Trust's Board of Trustees.

SUBADVISERS

For certain of the Funds, as listed below, a Subadviser is responsible for the investment management of the Fund's assets, including making investment decisions and placing orders for the purchase and sale of securities for the Fund directly with the issuers or with brokers or dealers selected by the Subadviser in its discretion.

The investment advisory services of each Subadviser are not exclusive under the terms of its sub-advisory agreement. The Subadviser is free to and does render investment advisory services to others.

Each Subadviser also furnishes to the Board of Trustees, which has overall responsibility for the business and affairs of the Trust, periodic reports on its services and the investment performance of the relevant Fund.

EM Equity Fund and Frontier Markets Fund

AMEU, a registered investment adviser and an affiliate of the Adviser, serves as the investment subadviser of the EM Equity Fund and Frontier Markets Fund pursuant to an investment sub-advisory agreement for each respective Fund ("Sub-Advisory Agreement") with the Adviser. AMEU is located at 1F, 78 St James's Street, London, United Kingdom SW1A 1EJ. AMEU makes the day-to-day investment decisions and continuously reviews, supervises and administers the Fund's investment program. As of December 31, 2011, AMEU managed approximately \$108.2 billion in assets. The sub-advisory fee is 0.50% for the EM Equity Fund and 0.70% for the Frontier Markets Fund.

For the fiscal period between September 6, 2011 and October 31, 2011, the Frontier Markets Fund paid sub-advisory fees of \$16,764. The EM Equity Fund has not commenced operations as of the date of this SAI.

Risk Managed Fund

AMFR, a registered investment adviser and an affiliate of the Adviser, serves as the investment subadviser of the Risk Managed Fund pursuant to an investment sub-advisory agreement ("Sub-Advisory Agreement") with the Adviser. AMFR is located at Immeuble IIe de France – 4 place de la Pyramide-92800 Puteaux La Defense 9 in Paris, France. AMFR makes the day-to-day investment decisions and continuously reviews, supervises and administers the Fund's investment program. As of December 31, 2011, AMFR managed approximately \$80.2 billion in assets. For its services to the Fund, AMFR receives a fee from the Adviser based on the average daily net assets of the Fund. This sub-advisory fee is 0.40%. The Risk Managed Fund has not commenced operations as of the date of this SAI.

PORTFOLIO MANAGERS

The Prospectuses identify the individual or individuals who are primarily responsible for the day-to-day management of each of the Funds (the "portfolio manager(s)"). This section of the SAI contains certain additional information about the portfolio manager(s), their compensation, other accounts managed by them, and potential conflicts of interest. There is information in a tabular format, as of December 31, 2011, about the other accounts, if any, in addition to the Funds, over which the portfolio manager(s) also have primary responsibility for day-to-day management.

The tables below show the number of other accounts managed by the portfolio manager(s) and the total assets in those accounts within each of the following categories: registered investment companies, other pooled investment vehicles, and other accounts. For each category of accounts, the tables also show the number of accounts and the total assets in the accounts with respect to which the advisory fee paid by the account holder is based on account performance, if applicable.

Fund Ownership of Portfolio Managers

The portfolio managers did not beneficially own shares of the Funds that they managed as of February 2, 2012.

For each additional account listed in the charts below, the portfolio manager participates in managing the account in the same manner as described in the Prospectus in relation to the Funds.

	Number of Ot	her Accounts Manag	ged and Total	Number of Accounts and Total Assets for Which			
	A	ssets by Account Typ	Advisory Fee is Performance Based				
Name of Portfolio Manager	Registered Investment Companies	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	Other Accounts	Registered Investment Companies	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	Other Accounts	
Guillermo	2	5	10	0	1	6	
Osses	\$59.4 million	\$2,812.6 million	\$4,888.2	\$0	\$991.3 million	\$1,172.5 million	
The Ohm	2	5	10	0	1	6	
Lisa Chua	\$59.4 million	\$2,812.6 million	\$4,888.2	\$0	\$991.3 million	\$1,172.5 million	
Srinivas	2	5	10	0	1	6	
(Vas) Paruchuri	\$59.4 million	\$2,812.6 million	\$4,888.2	\$0	\$991.3 million	\$1,172.5 million	
D:	2	5	10	0	1	6	
Binqi Liu \$59.	\$59.4 million	\$2,812.6 million	\$4,888.2	\$0	\$991.3 million	\$1,172.5 million	
D1.11 X7 1	2	5	10	0	1	6	
Phil Yuhn	\$59.4 million	\$2,812.6 million	\$4,888.2	\$0	\$991.3 million	\$1,172.5 million	

HSBC Global Asset Management (USA) Inc. (Adviser to the EM Debt Fund, EM Local Debt Fund, Total Return Fund)

HSBC Global Asset Management (UK) Limited (Subadviser to the EM Equity Fund and Frontier Markets Fund)

		er Accounts Mana sets by Account Ty	0	Number of Accounts and Total Assets for Which Advisory Fee is Performance Based		
Name of Portfolio Manager	Registered Investment Companies	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	Other Accounts	Registered Investment Companies	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	Other Accounts
Andrew	3	0	1	-	-	-
Brudenell	\$105.13 million	-	\$67.9 million	-	-	-
Nick Timberlake	5	0	0	-	-	-
	\$870.4 million	-	-	-	-	-

HSBC Global Asset Management (France) Limited (Subadviser to the Risk Managed Fund)

	Number of Other Accounts Managed and Total Assets by Account Type			Number of Accounts and Total Assets for Which Advisory Fee is Performance Based		
Name of Portfolio Manager	Registered Investment Companies	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	Other Accounts	Registered Investment Companies	Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	Other Accounts
Muriel	0	62	2	-	-	-
Heitzmann	-	\$1,094 million	\$341 million	-	-	-

Portfolio Manager Compensation Structure

As employees of the Adviser, or affiliates of the Adviser ("HSBC affiliates"), the portfolio managers are compensated by their respective HSBC affiliate, or by the Adviser, for their services. Their compensation has the following components (1) a base salary consisting of a fixed amount, (2) a discretionary bonus, which is paid partially in cash and partially in restricted shares of HSBC Holdings, Ltd., and (3) eligibility for participation in the 401(k) retirement plan and other employee benefits programs generally made available to the Adviser's employees.

The restricted shares are currently awarded on a yearly basis under the HSBC Holdings Ltd. Restricted Share Plan 2000 and are denominated in ordinary shares. The shares earn dividend equivalents but do not have voting rights. Generally, the shares vest in full upon the third anniversary of the date of grant as long as the awardee remains in the employ of the HSBC Group during the restricted period. The shares are taxed at vest and treated as ordinary income.

Amounts paid to the portfolio managers as discretionary bonus and as deferred compensation are paid at the discretion of the relevant manager to whom the portfolio manager reports. Amounts paid as discretionary bonuses and as deferred compensation will vary, based upon the relevant manager's assessment of the portfolio manager's performance, taking into account the relevant business unit's financial performance during the most recent fiscal year. Key factors affecting decisions concerning discretionary compensation under the deferred compensation plan are the Adviser's profitability, individual performance, teamwork and total compensation of the employee relative to the market for similarly qualified individuals.

Potential Conflicts of Interest

Actual or potential conflicts of interest may arise from the fact that the Adviser (which for purposes of this discussion includes AMEU and AMFR) and the portfolio managers of the Funds have day-to-day management responsibilities with respect to accounts of clients other than the Funds ("Other Clients"). The Adviser has developed policies and procedures intended to detect, manage and/or mitigate the types of conflicts of interest described below. Although there can be no guarantee that any such policies or procedures will detect each and every situation in which a conflict of interest arises, the Adviser endeavors to ensure that all of its clients are treated fairly.

The Adviser may receive different compensation from Other Clients including clients that may pay the Adviser higher fees, including performance fees. This may create a potential conflict of interest for the Adviser or its portfolio managers by providing an incentive to favor these Other Clients when, for example, allocating securities transactions. The Adviser may have an incentive to allocate securities that are expected to increase in value to these favored clients. Initial public offerings, in particular, are frequently of very limited availability. In order to mitigate these types of conflicts, the Adviser has policies and procedures that provide for the allocation of securities transactions on a pro rata basis among the Adviser's clients for whom participation in such transaction is deemed appropriate by the Adviser.

Other potential conflicts with respect to the allocation of trades include the perception that the Adviser may be causing a client to participate in an offering not appropriate for such client so as to increase the Adviser's overall allocation of securities in that offering in order to, for example, gain favor with a particular underwriter with whom the Adviser or its affiliates hope to engage in unrelated transactions. A potential conflict of interest also may be perceived to arise if transactions in one account closely follow related transactions in a different account, such as when a purchase increases the value of securities previously purchased by another account or when a sale in one account lowers the sale price received in a sale by a second account. Because the Adviser could be seen as harming the performance of certain client accounts (i.e., those clients not engaging in short sale transactions) for the benefit of the accounts engaging in short sales if the short sales cause the market value of the securities to fall. Similarly, the Adviser could be seen as benefiting those accounts that may engage in short sales through the sale of securities held by other clients to the extent that such sales reduce the cost to cover the short positions.

The Adviser and its affiliates may at times give advice or take action with respect to accounts that differs from the advice given other accounts. These differences result, from among other things, variations in account characteristics such as size, cash position, tax situation, risk tolerance or investment restrictions. As a result, a particular security may be bought or sold only for certain clients even though it could have been bought or sold for other clients at the same time. Likewise, a particular security may be bought for one or more clients when one or more other clients are selling the security. To the extent that the Adviser does take similar action with respect to different clients, it should be noted that simultaneous portfolio transactions in the same security by multiple clients may tend to decrease the prices received by clients for sales of such securities and increase the prices paid by clients for purchases of such securities. If an order on behalf of more than one account cannot be fully executed under prevailing market conditions, securities may be allocated among the different accounts on a basis that the Adviser considers equitable. Situations may occur where the Funds could be disadvantaged because of the investment activities conducted by the Adviser or its affiliates for other investment accounts.

Employees of the Adviser, including portfolio managers, may engage in personal trading, subject to the Adviser's Code of Ethics. In addition to the general conflicts noted above, personal trading by employees may create apparent or actual conflicts to the extent that one or more employees personally benefit or appear to benefit from trading by clients in similar securities. The Adviser's Code of Ethics is designed to mitigate these conflicts by requiring, among other things, pre-clearance of certain trades and the reporting of certain types of securities transactions.

Because portfolio managers of the Adviser manage multiple client accounts, portfolio managers may devote unequal time and attention to the portfolio management of client accounts. For example, an apparent conflict could arise if a portfolio manager is perceived to be devoting greater time and attention to an account which pays the Adviser higher fees. Although the Adviser does not specifically track the time and attention each portfolio manager spends on each account he or she manages, the Adviser does closely monitor the performance of all of its clients to ensure, to the extent possible, the portfolio managers have adequate resources to manage effectively all accounts.

DISTRIBUTION PLAN - CLASS A SHARES ONLY

A Distribution Plan has been adopted by the Trust (the "Distribution Plan") with respect to the Class A Shares (the "Class A Plan") of the Funds. The Distribution Plan provides that it may not be amended to increase materially the costs which the Class A Shares may bear pursuant to the Class A Plan without approval by shareholders of the Class A Shares and that any material amendments of the Distribution Plan must be approved by the Board of Trustees, and by the Independent Trustees of the Trust who have no direct or indirect financial interest in the operation of the Distribution Plan or in any related agreement ("Qualified Trustees"), by vote cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of considering such amendments. The selection and nomination of the Qualified Trustees has been committed to the discretion of the Independent Trustees. The Distribution Plan has been approved, and is subject to annual approval, by the Board of Trustees and by the Qualified Trustees, by vote cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on the Distribution Plan. The Board approved the Distribution Plan to stimulate sales of shares of the Funds in the face of competition from a variety of other investment companies and financial products. In approving the Distribution Plan, the Board considered the potential advantages to shareholders of the Funds of continued growth of the asset bases of the Funds (including greater liquidity, more investment flexibility and possible achievement of greater economicies of scale). In adopting the Class A Plan, the Trustees considered alternative methods to distribute the Class A Shares and to reduce the class's expense ratio and concluded that there was a reasonable likelihood that the Distribution Plan will benefit its class and shareholders. The Distribution Plan is terminable with respect to the Class A Shares at any time by a vote of a majority of the Qualified Trustees or by vote of the holders of a majority of that class.

For the fiscal periods ended October 31, 2011, the Funds paid the following for distribution expenses:

Fund ⁽¹⁾	<u>2011</u>
EM Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$0
EM Local Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$0
Frontier Markets Fund ⁽³⁾	\$0

⁽¹⁾ The Emerging Markets Equity Fund, Risk Managed Fund and Total Return Fund

have not commenced operations as of the date of this SAI.

⁽²⁾ From April 7, 2011 through October 31, 2011.

⁽³⁾ From September 6, 2011 through October 31, 2011.

THE DISTRIBUTOR

Foreside Distribution Services, L.P., a member of FINRA, whose address is 10 High Street, Suite 302, Boston, MA 02110, serves as distributor to the Funds under a Distribution Contract with the Trust. Under the terms of the Distribution Contract, Foreside provides services to the Trust related to, among other things, the review and approval of Fund selling agreements, the review of the Funds' marketing materials, and the compensation of third party intermediaries. Foreside and its affiliates also serve as distributor to other investment companies. The Distributor may make payments to broker-dealers for their services in distributing shares of the Funds.

Pursuant to the Distribution Plan adopted by the Trust, the Distributor is reimbursed from the Funds monthly for costs and expenses incurred by the Distributor in connection with the distribution of Class A Shares of the Funds and for the provision of certain shareholder services with respect to these Shares. Payments to the Distributor are for various types of activities, including: (1) payments to broker-dealers which advise shareholders regarding the purchase, sale or retention of Class A Shares of the Funds and which provide shareholders with personal services and account maintenance services ("service fees"), (2) payments to employees of the Distributor, and (3) printing and advertising expenses. Pursuant to the Class A Plan, the amount of the Distributor's reimbursement from a Fund may not exceed on an annual basis 0.25% of the average daily net assets of the Fund represented by Class A Shares outstanding during the period for which payment is being made. Salary expenses of Foreside personnel who are responsible for marketing

shares of the various series of the Trust may be allocated to such series on the basis of average net assets; travel expenses are allocated to, or divided among, the particular series for which it is incurred.

The distribution fees collected from the Funds by Foreside are used to pay commissions for the sale of Fund shares. The Funds are not liable for distribution and shareholder servicing expenditures made by the Distributor in any given year in excess of the maximum amount payable under the Distribution Plans in that year.

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES PLAN

The Trust has adopted a Shareholder Services Plan which provides that the Trust may obtain the services of one or more Shareholder Servicing Agents that shall, as agents for their customers who purchase the Funds' Class A Shares perform certain shareholder account, administrative and service functions for such customers, and may enter into agreements providing for the payment of fees for such services. The Shareholder Services Plan continues in effect indefinitely if such continuance is specifically approved at least annually by a vote of both a majority of the Trustees and a majority of the Independent Trustees who have no direct or indirect financial interest in the operation of the Shareholder Services Plan or in any agreement related to such Plan ("Qualified Trustees"). The Shareholder Services Plan may be terminated at any time by a vote of a majority of the Qualified Trustees or with respect to the Class A Shares by a majority vote of shareholders of that class. The Shareholder Services Plan may not be amended to increase materially the amount of permitted expenses thereunder with respect to the Class A Shares without the approval of a majority of shareholders of that class, and may not be materially amended in any case without a vote of the majority of both the Trustees and the Qualified Trustees. See "Shareholder Servicing Agents," below.

ADMINISTRATOR AND SUB-ADMINISTRATOR

Pursuant to an Administration Services Agreement dated as of July 1, 2005, as amended on June 4, 2007 and January 1, 2009, the Adviser serves as the Trust's administrator (the "Administrator"), and in that role oversees and coordinates the activities of other service providers, and monitors certain aspects of the Trusts' operations. Pursuant to a Sub-Administration Services Agreement dated January 1, 2009 (the "Master Services Agreement"), the Administrator has retained Citi, whose address is 3435 Stelzer Road, Columbus, Ohio 43219-3035, as sub-administrator (the "Sub-Administrator"). Citi served as the administrator (rather than sub-administrator), through June 30, 2006. Management and administrative services of the Administrator and Sub-Administrator include providing office space, equipment and clerical personnel to the Funds and supervising custodial, auditing, valuation, bookkeeping, regulatory and dividend disbursing services.

Pursuant to the Master Services Agreement, Citi provides the Funds with various services, which include subadministration of the Trusts and the Funds. Citi's services also include certain regulatory and compliance services, as well as fund accounting and transfer agency services. The Administrator and Citi provide certain persons satisfactory to the Boards of Trustees to serve as officers of the Trusts. Such officers, as well as certain other employees of the Trusts, may be directors, officers or employees of the Administrator, Citi or their affiliates. Citi may waive a portion of its fee.

The Administration Services Agreement was renewed for the one (1) year period ending December 31, 2012, and may be terminated upon not more than 60 days written notice by either party. The Agreement provides that the Administrator shall not be liable to the Trusts except for willful misfeasance, bad faith or negligence in the performance of its duties or by reason of reckless disregard of its obligations and duties under the Agreement. The Master Services Agreement and Sub-Administration Services Agreement provide that Citi shall not be liable to the Trusts except for willful misfeasance, bad faith or negligence in the performance of its duties or by reason of reckless disregard of its obligations and duties or by reason of reckless disregard of its obligations and duties or by reason of reckless disregard of its obligations and duties or by reason of reckless disregard of its obligations and duties or by reason of reckless disregard of its obligations and duties or by reason of reckless disregard of its obligations and duties or by reason of reckless disregard of its obligations and duties or by reason of reckless disregard of its obligations and duties under the Agreements.

The administration fee primarily consists of an asset-based fee accrued daily and paid monthly at an annual rate of:

\$0-\$10 billion	0.0550%
\$10 billion - \$20 billion	0.0350%
\$20 billion - \$50 billion	0.0275%
In excess of \$50 billion	0.0250%

The sub-administration fee primarily consists of an asset-based fee payable to Citi on the first business day of each month, or at such times as Citi shall request, at an annual rate of:

Up to \$10 billion	0.0350%
\$10 billion - \$20 billion	
\$20 billion - \$50 billion	0.0075%
In excess of \$50 billion	0.0050%

The fee rate and breakpoints are determined on the basis of the aggregate average daily net assets of the HSBC Family of Funds. The total administration fee to be paid is allocated to each of the funds in the fund complex based upon its proportionate share of the aggregate net assets of the fund complex, and then allocated to each class of shares on a class basis.

Fund ⁽¹⁾	<u>2011</u>		
EM Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$8,688		
EM Local Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$6,848		
Frontier Markets Fund ⁽³⁾	\$439		
 ⁽¹⁾ The Emerging Markets Equity Fund, Risk Managed Fund and Total Return Fund have not commenced operations as of the date of this SAI. ⁽²⁾ From April 7, 2011 through October 31, 2011. ⁽³⁾ From September 6, 2011 through October 31, 2011. 			

TRANSFER AGENT

Under the Master Services Agreement, Citi acts as transfer agent ("Transfer Agent") for the Trust. The Transfer Agent maintains an account for each shareholder of record, performs other transfer agency functions, and acts as dividend disbursing agent for the Trust. The principal business address of Citi is 3435 Stelzer Road, Columbus, OH 43219.

CUSTODIAN

Pursuant to a Custodian Agreement, Northern Trust Company, 50 South LaSalle Street, Chicago, Illinois 60603, acts as the custodian ("Custodian") of each Fund's assets. The Custodian's responsibilities include safeguarding and controlling each Fund's cash and securities, handling the receipt and delivery of securities, determining income and collecting interest on each Fund's investments, maintaining books of original entry for portfolio and fund accounting and other required books and accounts in order to calculate the daily NAV of Shares of each Fund. Securities held for each Fund may be deposited into the Federal Reserve-Treasury Department Book Entry System or the Depository Trust Company. The Custodian does not determine the investment policies of the Funds or decide which securities will be purchased or sold for a Fund. For its services, the Custodian receives such compensation as may from time to time be agreed upon by it and the Trust.

FUND ACCOUNTING AGENT

Pursuant to the Master Services Agreement, Citi also serves as fund accounting agent to each Fund. For the fiscal periods ended October 31, 2011, the aggregate amount of fund accounting fees paid by the Funds was:

Fund ⁽¹⁾	<u>2011</u>
EM Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$33,827
EM Local Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$30,682
Frontier Markets Fund ⁽³⁾	\$2,608
 ⁽¹⁾ The Emerging Markets Equity Fund, Risk Managed Fur have not commenced operations as of the date of this SA ⁽²⁾ From April 7, 2011 through October 31, 2011. 	
⁽³⁾ From September 6, 2011 through October 31, 2011.	

SHAREHOLDER SERVICING AGENTS

The Trust has entered into a shareholder servicing agreement (a "Servicing Agreement") with certain Servicing Agents, including the Adviser, pursuant to which the Shareholder Servicing Agent, as agent for its customers, among other things: answers customer inquiries regarding account status and history, the manner in which purchases and redemptions of shares of the Funds may be effected and certain other matters pertaining to the Funds; assists shareholders in designating and changing dividend options, account designations and addresses; provides necessary personnel and facilities to establish and maintain shareholder accounts and records; assists in processing purchase and redemption transactions; arranges for the wiring of funds; transmits and receives funds in connection with customer orders to purchase or redeem Shares; verifies and guarantees shareholder signatures in connection with redemption orders and transfers and changes in shareholder-designated accounts; furnishes (either separately or on an integrated basis with other reports sent to a shareholder by a Shareholder Servicing Agent) monthly and year-end statements and confirmations of purchases and redemptions; transmits, on behalf of the Trust, proxy statements, annual reports, updated prospectuses and other communications from the Trust to the Funds' shareholders; receives, tabulates and transmits to the Trust proxies executed by shareholders with respect to meetings of shareholders of the Funds or the Trust; and provides such other related services as the Trust or a shareholder may request. Each Fund is authorized to pay a shareholder servicing fee up to 0.25%, on an annual basis, of the Fund's average daily net assets attributable to Class A Shares.

The Trust understands that some Shareholder Servicing Agents also may impose certain conditions on their customers, subject to the terms of the Prospectus, in addition to or different from those imposed by the Trust, such as requiring a different minimum initial or subsequent investment, account fees (a fixed amount per transaction processed), compensating balance requirements (a minimum dollar amount a customer must maintain in order to obtain the services offered), or account maintenance fees (a periodic charge based on a percentage of the assets in the account or of the dividends paid on those assets). Each Shareholder Servicing Agent has agreed to transmit to its customers who are holders of Shares appropriate prior written disclosure of any fees that it may charge them directly and to provide written notice at least 30 days prior to the imposition of any transaction fees. Conversely, the Trust understands that certain Shareholder Servicing Agents may credit to the accounts of their customers from whom they are already receiving other fees amounts not exceeding such other fees or the fees received by the Shareholder Servicing Agent from the Funds with respect to those accounts.

For the fiscal periods ended October 31, 2011, each Fund paid the following shareholder servicing expenses:

Fund ⁽¹⁾	<u>2011</u>		
EM Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$198		
EM Local Debt Fund ⁽²⁾	\$1,026		
Frontier Markets Fund ⁽³⁾	\$37		
⁽¹⁾ The Emerging Markets Equity Fund, Risk Managed Fund and Total Return Fund			
have not commenced operations as of the date of this S	SAI.		
⁽²⁾ From April 7, 2011 through October 31, 2011.			
⁽³⁾ From September 6, 2011 through October 31, 2011.			

FEDERAL BANKING LAW

The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 repealed certain provisions of the Glass-Steagall Act that had previously restricted the ability of banks and their affiliates to engage in certain mutual fund activities. Nevertheless, HSBC Bank's and the Adviser's activities remain subject to, and may be limited by, applicable federal banking law and regulations. HSBC Bank and the Adviser believe that they possess the legal authority to perform the services for the Funds contemplated by the Prospectus, this SAI, and the Advisory Contract without violation of applicable statutes and regulations. If future changes in these laws and regulations were to limit the ability of HSBC Bank and the Adviser to perform these services, the Board of Trustees of the Trust would review the relationship with HSBC Bank and the Adviser and consider taking all action necessary in the circumstances, which could include recommending to shareholders the selection of another qualified advisor or, if that course of action appeared impractical, that a Fund be liquidated.

EXPENSES

Except for expenses paid by the Adviser and the Distributor, each Fund bears all the costs of its operations. Expenses attributable to a class ("Class Expenses") shall be allocated to that class only. Class Expenses with respect to the Class A Shares, must include payments made pursuant to their respective Distribution Plan and the Shareholder Services Plan. In the event a particular expense is not reasonably allocable by class or to a particular class, it shall be treated as a Fund expense or a Trust expense. Trust expenses directly related to a Fund are charged to the Fund; other expenses are allocated proportionally among all the portfolios of each Trust in relation to the NAV of the portfolios.

DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE

The NAV of each of the shares is determined once each day at the close of trading on the New York Stock Exchange ("Exchange"), normally at 4 p.m. Eastern time on days the Exchange is open. The Exchange is generally not open, and the Funds do not price their shares, on most national holidays and on Good Friday.

Investments of the Funds for which there are readily available and reliable market quotes or for which independent pricing service pricing is appropriate are valued as follows:

General

All securities and other investments are valued based on the market quotes from the broadest and most representative market for the securities, or such other methodologies as are set forth below, including prices provided by approved independent pricing services. All valuations are obtained as of the time NAV is calculated on each Fund business day. Any securities and other investments that cannot be priced according the methodologies set forth below will be valued in accordance with fair valuation methodologies set forth in the Prospectus and applicable guidance on fair valuation. In this regard, if a broker, dealer or market-maker quote is obtained but is reasonably believed not to reflect market value based on all data available (e.g., it is an outlier as compared to other quotes), it may be discarded.

Equity securities

 \triangleright Exchange traded, domestic equity securities are valued at the last sales price on a national securities exchange or, in the absence of recorded sales, at the readily available closing bid price on such exchange.

> Domestic equity securities that are not traded on an exchange are valued at the quoted bid price in the over-the-counter market.

 \succ Exchange traded, foreign equity securities are valued in the appropriate currency at the last quoted sale price.

► Foreign equity securities that are not exchange traded are valued in the appropriate currency at the average of the quoted bid and asked prices in the over-the-counter market.

Debt securities

> Debt securities with remaining maturities of less than 60 days may be valued at amortized cost or at original cost plus interest.

> Other debt securities are valued at the bid price as of the time NAV is determined, as determined by a pricing service that determines valuations based upon market transactions for normal, institutional-size trading units of similar securities, as well as yield, quality, coupon rate, maturity, type of issue, trading characteristics and other market data, without exclusive reliance on quoted prices or exchange or over-the-counter prices.

Registered investment companies

Shares of exchange traded and closed-end registered investment companies are valued in the same manner as other equity securities.

Mutual funds are valued at their NAVs, as reported to the investment adviser or its agent.

Foreign currencies

➢ Foreign currencies are valued at the last quoted foreign exchange bid quotation against the U.S. dollar from an approved independent pricing service.

 \succ The value of Fund assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are translated into their U.S. dollar equivalent values at such latest foreign exchange bid quotation.

Futures contracts

 \succ Futures contracts are valued at their settlement price on the exchange on which they are traded.

Foreign currency forward contracts

Foreign currency forward contracts are valued at the current day's interpolated foreign exchange rate, as calculated using the current day's spot rate, and the thirty, sixty, ninety and one-hundred eighty day forward rates and converted to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate of such currencies against the U.S. dollar, as of the close of regular trading on the New York Stock Exchange (usually 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time), as provided by an approved independent pricing service.

Repurchase agreements

Repurchase agreements are valued at original cost.

Derivatives

Swap Agreements (other than equity index swaps) are valued:

(a) using a valuation provided by an approved independent pricing service.

(b) in the absence of such a valuation, the price at which the counterparty would settle or repurchase the instrument.

(c) if a price is not available from an approved pricing agent or counterparty, based upon quotations obtained from broker-dealers or market makers.

(i) If prices are available from two or more dealers, brokers or market makers, the value shall be the mean of the quotations obtained from these sources.

(ii) If prices are available from only one dealer, broker or market maker, the value shall be the quotation provided.

Equity Index Swaps

Equity index swap contracts are valued at the closing price of the respective index mathematically based on prices for the index's constituent securities provided by one or more independent pricing services.

> Other over the counter ("OTC") traded derivatives.

(a) Options and other derivative contracts (other than swaps as set forth above) on securities, currencies and other financial instruments traded in the OTC market are valued at prices supplied by an approved independent pricing service.

(b) In the absence of such a value, such derivatives contracts are valued at the marked to-market price (or the evaluated price if a marked-to-market price is not available) provided by the broker-dealer with which the option was traded (who may also be the counterparty).

Interest income on long-term obligations in a Fund's portfolio is determined on the basis of interest accrued plus amortization of "original issue discount" (generally, the difference between issue price and stated redemption price at maturity) and premiums (generally, the excess of purchase price over stated redemption price at maturity). Interest income on short-term obligations is determined on the basis of interest accrued plus amortization of premium.

The accounting records of a Fund are maintained in U.S. dollars. The market value of investment securities, other assets and liabilities and forward contracts denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the prevailing exchange rates at the end of the period. Purchases and sales of securities, income receipts, and expense payments are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the respective dates of such transactions. Reported net realized gains and losses on foreign currency transactions represent net gains and losses from sales and maturities of forward currency contracts, disposition of foreign currencies, currency gains and losses realized between the trade and settlement dates on securities transactions and the difference between the amount of net investment income accrued and the U.S. dollar amount actually received.

The problems inherent in making a good faith determination of value are recognized in the codification effected by SEC Financial Reporting Release No. 1 ("FRR 1" (formerly Accounting Series Release No. 113)) which concludes that there is "no automatic formula" for calculating the value of restricted securities. It recommends that the best method simply is to consider all relevant factors before making any calculation. According to FRR 1 such factors would include consideration of the type of security involved, financial statements, cost at date of purchase, size of holding, discount from market value of unrestricted securities of the same class at the time of purchase, special reports prepared by analysts, information as to any transactions or offers with respect to the security, existence of merger proposals or tender offers affecting the security, price and extent of public trading in similar securities of the issuer or comparable companies, and other relevant matters.

To the extent that a Fund purchases securities that are restricted as to resale or for which current market quotations are not available, the Adviser will value such securities based upon all relevant factors as outlined in FRR 1.

Subject to the Trust's compliance with applicable regulations, the Trust on behalf of each Fund have reserved the right to pay the redemption or repurchase price of shares, either totally or partially, by a distribution in-kind of portfolio securities (instead of cash), as applicable. The securities so distributed would be valued at the same amount as that assigned to them in calculating the NAV for the shares being sold. If a shareholder received a distribution in-kind, the shareholder could incur brokerage or other charges in converting the securities to cash.

PURCHASE OF SHARES

Shares may be purchased through the Distributor, Shareholder Servicing Agents or Securities Brokers. Shares may be purchased at their NAV next determined after an order is transmitted to and accepted by the Transfer Agent or is received by a Shareholder Servicing Agent or a Securities Broker if it is transmitted to and accepted by the Transfer Agent. Purchases are effected on the same day the purchase order is received by the Transfer Agent provided such order is received prior to 4:00 p.m., New York time, on any day in which regular trading occurs on the New York

Stock Exchange ("Fund Business Day"). Each Shareholder Servicing Agent or Securities Broker is responsible for and required to promptly forward orders for shares to the Transfer Agent.

All purchase payments are invested in full and fractional Shares. The Trust reserves the right to cease offering Shares for sale at any time or to reject any order for the purchase of Shares.

An investor may purchase Shares through the Distributor directly or by authorizing his Shareholder Servicing Agent or Securities Broker to purchase such Shares on his behalf through the Transfer Agent.

Certain clients of the Adviser whose assets would be eligible for purchase by the Funds may purchase shares of the Trusts with such assets. Assets purchased by the Funds will be subject to valuation and other procedures by the Board of Trustees.

The following information supplements and should be read in conjunction with the sections in the Funds' Prospectuses entitled "Purchasing and Adding to Your Shares" and "Distribution Arrangements/Sales Charges." The Prospectuses contain a general description of how investors may buy shares of the Funds and states whether a Fund offers more than one class of shares. Class A Shares are generally sold with a sales charge payable at the time of purchase.

When purchasing Fund shares, you must specify which Class is being purchased.

Shares of the Funds are offered on a continuous basis at NAV, plus any applicable sales charge, by the Distributor as an investment vehicle for institutions, corporations, fiduciaries and individuals.

The sales load on Class A Shares does not apply in any instance to reinvested dividends or distributions.

From time to time, dealers who receive dealer discounts and broker commissions from the Distributor may reallow all or a portion of such dealer discounts and broker commissions to other dealers or brokers. The Distributor may also provide additional compensation to dealers in connection with sales of shares of the Funds. Dealers may not use sales of a Fund's Shares to qualify for the compensation to the extent such may be prohibited by the laws of any state or any self-regulatory agency, such as FINRA. None of the aforementioned compensation is paid for by the Funds or their shareholders.

Stock certificates will not be issued with respect to the shares. The Transfer Agent shall keep accounts upon the book of each Trust for recordholders of such shares.

EXCHANGE PRIVILEGE

By contacting the Transfer Agent or his Shareholder Servicing Agent or his Securities Broker, a shareholder of each Fund may exchange some or all of his Shares for shares of a corresponding class of one or more of the HSBC Funds. By contacting the Transfer Agent or his Shareholder Servicing Agent or his Securities Broker, a shareholder of the Class A Shares may be exchanged without a sales charge at NAV for Shares of the same class offered with the same or lower sales charge by any of the Trusts' other Funds. Class I Shares and Class S Shares may be exchanged for Shares of the same class offered with the same or lower sales charge by any of the Trusts' other Funds at NAV without a front-end sales charge provided that the amount to be exchanged meets the applicable minimum investment requirements. Exchanges for Shares with a higher sales charge may be made upon payment of the sales charge differential.

An investor will receive Class A Shares of a Fund in exchange for Class A Shares of other HSBC Funds, unless the investor is eligible to receive Class D Shares of the Money Market Funds, in which case the investor will receive Class D Shares of a Money Market Fund in exchange for Class A Shares of an HSBC Fund. An exchange may result in a change in the number of Shares held, but not in the value of such Shares immediately after the exchange. Each exchange involves the redemption of the Shares to be exchanged and the purchase of the shares of the other HSBC Funds, which may produce a gain or loss for tax purposes.

The exchange privilege (or any aspect of it) may be changed or discontinued upon 60 days written notice to shareholders and is available only to shareholders in states in which such exchanges may be legally made. A

shareholder considering an exchange should obtain and read the prospectus of the other HSBC Funds and consider the differences in investment objectives and policies before making any exchange. It should also be noted that the Funds impose a redemption fee of 2.00% of the total redemption amount (calculated at market value) if you sell or exchange your shares after holding them for less than 30 days. See "Redemption Fee."

An exchange is considered a sale of shares and may result in a capital gain or loss for federal income tax purposes. A Shareholder wishing to exchange his or her Shares may do so by contacting the Trust at 800-782-8183, by contacting his or her broker-dealer or by providing written instruction to the Distributor.

IN-KIND PURCHASES

The Trust, in its discretion, may permit purchases of Fund shares by means of in-kind contributions of portfolio securities under certain circumstances. An in-kind contribution must be made in the form of securities that are permissible investments for the Funds as described in the Prospectus. In connection with an in-kind securities purchase, the Funds will require, among other things, that the securities be valued in the same manner as they would be valued for purposes of computing a Fund's NAV; that the Funds receive satisfactory assurances that they will have good and marketable title to the securities received by them; and that the securities be in proper form for transfer to the Funds. In addition, the Funds generally will not accept securities of any issuer unless they are liquid, have a readily ascertainable market value, and are not subject to restrictions on resale.

The Funds will not be liable for any brokerage commission or fee (except for customary transfer fees) in connection with an in-kind purchase of Fund shares. Your broker may impose a fee in connection with processing your in-kind purchase of Fund shares. An investor contemplating an in-kind purchase of Fund shares should consult his or her tax adviser to determine the tax consequences under Federal and state law of making such a purchase.

AUTOMATIC INVESTMENT PLAN

The Trust offers a plan for regularly investing specified dollar amounts (\$25.00 minimum in monthly, quarterly, semiannual or annual intervals) in the Funds. If an Automatic Investment Plan is selected, subsequent investments will be automatic and will continue until such time as the Trust and the investor's bank are notified in writing to discontinue further investments. Due to the varying procedures to prepare, process and forward the bank withdrawal information to the Trust, there may be a delay between the time of bank withdrawal and the time the money reaches the Funds. The investment in the Funds will be made at the NAV per share determined on the Fund Business Day that both the check and the bank withdrawal data are received in required form by the Transfer Agent. Further information about the Automatic Investment Plan may be obtained from Citi at the telephone number listed on the front cover.

For further information on how to purchase Shares from the Distributor, an investor should contact the Distributor directly (see "The Distributor" for address and phone number).

PURCHASES THROUGH A SHAREHOLDER SERVICING AGENT OR A SECURITIES BROKER

Shares are being offered to the public, to customers of a Shareholder Servicing Agent and to customers of a Securities Broker. Shareholder Servicing Agents and Securities Brokers may offer services to their customers, including specialized procedures for the purchase and redemption of Shares, such as pre- authorized or automatic purchase and redemption programs. Each Shareholder Servicing Agent and Securities Broker may establish its own terms, conditions and charges, including limitations on the amounts of transactions, with respect to such services. Charges for these services may include fixed annual fees, account maintenance fees and minimum account balance requirements. The effect of any such fees will be to reduce the net return on the investment of customers of that Shareholder Servicing Agent or Securities Broker. Conversely, certain Servicing Agents may (although they are not required by the Trust to do so) credit to the accounts of their customers from whom they are already receiving other fees amounts not exceeding such other fees or the fees received by the Servicing Agent and Securities Broker from the Funds, which will have the effect of increasing the net return on the investment of such customers of those Servicing Agents and Securities Brokers.

Shareholder Servicing Agents and Securities Brokers may transmit purchase payments on behalf of their customers by wire directly to the Funds' custodian bank by following the procedures described above.

For further information on how to direct a Securities Broker or a Shareholder Servicing Agent to purchase Shares, an investor should contact his Securities Broker or his Shareholder Servicing Agent.

SALES CHARGES

CLASS A SHARES

The public offering price of the Class A Shares of the Funds equals NAV plus the applicable sales charge. The Distributor receives this sales charge and may reallow it as dealer discounts and brokerage commissions as follows:

Emerging Markets Equity Fund, Frontier Markets Fund, and Risk Managed Fund

Size of Transaction at Offering Price	Sales Charges as a Percentage of Offering Price	Percentage of Net Amount Invested
Less than \$50,000	5.00%	5.26%
\$50,000 but less than \$100,000	4.50%	4.71%
\$100,000 but less than \$250,000	3.75%	3.90%
\$250,000 but less than \$500,000	2.50%	2.56%
\$500,000 but less than \$1,000,000	2.00%	2.04%
\$1,000,000 and over	1.00%	1.01%

Emerging Markets Debt Fund, Emerging Markets Local Debt Fund, and Total Return Fund

Size of Transaction at Offering Price	Sales Charges as a Percentage of Offering Price	Percentage of Net Amount Invested
Less than \$50,000	4.75%	4.99%
\$50,000 but less than \$100,000	4.25%	4.44%
\$100,000 but less than \$250,000	3.50%	3.63%
\$250,000 but less than \$500,000	2.50%	2.56%
\$500,000 but less than \$1,000,000	2.00%	2.04%
\$1,000,000 and over	1.00%	1.01%

SALES CHARGE WAIVERS

The Distributor may waive sales charges for the purchase of Class A Shares of the Funds by or on behalf of: (1) purchasers for whom HSBC or one of its affiliates acts in a fiduciary, advisory, custodial or similar capacity, (2) employees and retired employees (including spouses, children and parents of employees and retired employees) of HSBC, and any affiliates thereof, (3) Trustees of the Trusts, (4) directors and retired directors (including spouses and children of directors and retired directors) of HSBC and any affiliates thereof, (5) purchasers who use proceeds from an account for which HSBC or one of its affiliates acts in a fiduciary, advisory, custodial or similar capacity, to purchase Class A Shares of the Funds, (6) brokers, dealers and agents who have a sales agreement with the Distributor, and their employees (and the immediate family members of such individuals), (7) investment advisers or financial planners that have entered into an agreement with the Distributor and that place trades for their own accounts or the accounts of eligible clients and that charge a fee for their services, and clients of such investment advisers or financial planners who place trades for their own accounts if such accounts are linked to the master account of the investment adviser or financial planner on the books and records of a broker or agent that has entered into an agreement with the Distributor, (8) orders placed on behalf of other investment companies distributed by Foreside or its affiliated companies, and (9) shares purchased by tax-qualified employee benefit plans. The Distributor may also waive sales charges for the purchase of Class A Shares that were subject to a sales charge or sales charges for the purchase of the Funds Class A Shares with the proceeds from the recent redemption of Class B Shares. The purchase must be made within 60 days of the redemption, and the Distributor must be notified in writing by the investor, or by his or her financial institution, at the time the purchase is made. A copy of the investor's account statement showing such redemption must accompany such notice. To receive a sales charge waiver in conjunction with any of the above

categories, shareholders must, at the time of purchase, give the Transfer Agent or the Distributor sufficient information to permit confirmation of qualification.

CONCURRENT PURCHASES

For purposes of qualifying for a lower sales charge, investors have the privilege of combining "concurrent purchases" of Class A Shares of any fund in the HSBC Family of Funds. For example, if a shareholder concurrently purchases Class A Shares in one of the Funds of the Trusts sold with a sales charge at the total public offering price of \$25,000 and Class A Shares in another Fund sold with a sales charge at the total public offering price of \$75,000, the sales charge would be that applicable to a \$100,000 purchase as shown in the appropriate table above. The investor's "concurrent purchases" described above shall include the combined purchases of the investor, the investor's spouse and children under the age of 21 and the purchaser's retirement plan accounts. To receive the applicable public offering price pursuant to this privilege, shareholders must, at the time of purchase, give the Transfer Agent or the Distributor sufficient information to permit confirmation of qualification. This privilege, however, may be modified or eliminated at any time or from time to time by the Trust without notice.

LETTER OF INTENT

An investor may obtain a reduced sales charge by means of a written Letter of Intent, which expresses the intention of such investor to purchase Class A Shares of the Funds at a designated total public offering price within a designated 13-month period. Each purchase of Class A Shares under a Letter of Intent will be made at the NAV plus the sales charge applicable at the time of such purchase to a single transaction of the total dollar amount indicated in the Letter of Intent (the "Applicable Sales Charge"). A Letter of Intent may include purchases of Class A Shares made not more than 90 days prior to the date such investor signs a Letter of Intent; however, the 13-month period during which the Letter of Intent is in effect will begin on the date of the earliest purchase to be included. An investor will receive as a credit against his/her purchase(s) of Class A Shares during this 90-day period at the end of the 13-month period, the difference, if any, between the sales load paid on previous purchases qualifying under the Letter of Intent and the Applicable Sales Charge.

A Letter of Intent is not a binding obligation upon the investor to purchase the full amount indicated. The minimum initial investment under a Letter of Intent is 5% of such amount. Class A Shares purchased with the first 5% of such amount will be held in escrow (while remaining registered in the name of the investor) to secure payment of the higher sales charge applicable to the Class A Shares actually purchased if the full amount indicated is not purchased, and such escrowed Class A Shares, whether paid in cash or reinvested in additional class A Shares, are not subject to escrow. The escrowed Class A Shares will not be available for disposal by the investor until all purchases pursuant to the Letter of Intent have been made or the higher sales charge has been paid. When the full amount indicated has been purchased, the escrow will be released. To the extent that an investor purchases more than the dollar amount indicated in the Letter of Intent and qualifies for a further reduced sales charge, the sales charge will be adjusted for the entire amount purchased at the end of the 13-month period. The difference in sales charge will be used to purchase additional Class A Shares of the Funds at the then current public offering price subject to the rate of sales charge applicable to the actual amount of the aggregate purchases. For further information about Letters of Intent, interested investors should contact the Trust at 1-800-782-8183. This program, however, may be modified or eliminated at any time or from time to time by the Trust without notice.

RIGHT OF ACCUMULATION

Pursuant to the right of accumulation, investors are permitted to purchase Class A Shares of the Funds at the public offering price applicable to the total of: (a) the total public offering price of the Class A Shares of the Funds then being purchased; plus (b) an amount equal to the then current NAV of the "purchaser's combined holdings" of the Class A Shares of the Funds that were subject to a sales charge, and any Class B Shares and/or Class C Shares held. Class A Shares sold to purchasers for whom HSBC or one of its affiliates acts in a fiduciary, advisory, custodial (other than retirement accounts), agency, or similar capacity are not presently subject to a sales charge. The "purchaser's combined holdings" described above shall include the combined holdings of the purchaser, the purchaser's spouse and children under the age of 21 and the purchaser's retirement plan accounts. To receive the applicable public offering price pursuant to the right of accumulation, shareholders must, at the time of purchase, give the Transfer Agent or the

Distributor sufficient information to permit confirmation of qualification. This right of accumulation, however, may be modified or eliminated at any time or from time to time by the Trust without notice.

REDEMPTION OF SHARES

A shareholder may redeem all or any portion of the shares in his account at any time at the NAV next determined after a redemption order in good order is furnished by the shareholder to the Transfer Agent, with respect to shares purchased directly through the Distributor, or to his Securities Broker or his Shareholder Servicing Agent, and is transmitted to and received by the Transfer Agent. Shares may be redeemed without charge and are effected on the same day the redemption order is received by the Transfer Agent provided such order is received prior to the close of trading on the Exchange, on any Fund Business Day. See "Determination of Net Asset Value" above. Shares redeemed earn dividends up to and including the day prior to the day the redemption is effected.

The proceeds of a redemption are normally paid from each Fund in U.S. dollars within a week following the date on which the redemption is effected. The Funds may suspend the right of redemption and postpone for more than seven days the date of payment upon redemption: (i) during periods when the Exchange is closed other than for weekends and certain holidays or when trading on such Exchange is restricted; (ii) during periods in which, as a result of emergency, disposal, or evaluation of the NAV of the portfolio securities is not reasonably practicable; or (iii) for such other periods as the SEC may permit. To be in a position to eliminate excessive expenses, the Trust reserves the right to redeem upon not less than 30 days notice all shares in an account which has a value below \$50, provided that such involuntary redemptions will not result from fluctuations in the value of Fund shares. A shareholder will be allowed to make additional investments prior to the date fixed for redemption to avoid liquidation of the account.

Unless shares have been purchased directly from the Distributor, a shareholder may redeem shares only by authorizing his Securities Broker, if applicable, or his Shareholder Servicing Agent to redeem such Shares on his behalf (since the account and records of such a shareholder are established and maintained by his Securities Broker or his Shareholder Servicing Agent). For further information as to how to direct a Securities Broker or a Shareholder Servicing Agent to redeem shares, a shareholder should contact his Securities Broker or his Shareholder Servicing Agent.

The Board of Trustees of the Trust has adopted Redemption-in-Kind Procedures that provide that redemptions by affiliated shareholders may be satisfied by the distribution of portfolio securities in-kind, reflecting the shareholder's proportionate interest in the relevant Fund, subject to certain adjustments. The Board of Trustees, including a majority of the Trustees who are not interested persons of the Trust, is required under the Procedures to determine no less frequently than quarterly that all redemptions-in-kind to affiliated shareholders made during the preceding quarter (if any) (a) were effected in accordance with the procedures, and (b) did not favor the affiliated shareholder to the detriment of any other shareholder.

SYSTEMATIC WITHDRAWAL PLAN

Any shareholder who owns shares with an aggregate value of \$10,000 or more may establish a Systematic Withdrawal Plan under which he redeems at NAV the number of full and fractional shares that will produce the monthly, quarterly, semi-annual or annual payments specified (minimum \$50.00 per payment). Depending on the amounts withdrawn, systematic withdrawals may deplete the investor's principal. Investors contemplating participation in this Systematic Withdrawal Plan should consult their tax advisers. No additional charge to the shareholder is made for this service.

REDEMPTION FEE

The Funds impose a redemption fee of 2.00% of the total redemption amount (calculated at market value) if you sell or exchange your shares after holding them for less than 30 days.

REDEMPTION OF SHARES PURCHASED DIRECTLY THROUGH THE DISTRIBUTOR

Redemption by Letter. Redemptions may be made by letter to the Transfer Agent specifying the dollar amount or number of shares to be redeemed, account number and the Fund. The letter must be signed in exactly the same way the account is registered (if there is more than one owner of the Shares, all must sign). In connection with a written redemption request, all signatures of all registered owners or authorized parties must be guaranteed by an Eligible

Guarantor Institution, which includes a domestic bank, broker, dealer, credit union, national securities exchange, registered securities association, clearing agency or savings association. The Funds' transfer agent, however, may reject redemption instructions if the guarantor is neither a member nor a participant in a signature guarantee program (currently known as "STAMP," "SEMP," or "NYSE MSP"). Corporations, partnerships, trusts or other legal entities may be required to submit additional documentation.

Redemption by Wire or Telephone. An investor may redeem shares of the Funds by wire or by telephone if he has checked the appropriate box on the Purchase Application or has filed a Telephone Authorization Form with the Trust. These redemptions may be paid from the applicable Fund by wire or by check. The Trust reserves the right to refuse telephone wire redemptions and may limit the amount involved or the number of telephone redemptions. The telephone redemption procedure may be modified or discontinued at any time by the Trust. Instructions for wire redemptions are set forth in the Purchase Application. The Trust employs reasonable procedures to confirm that instructions communicated by telephone are genuine. For instance, the following information must be verified by the shareholder or securities broker at the time a request for a telephone redemption is effected: (1) shareholder's account number; (2) shareholder's social security number; and (3) name and account number of shareholder's designated securities broker or bank. If the Trust fails to follow these or other established procedures, it may be liable for any losses due to unauthorized or fraudulent instructions.

RETIREMENT PLANS

Shares of the Funds are offered in connection with tax-deferred retirement plans. Application forms and further information about these plans, including applicable fees, are available from the Trust or the Sponsor upon request. The tax law governing tax-deferred retirement plans is complex and changes frequently. Before investing in the Funds through one or more of these plans, an investor should consult his or her tax adviser.

INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS ("IRAs")

Shares of the Funds may be used as a funding medium for an IRA. An Internal Revenue Service-approved IRA plan may be available from an investor's Servicing Agent. In any event, such a plan is available from the Sponsor naming Citi as custodian. The minimum initial investment for an IRA is \$250; the minimum subsequent investment is \$100. In general, IRAs are available to individuals who receive compensation or earned income and their spouses whether or not they are active participants in a tax- qualified or Government-approved retirement plan. In general, an IRA contribution by an individual who participates, or whose spouse participates, in a tax-qualified or Government-approved retirement plan may not be deductible, in whole or in part, depending upon the individual's income. Individuals also may establish an IRA to receive a "rollover" contribution of distributions from another IRA or a qualified plan. Tax advice should be obtained before planning a rollover or determining contribution limits.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Investors who are self-employed may purchase shares of the Funds for retirement plans for self-employed persons that are known as defined contribution plans (formerly Keogh or H.R. 10 Plans). HSBC offers a prototype plan for money purchase and profit sharing defined contribution plans. The rules governing these plans are complex, and a tax adviser should be consulted.

SECTION 457 PLAN, 401(K) PLAN, 403(B) PLAN

The Funds may be used as investment vehicles for certain deferred compensation plans provided for by Section 457 of the Code with respect to service for state governments, local governments, rural electric cooperatives and political subdivisions, agencies, instrumentalities, tax-exempt organizations and certain affiliates of such entities. The Funds may also be used as investment vehicles for both 401(k) plans and 403(b) plans.

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

Generally, a Fund's net investment income consists of the interest and dividend income it earns, less expenses. In computing interest income, premiums are not amortized nor are discounts accrued on long-term debt securities in the

Fund, except as required for federal income tax purposes. A Fund's net realized capital gains, if any, are distributed to shareholders annually. Additional distributions are also made to each Fund's shareholders to the extent necessary to avoid application of the 4% non-deductible federal excise tax on certain undistributed income and net capital gains of regulated investment companies. Shares begin accruing dividends on the day they are purchased.

For the EM Debt Fund, EM Local Debt Fund, EM Equity Fund, Frontier Markets Fund, and Total Return Fund, dividends are distributed monthly. For the and the Risk Managed Fund, dividends are distributed annually. Unless a shareholder elects to receive dividends in cash (subject to the policies of the shareholder's Shareholder Servicing Agent or Securities Broker), dividends are distributed in the form of additional full and fractional shares of each Fund.

Dividends substantially equal to a Fund's net investment income earned during the month are distributed in that month to the Fund's shareholders of record.

Unless a shareholder elects to receive dividends in cash (subject to the policies of the shareholder's Shareholder Servicing Agent or Securities Broker), dividends are distributed in the form of additional full and fractional shares of each Fund.

DESCRIPTION OF SHARES, VOTING RIGHTS, AND LIABILITIES

THE TRUST

The Trust's Declaration of Trust permits the Trustees to issue an unlimited number of full and fractional shares of beneficial interest (par value \$0.001 per share) and to divide or combine the shares into a greater or lesser number of shares without thereby changing the proportionate beneficial interests in the Trust. The shares of each series participate equally in the earnings, dividends and assets of the particular series. Currently, the Trusts have 22 series of shares. Each separate series of the Trusts constitutes a separately managed "Fund." The Trusts reserve the right to create additional series of shares. Currently, the Funds issue separate classes of shares as described under "General Information."

Each share of each class of the Funds, if applicable, represents an equal proportionate interest in the Funds with each other share. Shares have no preference, preemptive, conversion or similar rights. Shares when issued are fully paid and non-assessable, except as set forth below. Shareholders are entitled to one vote for each share held on matters on which they are entitled to vote. The Trust is not required and has no current intention to hold annual meetings of shareholders, although the Trust will hold special meetings of Fund shareholders when in the judgment of the Trustees of the Trust it is necessary or desirable to submit matters for a shareholder vote. Shareholders of each series generally vote separately, for example, to approve investment advisory contracts or changes in fundamental investment policies or restrictions, but shareholders of all series may vote together to the extent required under the 1940 Act, such as in the election or selection of Trustees, principal underwriters and accountants for the Trust. Under certain circumstances, the shareholders of one or more series could control the outcome of these votes. Shares of each class of a series represent an equal pro rata interest in such series and, generally, have identical voting, dividend, liquidation, and other rights, preferences, powers, terms and conditions, except that: (a) each class shall have a different designation; (b) each class of shares shall bear any class expenses; and (c) each class shall have exclusive voting rights on any matter submitted to shareholders in which the interests of one class differ from the interests of any other class.

Under the Trust's Declaration of Trust, the Trust is not required to hold annual meetings of Fund shareholders to elect Trustees or for other purposes. It is not anticipated that either the Trust will hold shareholders' meetings unless required by law or its respective Declaration of Trust. In this regard, the Trust will be required to hold a meeting to elect Trustees (i) to fill any existing vacancies on the Board if after filling the vacancy, less than two-thirds of the Trustees then holding office would have been elected by shareholders; or (ii) if, at any time, fewer than a majority of the Trustees have been elected by the shareholders of the Trust. In addition, the Trust's Declaration of Trust provides that the holders of not less than two-thirds of the outstanding shares of the Trustees are required to call a meeting for the purpose of considering the removal of persons serving as Trustee if requested in writing to do so by the holders of not less than 10% of the outstanding shares of the Trust.

The Trust's shares do not have cumulative voting rights, so that the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares may elect the entire Board of Trustees, in which case the holders of the remaining shares would not be able to elect any Trustees.

Shareholders of each Fund have under certain circumstances (e.g., upon application and submission of certain specified documents to the Trustees by a specified number of shareholders) the right to communicate with other shareholders of the Trust in connection with requesting a meeting of shareholders of the Trust for the purpose of removing one or more Trustees. Shareholders of the Trust also have the right to remove one or more Trustees without a meeting by a declaration in writing subscribed to by a specified number of shareholders. Upon liquidation or dissolution of a Fund, shareholders of the Fund would be entitled to share pro rata in the net assets of the Fund's available for distribution to shareholders.

The Trust's Declaration of Trust provides that, at any meeting of shareholders of the Funds or the Trust, a Shareholder Servicing Agent may vote any shares as to which such Shareholder Servicing Agent is the agent of record and which are otherwise not represented in person or by proxy at the meeting, proportionately in accordance with the votes cast by holders of all shares otherwise represented at the meeting in person or by proxy as to which such Shareholder Servicing Agent is the agent of record. Any shares so voted by a Shareholder Servicing Agent will be deemed represented at the meeting for purposes of quorum requirements.

The Trust is an entity of the type commonly known as a "Massachusetts business trust." Under Massachusetts law, shareholders of such a business trust may, under certain circumstances, be held personally liable as partners for its obligations. However, the risk of a shareholder incurring financial loss on account of shareholder liability is limited to circumstances in which both inadequate insurance existed and the Trust itself was unable to meet its obligations.

OWNERSHIP OF THE FUNDS

As of February 2, 2012, the following persons owned of record 5% or more of a Fund or class of shares:

<u>Fund</u>	Percent Owned	Beneficial Owner
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	68.88%	PERSHING LLC, ONE PERSHING PLAZA, PRODUCT SUPPORT 14TH
FUND-CLASS A		FLOOR, JERSEY CITY NJ 07399
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	29.04%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
FUND-CLASS A		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	76.64%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
FUND-CLASS I		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	22.53%	NORTHERN TRUST AS CUSTODIAN, FBO HSBC, A/C 2282319, PO
FUND-CLASS I		BOX 92956
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	100.00%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
FUND-CLASS S		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	93.19%	PERSHING LLC, ONE PERSHING PLAZA, PRODUCT SUPPORT 14TH
DEBT FD-CL A		FLOOR, JERSEY CITY NJ 07399
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	5.32%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
DEBT FD-CL A		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	99.60%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
DEBT FD-CL I		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	100.00%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
DEBT FD-CL S		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018

<u>Fund</u>	Percent Owned	Beneficial Owner
HSBC FRONTIER	79.59%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
MARKETS-CLASS A	/9.39%	ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC FRONTIER	17 (10/	PERSHING LLC, ONE PERSHING PLAZA, PRODUCT SUPPORT 14TH
MARKETS-CLASS A	17.61%	FLOOR, JERSEY CITY NJ 07399
HSBC FRONTIER		HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
MARKETS-CLASS I	100.00%	ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	68.88%	PERSHING LLC, ONE PERSHING PLAZA, PRODUCT SUPPORT 14TH
FUND-CLASS A	00.0070	FLOOR, JERSEY CITY NJ 07399
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	29.04%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
FUND-CLASS A		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		ATTA STEVE SIVILLO, NEW TORK NT 10016
MARKETS DEBT	76.64%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
FUND-CLASS I	/0.0470	ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
		ATTN STEVE STVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING	22.520/	NODTHEDN TRUCT AS CHETODIAN EDG HEDG A/C 2202210 DO
MARKETS DEBT	22.53%	NORTHERN TRUST AS CUSTODIAN, FBO HSBC, A/C 2282319, PO
FUND-CLASS I		BOX 92956
HSBC EMERGING	100.000/	
MARKETS DEBT	100.00%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
FUND-CLASS S		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	93.19%	PERSHING LLC, ONE PERSHING PLAZA, PRODUCT SUPPORT 14TH
DEBT FD-CL A		FLOOR, JERSEY CITY NJ 07399
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	5.32%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
DEBT FD-CL A		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	99.60%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
DEBT FD-CL I		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	100.00%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
DEBT FD-CL S		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC FRONTIER	79.59%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
MARKETS-CLASS A	/9.39%	ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC FRONTIER	17 610/	PERSHING LLC, ONE PERSHING PLAZA, PRODUCT SUPPORT 14TH
MARKETS-CLASS A	17.61%	FLOOR, JERSEY CITY NJ 07399
HSBC FRONTIER	100.000/	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
MARKETS-CLASS I	100.00%	ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	68.88%	PERSHING LLC, ONE PERSHING PLAZA, PRODUCT SUPPORT 14TH
FUND-CLASS A		FLOOR, JERSEY CITY NJ 07399
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	29.04%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
FUND-CLASS A		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	76.64%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
FUND-CLASS I		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
MARKETS DEBT	22.53%	NORTHERN TRUST AS CUSTODIAN, FBO HSBC, A/C 2282319, PO
FUND-CLASS I		BOX 92956
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS DEBT	100.00%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
FUND-CLASS S		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018

<u>Fund</u>	Percent Owned	Beneficial Owner
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	93.19%	PERSHING LLC, ONE PERSHING PLAZA, PRODUCT SUPPORT 14TH
DEBT FD-CL A		FLOOR, JERSEY CITY NJ 07399
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	5.32%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
DEBT FD-CL A		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	99.60%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
DEBT FD-CL I		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC EMERGING		
MARKETS LOCAL	100.00%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
DEBT FD-CL S		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC FRONTIER	79.59%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
MARKETS-CLASS A		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018
HSBC FRONTIER	17 610/	PERSHING LLC, ONE PERSHING PLAZA, PRODUCT SUPPORT 14TH
MARKETS-CLASS A	17.61%	FLOOR, JERSEY CITY NJ 07399
HSBC FRONTIER	100.00%	HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MGMT USA INC, 452 5TH AVE 17TH FLOOR,
MARKETS-CLASS I		ATTN STEVE SIVILLO, NEW YORK NY 10018

TAXATION

Set forth below is a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax issues concerning the Funds and the purchase, ownership, and disposition of Fund shares. This discussion does not purport to be complete or to deal with all aspects of federal income taxation that may be relevant to shareholders in light of their particular circumstances. This discussion is based upon present provisions of the Code, the regulations promulgated thereunder, and judicial and administrative ruling authorities, all of which are subject to change, which change may be retroactive. Prospective investors should consult their own tax adviser with regard to the federal tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, or disposition of Fund shares, as well as the tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, foreign country, or other taxing jurisdiction.

TAX STATUS OF THE FUNDS

The Funds intend to be taxed as a regulated investment company under Subchapter M of the Code. Accordingly, each Fund must, among other things: (a) derive in each taxable year at least 90% of its gross income from dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stock, securities, foreign currencies, net income derived from an interest in a qualified publicly traded partnership or other income derived with respect to its business of investing in such stock, securities or currencies; and (b) diversify its holdings so that, at the end of each fiscal quarter, (i) at least 50% of the value of the Fund's total assets is represented by cash and cash items, U.S. Government securities, the securities of other regulated investment companies and other securities, with such other securities limited, in respect of any one issuer, to an amount not greater than 5% of the value of the Fund's total assets is invested in the securities of any one issuer (other than U.S. Government securities and the securities of such issuer, and (ii) not more than 25% of the value of its total assets is invested in the securities of any one issuer (other than U.S. Government securities and the securities of other regulated investment companies), in two or more issuers that the Fund controls and which are engaged in the same or similar trades or businesses or of one or more qualified publicly traded partnerships.

If for any taxable year a Fund does not qualify for federal tax treatment as a regulated investment company, all of the Fund's net taxable investment income would (unless certain cure provisions apply) be subject to federal and, potentially, state income tax at regular corporate rates without any deduction for distributions to its shareholders. In such event, dividend distributions (including amounts derived from interest on municipal securities) would be taxable to a Fund's shareholders to the extent of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits.

As a regulated investment company, a Fund generally is not subject to U.S. federal income tax on income and gains that it distributes to shareholders, if at least 90% of the Fund's investment company taxable income (which includes,

among other items, dividends, interest and the excess of any net short-term capital gains over net long-term capital losses) for the taxable year is distributed. Each Fund intends to distribute all or substantially all of such income.

Amounts not distributed on a timely basis in accordance with a calendar year distribution requirement are subject to a nondeductible 4% excise tax at the Fund level. To avoid the tax, each Fund must distribute during each calendar year an amount equal to the sum of: (1) at least 98% of its ordinary income (not taking into account any capital gains or losses) for the calendar year; (2) at least 98.2% of its capital gains in excess of its capital losses (adjusted for certain ordinary losses) for a one-year period generally ending on October 31 of the calendar year; and (3) all ordinary income and capital gains for previous years that were not distributed during such years. To avoid application of the excise tax, the Funds intend to make distributions in accordance with the calendar year distribution requirement.

A distribution will be treated as paid on December 31 of a calendar year if it is declared by a Fund in October, November or December of that year with a record date in such a month and paid by the Fund during January of the following year. Such a distribution will be taxable to shareholders in the calendar year in which the distribution is declared, rather than the calendar year in which it is received.

DISTRIBUTIONS IN GENERAL

Distributions of investment company taxable income are generally taxable to a U.S. shareholder as ordinary income, whether paid in cash or shares (see below for information concerning reduced rates of tax for certain dividends exempt-interest dividends and capital gain dividends). Dividends paid by a Fund to a corporate shareholder, to the extent such dividends are attributable to dividends received by the Fund from U.S. corporations, may, subject to limitation, be eligible for the dividends received deduction. However, the alternative minimum tax applicable to corporations may reduce the value of the dividends received deduction.

Generally, the maximum tax rate for individual taxpayers on long-term capital gains and on certain qualifying dividends on corporate stock is 15%. These rates do not apply to corporate taxpayers. Each Fund will be able to separately report distributions of any qualifying long-term capital gains or qualifying dividends earned by the Fund that would be eligible for the lower maximum rate. A shareholder would also have to satisfy a more than 60-day holding period with respect to any distributions of qualifying dividends in order to obtain the benefit of the lower rate. Distributions from Funds investing in bonds and other debt instruments will not generally qualify for the lower rates. Therefore, the Funds do not expect to have significant amounts of qualifying dividends. Note that distributions of earnings from dividends paid by "qualified foreign corporations" can also qualify for the lower tax rates on qualifying dividends. Qualified foreign corporations incorporated in a U.S. possession, corporations whose stock is readily tradable on an established securities market in the U.S., and corporations eligible for the benefits of a comprehensive income tax treaty with the United States, which satisfy certain other requirements. Passive foreign investment companies are not treated as "qualified foreign corporations." The favorable tax treatment of qualifying dividends is scheduled to expire after 2012.

The excess of net long-term capital gains over net short-term capital losses realized, distributed and properly designated by a Fund, whether paid in cash or reinvested in Fund shares, will generally be taxable to shareholders as long-term capital gain, regardless of how long a shareholder has held Fund shares. Capital gain distributions made to individuals are generally subject to a maximum federal income tax rate of 15% under current law. The maximum rate on long-term capital gains is currently scheduled to increase to 20% after 2012. Net capital gains from assets held for one year or less will be taxed as ordinary income.

For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2012, an additional 3.8% Medicare tax will be imposed on certain net investment income (including ordinary dividends and capital gain distributions received from a Fund and net gains from redemptions or other taxable dispositions of Fund shares) of U.S. individuals, estates and trusts to the extent that such person's "modified adjusted gross income" (in the case of an individual) or "adjusted gross income" (in the case of an estate or trust) exceeds a threshold amount.

Shareholders will be notified annually as to the U.S. federal tax status of distributions, and shareholders receiving distributions in the form of newly issued shares will receive a report as to the NAV of the shares received.

If the NAV of shares is reduced below a shareholder's cost as a result of a distribution by a Fund, such distribution generally will be taxable even though it represents a partial return of invested capital. Investors should be careful to consider the tax implications of buying shares of a Fund just prior to a distribution. The price of shares purchased at this time will include the amount of the forthcoming distribution, but the distribution will generally be taxable to the shareholder.

DISPOSITIONS

Upon a redemption, sale or exchange of shares of a Fund, a shareholder will realize a taxable gain or loss depending upon his or her basis in the shares. A gain or loss will be treated as capital gain or loss if the shares are capital assets in the shareholder's hands, and the rate of tax will depend upon the shareholder's holding period for the shares. If an individual shareholder has held the shares as a capital asset for more than one year, the maximum current federal income tax rate is 15% (scheduled to increase to 20% after 2012). For shares acquired on or before December 22, 2010, any loss realized from a disposition of Fund shares that were held for six months or less will be disallowed to the extent that dividends received from a Fund are designated as exempt-interest dividends. For shares acquired after December 22, 2010, this loss disallowance does not apply provided that the exempt-interest dividend was a regular dividend and the applicable Fund declares exempt-interest dividends on a daily basis in an amount equal to at least 90% of its net tax-exempt interest and distributes such dividends on at least a monthly basis. Any loss realized on a redemption, sale or exchange also will be disallowed to the extent the shares disposed of are replaced (including through reinvestment of dividends) within a period of 61 days, beginning 30 days before and ending 30 days after the shares are disposed of. In such a case, the basis of the shares acquired will be adjusted to reflect the disallowed loss. If a shareholder holds Fund shares for six months or less and during that period receives a distribution taxable to the shareholder as long-term capital gain, any loss realized on the sale of such shares during such six-month period would be a long-term loss to the extent of such distribution.

Recent regulations require the Funds to report to the IRS, and furnish to Fund shareholders, the cost basis information for Fund shares purchased on or after January 1, 2012, and sold on or after that date. The Funds will permit Fund shareholders to elect from among several cost basis methods accepted by the IRS, including average cost. In the absence of an election by a shareholder, the Funds will use the average cost method with respect to that shareholder.

If, within 90 days after purchasing Fund shares with a sales charge, a shareholder exchanges the shares and acquires new shares at a reduced (or without any) sales charge pursuant to a right acquired with the original shares prior to February 1st of the year following the initial acquisition of Fund shares, prior to February 1st of the year following the initial acquisition of Fund shares, prior to February 1st of the year following the initial acquisition of the shareholder may not take the original sales charge into account in determining the shareholder's gain or loss on the disposition of the shares. Gain or loss will generally be determined by excluding all or a portion of the sales charge from the shareholder's tax basis in the exchanged shares, and the amount excluded will be treated as an amount paid for the new shares.

BACKUP WITHHOLDING

The Funds generally will be required to withhold federal income tax at a rate of 28% (currently scheduled to increase to 31% after 2012) ("backup withholding") from dividends paid (other than exempt-interest dividends), capital gain distributions, and redemption proceeds to shareholders if: (1) the shareholder fails to furnish the Funds with the shareholder's correct taxpayer identification number or social security number; (2) the IRS notifies the shareholder or the Funds that the shareholder has failed to report properly certain interest and dividend income to the IRS and to respond to notices to that effect; or (3) when required to do so, the shareholder fails to certify that he or she is not subject to backup withholding. Any amounts withheld may be credited against the shareholder's federal income tax liability.

OTHER TAXATION

Distributions may be subject to additional state and local taxes, depending on each shareholder's particular situation. Taxation of a shareholder who, as to the United States, is a nonresident alien individual, foreign trust or estate, foreign corporation, or foreign partnership ("foreign shareholder"), depends on whether the income from a Fund is "effectively connected" with a U.S. trade or business carried on by such shareholder. If the income from a Fund is not effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business carried on by a foreign shareholder, ordinary income dividends (including

distributions of any net short-term capital gains) will generally be subject to U.S. withholding tax at the rate of 30% (or lower treaty rate) upon the gross amount of the dividend. Note that the 15% rate of tax applicable to certain dividends (discussed above) does not apply to dividends paid to foreign shareholders. Such a foreign shareholder would generally be exempt from U.S. federal income tax on gains realized on the sale of shares of a Fund, and distributions of net long-term capital gains that are designated as capital gain dividends. If the income from a Fund is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business carried on by a foreign shareholder, then ordinary income dividends, capital gain dividends and any gains realized upon the sale of shares of a Fund will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the rates applicable to U.S. citizens or domestic corporations. If the Funds elect to report distributions of U.S. source interest and short-term capital gains, such distributions may be paid to foreign shareholders free of withholding through October 31, 2012.

Effective January 1, 2014, the Funds will be required to withhold U.S. tax (at a 30% rate) on payments of dividends and redemption proceeds made to certain non-U.S. entities that fail to comply with extensive new reporting and withholding requirements designed to inform the U.S. Department of the Treasury of U.S.-owned foreign investment accounts. Shareholders may be requested to provide additional information to the Funds to enable the Funds to determine whether withholding is required.

The tax consequences to a foreign shareholder entitled to claim the benefits of an applicable tax treaty may be different from those described herein. Foreign shareholders are urged to consult their own tax advisers with respect to the particular tax consequences to them of an investment in the Funds, including the applicability of foreign taxes.

FUND INVESTMENTS

Market Discount. If a Fund purchases a debt security at a price lower than the stated redemption price of such debt security, the excess of the stated redemption price over the purchase price is "market discount." If the amount of market discount is more than a de minimis amount, a portion of such market discount must be included as ordinary income (not capital gain) by a Fund in each taxable year in which the Fund owns an interest in such debt security and receives a principal payment on it. In particular, a Fund will be required to allocate that principal payment first to the portion of the market discount on the debt security that has accrued but has not previously been includable in income. In general, the amount of market discount that must be included for each period is equal to the lesser of (i) the amount of market discount accruing during such period (plus any accrued market discount for prior periods not previously taken into account) or (ii) the amount of the principal payment with respect to such period. Generally, market discount accrues on a daily basis for each day the debt security is held by a Fund, at a constant rate over the time remaining to the debt security's maturity or, at the election of the Fund, at a constant yield to maturity, which takes into account the semi-annual compounding of interest. Gain realized on the disposition of a market discount obligation must be recognized as ordinary interest income (not capital gain) to the extent of the "accrued market discount" not previously taken into account.

Original Issue Discount. Certain debt securities acquired by a Fund may be treated as debt securities that were originally issued at a discount. Very generally, original issue discount is defined as the difference between the price at which a security was issued and its stated redemption price at maturity. Although a Fund receives no actual cash income from such a discount, original issue discounts that accrue on debt securities in a given year generally are treated for federal income tax purposes as interest and, therefore, such income would be subject to the distribution requirements applicable to regulated investment companies. Some debt securities may be purchased by a Fund at a discount that exceeds the original issue discount on such debt securities, if any. This additional discount represents market discount for federal income tax purposes (see above).

Options, Futures and Forward Contracts. Any regulated futures contracts and certain options (namely, nonequity options and dealer equity options) in which a Fund may invest may be "section 1256 contracts." Gains (or losses) on these contracts generally are considered to be 60% long-term and 40% short-term capital gains or losses. Also, section 1256 contracts held by a Fund at the end of each taxable year (and on certain other dates prescribed in the Code) are "marked to market" with the result that unrealized gains or losses are treated as though they were realized.

Transactions in options, futures and forward contracts undertaken by a Fund may result in "straddles" for federal income tax purposes. The straddle rules may affect the character of gains (or losses) realized by a Fund, and losses realized by the Fund on positions that are part of a straddle may be deferred under the straddle rules rather than being

taken into account in calculating the taxable income for the taxable year in which the losses are realized. In addition, certain carrying charges (including interest expense) associated with positions in a straddle may be required to be capitalized rather than deducted currently. Certain elections that the Funds may make with respect to its straddle positions may also affect the amount, character and timing of the recognition of gains or losses from the affected positions.

Because only a few regulations implementing the straddle rules have been promulgated, the consequences of such transactions to the Funds are not entirely clear. The straddle rules may increase the amount of short-term capital gain realized by the Funds, which are taxed as ordinary income when distributed to shareholders. Because application of the straddle rules may affect the character of gains or losses, defer losses and/or accelerate the recognition of gains or losses from the affected straddle positions, the amount which must be distributed to shareholders as ordinary income or long-term capital gain may be increased or decreased substantially as compared to a Fund that did not engage in such transactions.

Certain hedging activities may cause a dividend that would otherwise be subject to the lower tax rate applicable to a "qualifying dividend," to instead be taxed at the rate of tax applicable to ordinary income.

Constructive Sales. Under certain circumstances, the Funds may recognize gain from a constructive sale of an "appreciated financial position" it holds if it enters into a short sale, forward contract or other transaction that substantially reduces the risk of loss with respect to the appreciated position. In that event, a Fund would be treated as if it had sold and immediately repurchased the property and would be taxed on any gain (but not loss) from the constructive sale. The character of gain from a constructive sale would depend upon a Fund's holding period in the property. Loss from a constructive sale would be recognized when the property was subsequently disposed of, and its character would depend on a Fund's holding period and the application of various loss deferral provisions of the Code. Constructive sale treatment does not apply to transactions if such transaction is closed before the end of the 30th day after the close of a Fund's taxable year and the Fund holds the appreciated financial position throughout the 60-day period beginning with the day such transaction was closed.

FOREIGN TAX ISSUES

Passive Foreign Investment Companies. The Funds may invest in stocks of foreign companies that are classified under the Code as passive foreign investment companies ("PFICs"). In general, a foreign company is classified as a PFIC if at least 50% of its assets constitute investment-type assets or 75% or more of its gross income is investment-type income. In general, under the PFIC rules, an "excess distribution" received with respect to PFIC stock is treated as having been realized ratably over the period during which the Funds held the PFIC stock. A Fund itself will be subject to tax on the portion, if any, of the excess distribution that is allocated to that Fund's holding period in prior taxable years (and an interest factor will be added to the tax, as if the tax had actually been payable in such prior taxable years) even though that Fund distributes the corresponding income to shareholders. Excess distributions are taxable as ordinary income.

The Funds may be able to elect alternative tax treatment with respect to PFIC stock. Under an election that currently may be available, each Fund generally would be required to include in its gross income its share of the earnings of a PFIC on a current basis, regardless of whether any distributions are received from the PFIC. If this election is made, the special rules, discussed above, relating to the taxation of excess distributions, would not apply. Alternatively, each Fund may be able to elect to mark to market its PFIC stock, resulting in the stock being treated as sold at fair market value on the last business day of each taxable year. Any resulting gain would be reported as ordinary income, and mark-to-market losses and any loss from an actual disposition of a Fund's shares would be deductible as ordinary losses to the extent of any net mark-to-market gains included in income in prior years.

Because the application of the PFIC rules may affect, among other things, the character of gains, the amount of gain or loss and the timing of the recognition of income with respect to PFIC stock, as well as subject each Fund itself to tax on certain income from PFIC stock, the amount that must be distributed to shareholders, and which will be taxed to shareholders as ordinary income or long-term capital gain, may be increased or decreased substantially as compared to a fund that did not invest in PFIC stock. Note that distributions from a PFIC are not eligible for the reduced rate of tax on "qualifying dividends."

Foreign Taxes. Income received by the Funds from sources within foreign countries may be subject to withholding and other income or similar taxes imposed by such countries. If more than 50% of the value of a Fund's total assets at the close of its taxable year consists of securities of foreign corporations and the Fund distributes at least 90% of its investment company taxable income, that Fund will be eligible and may (or may not) elect to "pass through" to that Fund's shareholders the amount of qualifying foreign taxes paid by the Fund. Pursuant to this election, a shareholder will be required to include in gross income (in addition to taxable dividends actually received) his pro rata share of the foreign taxes paid by a Fund, and will be entitled either to deduct (as an itemized deduction) his pro rata share of foreign income and similar taxes in computing his taxable income or to use it as a foreign tax credit against his U.S. federal income tax liability, subject to limitations. No deduction for foreign taxes may be claimed by a shareholder who does not itemize deductions, but such a shareholder may be eligible to claim the foreign tax credit (see below). No credit may be claimed by a shareholder with respect to Fund shares that have been held less than 16 days. Each shareholder will be notified after the close of a Fund's taxable year whether the foreign taxes paid by the Fund will "pass through" for that year.

Generally, a credit for foreign taxes is subject to the limitation that it may not exceed the shareholder's U.S. tax attributable to his foreign source taxable income. For this purpose, if the pass-through election is made, the source of a Fund's income flows through to its shareholders. With respect to each Fund, gains from the sale of securities may be treated as derived from U.S. sources and certain currency fluctuation gains including fluctuation gains from foreign currency denominated debt securities, receivables and payables, may be treated as ordinary income derived from U.S. sources. The limitation on the foreign tax credit is applied separately to foreign source passive income (as defined for purposes of the foreign tax credit), including the foreign source passive income passed through by a Fund. Shareholders may be unable to claim a credit for the full amount of their proportionate share of the foreign taxes paid by a Fund. If a Fund is not eligible to, or does not, make the election to "pass through" to its shareholders its foreign taxes, the foreign income taxes it pays generally will reduce investment company taxable income and the distributions by a Fund will be treated as United States source income. Furthermore, the amount of the foreign tax credit that is available may be limited to the extent that dividends from a foreign corporation qualify for the lower tax rate on "qualifying dividends."

Foreign Currency. Under the Code, gains or losses attributable to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates which occur between the time a Fund accrues income or other receivables or accrues expenses or other liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and the time the Fund actually collects such receivables or pays such liabilities generally are treated as ordinary income or ordinary loss. Similarly, on disposition of some investments, including debt securities and certain forward contracts denominated in a foreign currency, gains or losses attributable to fluctuations in the value of foreign currency between the date of acquisition of the security or contract and the date of disposition also are treated as ordinary gain or loss. These gains and losses, referred to under the Code as "section 988" gains and losses, may increase or decrease the amount of a Fund's net investment income to be distributed to its shareholders as ordinary income. For example, fluctuations in exchange rates may increase the amount of an excise tax on undistributed income. Alternatively, fluctuations in exchange rates may decrease or eliminate income available for distribution. If section 988 losses exceed other net investment income during a taxable year, a Fund would not be able to make ordinary dividend distributions, or distributions made before the losses were realized would be recharacterized as a return of capital to shareholders for federal income tax purposes, rather than as an ordinary dividend, reducing each shareholder's basis in his or her Fund shares.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

Gains or losses attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates that occur between the time each Fund accrues income or other receivables or accrues expenses or other liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and the time the Fund actually collects such income or receivables or pays such expenses or liabilities generally are treated as ordinary income or ordinary loss. Similarly, on disposition of some investments, including debt securities and certain forward contracts denominated in a foreign currency, gains or losses attributable to fluctuations in the value of the foreign currency between the acquisition and disposition of the position also are treated as ordinary gain or loss. In certain circumstances, a Fund may elect to treat any foreign currency gain or loss attributable to a forward contract, a futures contract or an option as capital gain or loss. Furthermore, a Fund may elect to treat foreign currency gain or loss arising from certain Section 1256 contracts as ordinary in character. These gains and losses, referred to under the Code as "Section 988" gains or losses, increase or decrease the amount of each Fund's investment company taxable income

available to be distributed to its shareholders as ordinary income and may affect the timing and character of distributions. If a Fund's Section 988 losses exceed other investment company taxable income during a taxable year, the Fund would not be able to make any ordinary dividend distributions, or distributions made before the losses were realized would be re-characterized as a return of capital to shareholders, rather than as ordinary dividends, reducing each shareholder's basis in his or her Fund shares.

As described above, at least 90% of a Fund's gross income for each taxable year must be Qualifying Income. The Code expressly confers upon the Secretary of the Treasury of the United States the authority to issue tax regulations that would exclude income and gains from investments in foreign currencies from treatment as Qualifying Income in cases in which the foreign currency income or gains are not directly related to the company's principal business of investing in stocks or securities (or options or futures with respect to such stocks or securities). In light of this grant of regulatory authority, there is no assurance that the Secretary will not issue such regulations. Moreover, there is a remote possibility that such regulations may be applied retroactively, which could affect the ability of a Fund to qualify as a RIC.

Certain of a Fund's investments in derivative instruments and foreign currency-denominated instruments, and any of a Fund's transactions in foreign currencies and hedging activities, are likely to produce a difference between its look income and its taxable income. If a Fund's book income exceeds its taxable income (including realized capital gains), the distribution (if any) of such excess generally will be treated as (i) a dividend to the extent of the Fund's remaining earnings and profits (including earnings and profits arising from tax-exempt income), (ii) thereafter, as a return of capital to the extent of the recipient's basis in its shares, and (iii) thereafter as gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset. In the alternative, if such a difference arises, and the Fund's book income is less than its taxable income, the Fund could be required to make distributions exceeding book income to qualify as a RIC that is accorded special tax treatment.

OTHER INFORMATION

CAPITALIZATION

The Trust is a Massachusetts business trust established under a Declaration of Trust dated April 22, 1987, as a successor to two previously-existing Massachusetts business trusts, Fund Trust Tax-Free Trust (organized on July 30, 1986) and Fund Vest (organized on July 17, 1984, and since renamed Fund Source). Prior to October 3, 1994, the name of the Trust was "Fund Trust." Prior to April 12, 2001, the name of the Trust was Republic Funds. Prior to February 28, 2012, the name of the Trust was HSBC Investor Funds.

The capitalization of the Trust consists solely of an unlimited number of shares of beneficial interest with a par value of \$0.001 each. The Boards of Trustees may establish additional series (with different investment objectives and fundamental policies) and classes of shares within each series at any time in the future. Establishment and offering of additional class or series will not alter the rights of the Funds' shareholders. When issued, shares are fully paid, nonassessable, redeemable and freely transferable. Shares do not have preemptive rights or subscription rights. In the event of a liquidation of a Fund, each shareholder is entitled to receive his pro rata share of the net assets of the Fund.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Trustees has appointed KPMG LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of the Trust for the fiscal year ending October 31, 2012. KPMG LLP will audit the Trust's annual financial statements, prepare the Trust's income tax returns, and assist in the filings with the SEC. KPMG LLP's address is 191 West Nationwide Blvd., Suite 500, Columbus, OH 43215.

COUNSEL

Dechert LLP, 1775 I Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20006, passes upon certain legal matters in connection with the shares offered by the Trust, and also acts as counsel to the Trust. Blank Rome LLP, 405 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York 10174, acts as counsel to the Independent Trustees of the Trust.

CODE OF ETHICS

The Trust, and each of the Adviser, Subadvisers, Citi and the Distributor have adopted a code of ethics, as required by applicable law, including Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act, which is designed to prevent affiliated persons of the Trust, the Adviser, Subadvisers, Citi and the Distributor from engaging in deceptive, manipulative, or fraudulent activities in connection with securities held or to be acquired by the Funds (which may also be held by persons subject to a code). Such persons are prohibited from effecting certain transactions, allowed to effect certain exempt transactions, required to pre-clear certain transactions and to report certain transactions on a regular basis.

REGISTRATION STATEMENT

This SAI and the Prospectuses do not contain all the information included in the Trust's registration statement filed with the SEC under the 1933 Act with respect to shares of a Fund, certain portions of which have been omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. The registration statement, including the exhibits filed therewith, may be examined at the office of the SEC in Washington, D.C. or on the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov.

Statements contained herein and in the Prospectus as to the contents of any contract or other document referred to are not necessarily complete, and, in each instance, reference is made to the copy of such contract or other document that was filed as an exhibit to the registration statement, each such statement being qualified in all respects by such reference.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Current audited financial statements for the HSBC Emerging Markets Debt Fund, HSBC Emerging Markets Local Debt Fund and HSBC Frontier Markets Fund dated October 31, 2011 are hereby incorporated herein by reference from the Annual Report of such Funds dated October 31, 2011, as filed with the SEC. Copies of the report will be provided without charge to each person receiving this SAI. As of the date of this SAI, the Emerging Markets Equity, Risk Managed Fund and Total Return Fund have not commenced operations and thus do not have audited financial statements.

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES

All shareholder inquiries should be directed to the Trust, P.O. Box 182845, Columbus, Ohio 43218-2845.

GENERAL AND ACCOUNT INFORMATION: (800) 782-8183 (TOLL/FREE)

APPENDIX A

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITY RATINGS

STANDARD & POOR'S

Long-Term Issue Credit Ratings

Issue credit ratings are based, in varying degrees, on Standard & Poor's analysis of the following considerations:

• Likelihood of payment – capacity and willingness of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on an obligation in accordance with the terms of the obligation;

• Nature of and provisions of the obligation;

• Protection afforded by, and relative position of, the obligation in the event of bankruptcy, reorganization, or other arrangement under the laws of bankruptcy and other laws affecting creditors' rights.

Issue ratings are an assessment of default risk, but may incorporate an assessment of relative seniority or ultimate recovery in the event of default. Junior obligations are typically rated lower than senior obligations, to reflect the lower priority in bankruptcy, as noted above. (Such differentiation may apply when an entity has both senior and subordinated obligations, secured and unsecured obligations, or operating company and holding company obligations.)

AAA An obligation rated 'AAA' has the highest rating assigned by Standard & Poor's. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is extremely strong.

AA An obligation rated 'AA' differs from the highest-rated obligations only to a small degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is very strong.

A An obligation rated 'A' is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher-rated categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is still strong.

BBB An obligation rated 'BBB' exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

BB, B, CCC, CC, and C Obligations rated 'BB', 'B', 'CCC', 'CC', and 'C' are regarded as having significant speculative characteristics. 'BB' indicates the least degree of speculation and 'C' the highest. While such obligations will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these may be outweighed by large uncertainties or major exposures to adverse conditions.

BB An obligation rated 'BB' is less vulnerable to nonpayment than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions which could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

B An obligation rated 'B' is more vulnerable to nonpayment than obligations rated 'BB', but the obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. Adverse business, financial, or economic conditions will likely impair the obligor's capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

CCC An obligation rated 'CCC' is currently vulnerable to nonpayment, and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. In

the event of adverse business, financial, or economic conditions, the obligor is not likely to have the capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

CC An obligation rated 'CC' is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment.

C A 'C' rating is assigned to obligations that are currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment, obligations that have payment arrearages allowed by the terms of the documents, or obligations of an issuer that is the subject of a bankruptcy petition or similar action which have not experienced a payment default. Among others, the 'C' rating may be assigned to subordinated debt, preferred stock or other obligations on which cash payments have been suspended in accordance with the instrument's terms or when preferred stock is the subject of a distressed exchange offer, whereby some or all of the issue is either repurchased for an amount of cash or replaced by other instruments having a total value that is less than par.

D An obligation rated 'D' is in payment default. The 'D' rating category is used when payments on an obligation, including a regulatory capital instrument, are not made on the date due even if the applicable grace period has not expired, unless Standard & Poor's believes that such payments will be made during such grace period. The 'D' rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action if payments on an obligation are jeopardized. An obligation's rating is lowered to 'D' upon completion of a distressed exchange offer, whereby some or all of the issue is either repurchased for an amount of cash or replaced by other instruments having a total value that is less than par.

Plus (+) orThe ratings from 'AA' to 'CCC' may be modified by the addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign toMinus (-)show relative standing within the major rating categories.

NR This indicates that no rating has been requested, that there is insufficient information on which to base a rating, or that Standard & Poor's does not rate a particular obligation as a matter of policy.

Municipal Short-Term Note Ratings

A Standard & Poor's U.S. municipal note rating reflects Standard & Poor's opinion about the liquidity factors and market access risks unique to the notes. Notes due in three years or less will likely receive a note rating. Notes with an original maturity of more than three years will most likely receive a long-term debt rating. In determining which type of rating, if any, to assign, Standard & Poor's analysis will review the following considerations:

• Amortization schedule – the larger the final maturity relative to other maturities, the more likely it will be treated as a note; and

• Source of payment – the more dependent the issue is on the market for its refinancing, the more likely it will be treated as a note.

Note rating symbols are as follows:

SP-1 Strong capacity to pay principal and interest. An issue determined to possess a very strong capacity to pay debt service is given a plus (+) designation.

SP-2 Satisfactory capacity to pay principal and interest, with some vulnerability to adverse financial and economic changes over the term of the notes.

SP-3 Speculative capacity to pay principal and interest.

Short-Term Issue Credit Ratings

A-1 A short-term obligation rated 'A-1' is rated in the highest category by Standard & Poor's. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is strong. Within this category, certain obligations are

designated with a plus sign (+). This indicates that the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on these obligations is extremely strong.

A-2 A short-term obligation rated 'A-2' is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rating categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is satisfactory.

A-3 A short-term obligation rated 'A-3' exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

Variable Rate Demand Obligations:

Standard & Poor's assigns "dual" ratings to all debt issues that have a put option or demand feature as part of their structure. The first rating addresses the likelihood of repayment of principal and interest as due, and the second rating addresses only the demand feature. The long-term rating symbols are used for bonds to denote the long-term maturity and the short-term rating symbols for the put option (for example, 'AAA/A-1+'). With U.S. municipal short-term demand debt, note rating symbols are used with the short-term issue credit rating symbols (for example, 'SP-1+/A-1+').

MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE ("Moody's")

Long-Term Obligation Ratings

Moody's long-term ratings are opinions of the relative credit risk of financial obligations with an original maturity of one year or more. They address the possibility that a financial obligation will not be honored as promised. Such ratings use Moody's Global Scale and reflect both the likelihood of default and any financial loss suffered in the event of default.

Aaa Obligations rated Aaa are judged to be of the highest quality, with minimal credit risk.

Aa Obligations rated Aa are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.

A Obligations rated A are considered upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.

Baa Obligations rated Baa are subject to moderate credit risk. They are considered medium grade and as such may possess certain speculative characteristics.

Ba Obligations rated Ba are judged to have speculative elements and are subject to substantial credit risk.

B Obligations rated B are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.

Caa Obligations rated Caa are judged to be of poor standing and are subject to very high credit risk.

Ca Obligations rated Ca are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of recovery of principal and interest.

C Obligations rated C are the lowest rated class and are typically in default, with little prospect for recovery of principal or interest.

Note Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa. The modifier 1 indicates that the obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category.

U.S. Municipal Short Term Obligation Ratings

MIG 1 This designation denotes superior credit quality. Excellent protection is afforded by established cash flows, highly reliable liquidity support, or demonstrated broad-based access to the market for refinancing.

MIG 2 This designation denotes strong credit quality. Margins of protection are ample, although not as large as in the preceding group.

MIG 3 This designation denotes acceptable credit quality. Liquidity and cash-flow protection may be narrow, and market access for refinancing is likely to be less well-established.

SG This designation denotes speculative-grade credit quality. Debt instruments in this category may lack sufficient margins of protection.

Demand Obligation Ratings

In the case of variable rate demand obligations (VRDOs), a two-component rating is assigned; a long or short-term debt rating and a demand obligation rating. The first element represents Moody's evaluation of the degree of risk associated with scheduled principal and interest payments. The second element represents Moody's evaluation of the degree of risk associated with the ability to receive purchase price upon demand ("demand feature"), using a variation of the MIG rating scale, the Variable Municipal Investment Grade or VMIG rating.

When either the long- or short-term aspect of a VRDO is not rated, that piece is designated NR, e.g., Aaa/NR or NR/VMIG 1.

VMIG rating expirations are a function of each issue's specific structural or credit features.

VMIG 1 This designation denotes superior credit quality. Excellent protection is afforded by the superior short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections that ensure the timely payment of purchase price upon demand.

VMIG 2 This designation denotes strong credit quality. Good protection is afforded by the strong short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections that ensure the timely payment of purchase price upon demand.

VMIG 3 This designation denotes acceptable credit quality. Adequate protection is afforded by the satisfactory short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections that ensure the timely payment of purchase price upon demand.

SG This designation denotes speculative-grade credit quality. Demand features rated in this category may be supported by a liquidity provider that does not have an investment grade short-term rating or may lack the structural and/or legal protections necessary to ensure the timely payment of purchase price upon demand.

Short-Term Obligation Ratings

Moody's short-term ratings are opinions of the ability of issuers to honor short-term financial obligations. Ratings may be assigned to issuers, short-term programs or to individual short-term debt instruments. Such obligations generally have an original maturity not exceeding thirteen months, unless explicitly noted.

Moody's employs the following designations to indicate the relative repayment ability of rated issuers:

P-1 Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 have a superior ability to repay short-term debt obligations.

P-2 Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-2 have a strong ability to repay short-term debt obligations.

P-3 Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-3 have an acceptable ability to repay shortterm obligations.

NP Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated "Not Prime" do not fall within any of the Prime rating categories.

Note: Canadian issuers rated P-1 or P-2 have their short-term ratings enhanced by the senior-most long-term rating of the issuer, its guarantor or support-provider.

FITCH, INC. ("Fitch Ratings")

Corporate Finance Obligations - Long-Term Rating Scales

Ratings of individual securities or financial obligations of a corporate issuer address relative vulnerability to default on an ordinal scale. In addition, for financial obligations in corporate finance, a measure of recovery given default on that liability is also included in the rating assessment. This notably applies to covered bonds ratings, which incorporate both an indication of the probability of default and of the recovery given a default of this debt instrument.

The relationship between issuer scale and obligation scale assumes an historical average recovery of between 30%–50% on the senior, unsecured obligations of an issuer. As a result, individual obligations of entities, such as corporations, are assigned ratings higher, lower, or the same as that entity's issuer rating or Issuer Default Rating ("IDR").

AAA Highest credit quality. `AAA' denotes the lowest expectation of credit risk. They are assigned only in cases of exceptionally strong capacity for timely payment of financial commitments. This capacity is highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events.

AA Very high credit quality. `AA' ratings denote expectations of very low credit risk. They indicate very strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is not significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events.

A High credit quality. 'A' ratings denote expectations of low credit risk. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse business or economic conditions than is the case for higher ratings.

BBB Good credit quality. 'BBB' ratings indicate that expectations of credit risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered adequate but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity.

BB Speculative. 'BB' ratings indicate an elevated vulnerability to credit risk, particularly in the event of adverse changes in business or economic conditions over time; however, business or financial alternatives may be available to allow financial commitments to be met.

B Highly speculative. 'B' ratings indicate that material credit risk is present.

CCC Substantial credit risk. 'CCC' ratings indicate that substantial credit risk is present.

CC Very high levels of credit risk. 'CC' ratings indicate very high levels of credit risk.

C Exceptionally high levels of credit risk. 'C' indicates exceptionally high levels of credit risk.

Defaulted obligations typically are not assigned 'D' ratings, but are instead rated in the 'B' to 'C' rating categories, depending upon their recovery prospects and other relevant characteristics. This approach better aligns obligations that have comparable overall expected loss but varying vulnerability to default and loss.

Notes: The modifiers "+" or "-" may be appended to a rating to denote relative status within major rating categories. Such suffixes are not added to the 'AAA' obligation rating category, or to corporate finance obligation ratings in the categories below 'B'.

The subscript 'emr' is appended to a rating to denote embedded market risk which is beyond the scope of the rating. The designation is intended to make clear that the rating solely addresses the counterparty risk of the issuing bank. It is not meant to indicate any limitation in the analysis of the counterparty risk, which in all other respects follows published Fitch criteria for analyzing the issuing financial institution. Fitch does not rate these instruments where the principal is to any degree subject to market risk.

Short-Term Ratings Assigned to Obligations in Corporate, Public and Structured Finance

A short-term issuer or obligation rating is based in all cases on the short-term vulnerability to default of the rated entity or security stream and relates to the capacity to meet financial obligations in accordance with the documentation governing the relevant obligation. Short-Term Ratings are assigned to obligations whose initial maturity is viewed as "short term" based on market convention. Typically, this means up to 13 months for corporate, sovereign, and structured obligations, and up to 36 months for obligations in U.S. public finance markets.

F-1 Highest short-term credit quality. Indicates the strongest intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments; may have an added "+" to denote any exceptionally strong credit feature.

F-2 Good short-term credit quality. Good intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments.

F-3 Fair short-term credit quality. The intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments is adequate.

B Speculative short-term credit quality. Minimal capacity for timely payment of financial commitments, plus heightened vulnerability to near term adverse changes in financial and economic conditions.

C High short-term default risk. Default is a real possibility.

RD Restricted default. Indicates an entity that has defaulted on one or more of its financial commitments, although it continues to meet other financial obligations. Applicable to entity ratings only.

D Default. Indicates a broad-based default event for an entity, or the default of a short-term obligation.

APPENDIX B

HSBC FUNDS, HSBC ADVISOR FUNDS TRUST, and HSBC PORTFOLIOS PROXY VOTING POLICY

The Trust delegates the authority to vote proxies related to portfolio securities of each series (the "Funds") of the Trust to HSBC Global Asset Management (USA) Inc. ("HSBC"), which in turn delegates proxy voting authority for some Funds of the Trust to a Sub-Adviser retained to provide day-to-day portfolio management for that Fund. The Boards of Trustees (the "Board") adopt the proxy voting policies and procedures of HSBC and the Sub-Advisers as the proxy voting policies and procedures that will be used by each of these respective entities when exercising voting authority on behalf of each Fund. These policies and procedures are attached hereto.

The Board will provide the Trust's consent to vote in matters where HSBC or a Sub-Adviser seeks such consent because of a conflict of interest that arises in connection with a particular vote, or for other reasons.

APPENDIX C

HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT (USA) INC, HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT (UK) LTD, HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LTD, and HSBC GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT (SINGAPORE) LTD PROXY VOTING POLICY AND PROCEDURES

December 2006

HSBC Global Asset Management (USA) Inc. HSBC Global Asset Management (UK) Ltd. HSBC Global Asset Management (Hong Kong) Ltd HSBC Global Asset Management (Singapore) Ltd

PROXY VOTING POLICY AND PROCEDURES

The purpose of this proxy voting policy is to reasonably insure that HSBC Global Asset Management (USA) Inc., HSBC Global Asset Management (UK) Ltd., HSBC Global Asset Management (Hong Kong) Ltd and HSBC Global Asset Management (Singapore) Ltd. (HSBCUSA), as a fiduciary, fulfills its responsibility to its clients to vote proxy ballots in connection with proposals submitted by management, and others, to shareholders for approval. The financial interest of the shareholders of the Investment Companies and of the Manager's investment advisory clients is the primary consideration in determining how proxies should be voted.

As long as there is no provision to the contrary in the Investment Management Agreement or Charter, By-Laws, Trust Agreement, Plan Documents, Partnership Agreement or other controlling documents which create the legal entity with which we are dealing, the power to vote on proposals presented to shareholders through the proxy solicitation process will be considered by HSBCUSA to be an integral part of its investment management responsibility, recognizing that certain proposals, if implemented, may have a substantial impact on the market valuation of portfolio securities. For investment advisory clients, this responsibility is inherent, unless a client has elected to vote proxies directly. In the case of the Investment Companies, this responsibility has been delegated to HSBCUSA by each Investment Company's Board of Directors.

Proxy Voting Policy

It is the policy of HSBCUSA to vote client proxies for the exclusive benefit of its clients' accounts. In most, if not all cases, this will mean that the proposals that maximize the value of the securities we hold will be approved without regard to non-economic considerations.

HSBCUSA generally will not favor proposals that are designed to make it difficult for a company to be acquired or that have a tendency to entrench current management at the expense of securities holders. Therefore, HSBCUSA will generally vote against proposals concerning instituting "poison pills", classified boards of directors, unequal voting rights, elimination of shareholder action by written consent and granting stock options at less than fair market value.

In this regard, HSBCUSA has engaged a third party proxy voting service provider ("Proxy Service Provider") to conduct analysis of proposals, and to provide guidance on voting ballots. The Proxy Service Provider provides its analysis in the form of written reports, which are circulated to HSBCUSA' investment staff for their review. A more extensive summary of proxy voting guidelines will be provided to clients upon request.

Certain portfolios ("Fund of Funds") primarily invest a majority of their assets in non-voting securities of other unregistered investment vehicles ("Sub-Funds") which have investors other than the Fund of Funds. Sub-Funds typically do not submit matters to investors for vote. In the event that a Sub-Fund submits a matter to its investors

for vote and the Fund of Fund holds voting interests in the Sub-Fund, the vote will be made in a way that we believe is in the best interest of the Fund of Funds.

Administration

The Proxy Service Provider will administer the proxy voting process, including receiving ballots, casting votes and maintaining required records. On an as-needed basis, HSBCUSA will review the Proxy Voting Policy and its administration to resolve any proxy voting issues that may arise.

Conflicts of Interest

HSBCUSA generally will vote proxies in accordance with the Proxy Service Provider's predetermined recommendations, including instances where potential material conflicts of interest may exist. In the event a proxy proposal gives rise to a material conflict of interest that is not addressed by the Proxy Service Provider's predetermined recommendations, HSBCUSA' senior management will review, and if deemed necessary, an independent consultant or outside counsel will be consulted to resolve the material conflict of interest.

Client Access to Proxy Voting Records

A record of how proxies have been voted for a client's account will be provided upon request. Clients can request their proxy voting record by contacting their Client Investment Service Manager at (212) 525-5000. Alternatively, clients may submit written requests to HSBC Investments (USA) Inc., 452 Fifth Avenue – 18th Floor, New York, NY 1008, ATTN: Chief Compliance Officer.

APPENDIX D

Voting Policy (Practice in terms of exercising voting rights attaching to securities held in portfolio)

1. Sum-up

1.1 Context

Regarding the provisions introduced in article L533-4 of the Monetary and Financial Code by the Financial Security Law (1.Aug.2003), the purpose of this procedure concerns the description of HSBC France's practice in terms of exercise voting rights attached to securities hold by UCITS (Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) under its management.

In order to exercise the voting rights held in quality of UCITS' shareholder under its management, HSBC France appealed I.S.S.'s services (Institutional Shareholder Services), worldwide leader and specialist in corporate governance counsel and of investors' counsel for voting right in General Meeting. The information transmitted by I.S.S. is systematically complying with the principle of holders' interest (for instance, opposition to resolutions leading to the increase of registered capital in case of a take-over bid, or issuing of securities without any preferential rights for active shareholders). **HSBC France abstains from holding more than 1 % of any company's stock-market capitalization.**

Besides, the ability of HSBC France to take part in votes should depends on the diligence of companies to send on time documents, specially for companies in which HSBC France has a small shareholding and concerning foreign shares for which the exercise of vote is more difficult.

1.2 Document goals / objectives

The purpose of this document is to describe the terms and conditions on which HSBC France Group (HSBC France and HSBC France Société de Gestion) intends to exercise the voting rights attaching to securities hold by the collective investment schemes under its management in accordance with **article 322-75 of AMF General Regulation.**

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT COMPANY INTERNAL ORGANISATION.

HSBC FRANCE Group exercise the voting rights attaching to securities hold by French Law UCITS and which custody is insured by NATEXIS BANQUE POPULAIRE (NBP). HSBC FRANCE uses :

- The NBP's services to know the planning of exercise of voting rights,

- The ISS's expertise to know the analysis of companies resolutions,

NBP informs the HSBC FRANCE's Portfolio Management (Securities Management Department and Guaranteed Products Department) of holding dates of General Meeting companies, membership of CAC 40, SBF 120 and some others quoted stock on the ex-Nouveau Marché. The information must be communicated between D-20 before the General Meeting and the last date before which the manager must give his voting instruction.

The information given by NBP is limited to French companies only and does not concern holding dates of foreign companies general meetings.

3 – PRINCIPLES TO WHICH THE PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT COMPANIES REFERS TO EXERCISE VOTING RIGHTS.

HSBC FRANCE Group exercise the voting rights attaching to securities hold by French Law UCITS and which custody is insured by NATEXIS BANQUE POPULAIRE (NBP).

NBP informs the HSBC FRANCE's Portfolio Management of holding dates of General Meeting companies. Informed once, Portfolio Management checks if the ISS's instructions of vote are updated. In case of ISS didn't analyze resolutions, no vote will be exercise by Portfolio Management.

Portfolio Management refers to ISS's recommendations to express its voting rights under conditions that :

Portfolio Management should cope with numbers of votes to exercise during the day (if not, quoted companies with the most significant capitalizations will be dealt with priority.)

At least five founds hold one security relating to the Meeting.

The security relating to the Meeting represents a CAC 40 significant market capitalization. The principles selected to determine cases in which Portfolio Management express its votes are closely linked to information accessibility, holding thresholds and market capitalization.

3.1. Types of resolutions submitted to General Meeting and for which Portfolio Management exercise voting rights.

Portfolio Management exercise voting rights for every type of resolutions.

3.2. Way of exercising voting rights :

Portfolio Management proceed by mail for every type of resolutions.

3.3. Number of voting rights to express:

The Portfolio Management precise, before sending its vote to the company for which the General Meeting will be held, how many rights will be expressed.

The Portfolio Management will express nearly 90% of its voting rights in order to respect the revocable constraint of freezing securities to which most of its securities are submitted.

In very specific cases, such as repurchase of UCITS's shares in advance, modification of the portfolio structure, change of weighting of a CAC 40 share value, Portfolio Management should lower this threshold of 90% or should not exercise its voting rights for some of UCITS.

4. CUSTODY OF VOTE INSTRUCTION OR ABSTENTION.

Portfolio Management keep the justifications of its votes or abstentions and list in a database the vote issued or not issued.

5. PREVENTION OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST.

Portfolio Management follows a quantitative type management. The general principles of this philosophy of investment as well as the various stages of the investment process are common to the whole assets and values.

The decisions of allowance of assets result from the HSBC France's signals more than anticipations of Portfolio manager. By the way, the decisions of exercise voting rights is independent of the analysis of the companies which would result from Portfolio Management.

Furthermore, Portfolio Management referring to ISS's councils and recommendations in its decisions of vote, it is not likely to be found in a situation of conflicts of interests.